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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board of directors
(the “Directors”) (the “Board”) of GR Properties Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), the report
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”).

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Year, the Group principally engaged in (i) the provision of
property management services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”); (i) property development and investment worldwide, and
(i) operation and management of a leisure and lifestyle experience
centre in the PRC.
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In recent years, numerous acquisitions such as Juxon House
and Boundary House in London, the Santa Monica project in
Los Angeles and property management and leisure and lifestyle
experience business brought significant contributions to the
development of the Group. The management team illustrated a
more dynamic and professional business style. The main direction of
the management team is to build on the Group’s long and extensive
experience and excellent track record in property development and
investment industry in the PRC, in order to channel its capabilities in
new directions that will create greater value for its shareholders (the
“Shareholders”).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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On 8 January 2021 (London time and after Hong Kong trading
hours), GR UK Holdings Limited (the “Vendor”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Bow Street Operations
Limited (the “Purchaser”), a company incorporated in England
and Wales with limited liability, entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor has agreed to sell and
the Purchaser has agreed to purchase all the issued shares of GR
Properties UK Limited (the “Target Company”) (the “Disposal”).
The Company intends to apply the gross proceeds of the
Disposal of approximately GBP30,960,000 for repayment of bank
loan of approximately GBP11,700,000, repayment of a loan of
approximately GBP13,960,000 owed by the Target Company to the
Company and reimbursement of the expense incurred by the Group
in connection with Disposal of approximately GBP300,000. In view
of the impact of COVID-19 to the economy of the United Kingdom
(the “UK”) and the decline in the market price of properties similar to
the Boundary House in London during 2020, the Directors consider
that the consideration of the Disposal (which was determined based
on the appraised value of the Boundary House as at 31 December
2019) is fair and reasonable, and it is the appropriate time for the
Group to dispose the Target Company and realise its return from
the investment.
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Faced with the unprecedented challenge of the COVID-19
pandemic in 2020, the Group worked relentlessly to maintain
effective operations and provide quality services, minimizing impact
on tenants, customers and staff. To ensure long-term sustainable
business growth and value creation, the Group will continue to
engage prominently in property development and investment, and
relevant asset management services. However, the Group would
be more cautious in considering investments in the international
markets such as the United States of America (the “USA”) and
Europe in accordance with the future development strategy of the
Group. This should give diversification and a hedge against the
future domestic businesses of the Group with a reasonable return
to the Shareholders. Other than capturing investment opportunities
to establish the position and engage in the property market in
Los Angeles and London for income generating real estates with
potential of capital appreciation in the long term and re-development
in future, the Group’s focus will also be on the execution of existing
projects, including but not limited to enhancement of operating
performance as well as facilitation of projects developments.
Besides, the Group will not rule out any possibilities to divest its
investment with decent return. The Directors believe that after
the acquisitions in the past few years and execution of existing
projects, the Group will be able to broaden its income base through
the stable rental incomes generated from the properties. Apart
from the Group’s core businesses in property development and
investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision of
property management services in Beijing, the Group will continue to
focus on searching for suitable investment opportunities which may
strategically fit into its diversification strategy and generate a steady
source of income.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to the fellow members of the Board, and on behalf of the Board,
the management and entire staff of the Group for their diligent work
and contribution in the past year. Last but not least, | would like to
extend my sincerest appreciation to the investors and shareholders
of the Company for their continuing confidence in and support for
the Group over the years. In 2021, the business portfolio of the
Group will continue to be optimised and rationalised in order to
motivate the Company’s future development and business growth.
We will devote our best efforts to generate encouraging returns for
our supportive shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwE oM

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”), the operations
of the Group were organised into business units based on the
nature of their products and services. There were three reportable
operating segments, including (i) the property management
segment; (ii) the property development and investment segment;
and (iii) the operation of the Recreational Centre segment. The
first and third segments were carried out in the PRC whereas the
second segment was carried out in the PRC, the USA and the UK.

Beijing AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited* (1t %=
SRTRYEEIEARAT), (“AOCEAN”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, provides property management services for office
buildings, residential properties and car parks. As at 31 December
2020, AOCEAN managed 24 major residential and commercial
property projects, which were located in Beijing, Hebei Province
and Hainan, the PRC. The services provided by AOCEAN under the
management agreements thereof include, inter alia (i) provision of
heating supply and maintenance services of heat exchange stations
and pipeline network; (i) provision of management services to car
parks such as maintenance of various facilities and equipment in
the car parks; and (iii) provision of property management services to
vacant properties and general management services such as repair
and maintenance of buildings and fire safety equipment and facilities
for residential and commercial property projects.

Adhering to the principle of being human-oriented, and perceiving
the market from the perspective of customers and market needs,
AOCEAN has been improving and perfecting its management
system and continues to provide professional services to its
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group carried on its property development and
investment business in the USA, the UK and the PRC.

Santa Monica project

The Santa Monica project, located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California, the USA, has
a total site area of approximately 40,615 square feet
(“US Complex”). According to the title of the parcel of
land, the development for the site is a mixed-use three
stories development. Total rentable/saleable floor area is
approximately 25,000 square feet for commercial use and
38,000 square feet for residential use and there are 190 on-
site subterranean parking spaces. The commercial areas
have been fully leased out for the Year. However, due to
the outbreak of COVID-19, which slowed down the leasing
progress of residential areas during the Year, we are actively
negotiating with several potential tenants to lease out the
remaining areas. Property leasing agent has been appointed
for residential lease. Marketing campaign has been launched
in the market. The plan for the Santa Monica project is to
lease out all the commercial units and the residential units.

Culver City project

Culver City project is a 36,319 square feet redevelopment
site located at the south corner of Washington Boulevard
and Motor Avenue in Culver City, Los Angeles County,
California, the USA. It includes an automotive service shop
totalling 7,373 square feet and surface lot. The land title
allows for the development of 139 residential units, of which
14 units would be income restricted for residents at the
extremely low income level, and 1,969 square feet of ground
floor would be commercial space.

The Directors consider the Culver City Project to be an
attractive investment opportunity to diversify the Group’s
property development operations in the USA, as this land
is located within walking distance to the heart of Culver
City, Los Angeles, which is the hub of a number of motion
pictures and other production studios and is within well-
established transportation network. Culver City Project is
expected to further cement the Group’s foothold in the
western USA and enhance the Group’s overall geographical
diversification of business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEBSWR D

Boundary House

Boundary House is located at the crossover between the
increasingly vibrant Aldgate district in London, the UK which
is popular with technology, media and telecommunications
occupiers and the established city of London financial and
insurance hub. Boundary House is also close to numerous
main train lines and underground stations with convenient
access of rail transportation. Boundary House is an office
building with a net internal floor area of approximately
45,062 square feet, which comprises a ground floor and
seven upper floors, basement storage and seven car park
spaces. As at 31 December 2020, Boundary House was
approximately 88% occupied and was let to twelve tenants.
The leases contributed approximately £0.95 million rental
income to the Group for the Year.

Juxon House

Juxon House is located at 100 St Pauls Churchyard,
London, the UK. It is situated in a prominent location on
the northwest side of St Pauls Cathedral, at the corner of
Ludgate Hill/St Paul’s Churchyard to the south and Ave
Maria Lane to the west, with Paternoster Square to the
east, which is a prime professional and financial district
with the London Stock Exchange and some multinational
organisations having offices in the near vicinity. Juxon House
is a grade A commercial building with a net lettable floor area
of approximately 123,781 square feet, among which the
office accommodation, the retail accommodation, and the
ancillary and storage area have a net lettable floor area of
100,774 square feet, 20,083 square feet and 2,924 square
feet respectively. Juxon House comprises a lower ground
floor, a ground floor and five upper floors, basement storage
and twenty car park spaces. Juxon House was let to three
office tenants and four retail tenants, which contributed
approximately £5.3 million rental income to the Group for the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

° Guorui Square Block B

Beijing Kaipeng Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (3t =5l
BRI 3 E B IR A 7)) (“Kaipeng Technology”), a subsidiary
of the Company, holds certain units with a gross floor area
of approximately 46,164 square meters in Building No.2
of Kingdom Guorui, No.1 Ronghua South Road, Daxing
District, Beijing, the PRC (“Guorui Square Block B”), which
are for office use.

The basements, the whole of Levels 2 to 11, Unit 108 on
Level 1M and Units 1201, 1202 and 1203 on Level 12M
of Guorui Square Block B, were owned by Wise Expert
Investment Limited (“Wise Expert”) and its subsidiaries. The
Company agreed to acquire Wise Expert at a consideration
of HK$1,541,320,000 pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 30 May 2018 entered into between the
Company as purchaser and Winluck Global Limited and Silky
Apex Limited as vendors. As at the date of this report, 95%
of the entire issued share capital of Wise Expert has been
acquired by the Group.

The remaining units in Guorui Square Block B, including
Level 1, Unit 107 on Level 1M and Levels 13 to 36 (excluding
refuge floors on Level 23 and Level 34), were owned by
Capable Kingdom Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and its subsidiaries.

The Directors planned to sell or lease certain units of Guorui
Square Block B, subject to market conditions in Yizhuang (7i
41, Beijing, the PRC. Currently, certain units were leased out
to tenants under medium or long term leases.

The operation of the Recreational Centre (i.e. a leisure and lifestyle
experience centre in Beijing, the PRC) segment includes, inter
alia, the provision of catering, banquet, fitness and sport facilities
services.

The Recreational Centre is located in the Economic Technological
Development Area in Yizhuang at the southeast of Beijing, the
PRC, which is surrounded by an area of large construction site
under development. The construction site includes hotel, offices,
residential and retail properties. The development of the remaining
area is expected to complete gradually by 2022. The operation of
the Recreational Centre incurred net losses during the Year, which
was mainly due to the recreational market conditions which were
adversely affected by the outbreak of COVID-19. As a cost control
measure, the Group had temporarily suspended the Recreational
Centre from February 2020 and reopened on August 2020. The
Group will continue to monitor the development of COVID-19, and
has been putting appropriate cost and risk management measures
in place during this extraordinary difficult period while still preserving
and building its capabilities for the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHRBwKE DN
FINANCIAL REVIEW B4 %% o] BB
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
BE-_Z-ZF HE-_ZT—NF
+=ZA=+-Btt +=—A=+—HI
FE FE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Turnover e 322,026 373,327
Profit for the year REERF 680 98,082
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
R-EB-EF RZE—NF
+=—BA=+—H +=-—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Total assets BEMRER 6,702,004 6,306,456
Total liabilities BEEE 3,112,688 2,869,659
Net assets BEFHE 3,589,316 3,436,797
Net debts” (vl 2,464,208 2,378,356
Capital liquidity ratio** BARmEN L = 0.24 0.22
Gearing ratio* BEAGBRXR 68.7% 68.6%
" The amount represented trade payables, bank and other * ZHIERERENE SRR RITREMER
borrowings, other payables and accruals and amounts due to Hoth e~ R T8 N FEET B B DA N R~ R B 7 3
related parties, less cash and cash equivalents ERES MR EEY
*x The ratio represented cash and cash equivalents divided by current ~ ** ZLLERER S KRR EEBMRIAREAE
liabilities
# The ratio represented net debts divided by total equity # L AR AR F R A R B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group generated revenue of approximately
HK$322,026,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$373,327,000). The property management segment reported
segment revenue of approximately HK$197,017,000 (31 December
2019: approximately HK$224,225,000). The property development
and investment segment arising reported segment revenue of
approximately HK$99,412,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$78,817,000), which was contributed from the rental income
from the operating leases of certain portion of units in Juxon House,
Boundary House, and Guorui Square Block B. The operation of
the Recreational Centre segment reported segment revenue of
approximately HK$25,597,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$70,285,000).

The Group recorded a profit for the Year of approximately
HK$680,000 (31 December 2019: approximately HK$98,082,000).
The break even was primarily due to i) increase in finance costs
for the period as a result of additional interest expense incurred
on a quasi-loan equity contributed by a joint venture partner of a
subsidiary, which was acquired in the second half year of 2019;
and i) decrease in the remeasurement gain upon transfer of certain
properties held for sale to investment properties as compared
to that recorded in 2019 as a result of less number of additional
properties transferred to investment properties for rental purposes
in the PRC during the Year under negative impact of outbreak of
COVID-19. As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding balance of
bank and other borrowings was approximately HK$2,119,581,000
(31 December 2019: approximately HK$2,336,024,000),
of which the balance mainly consisted of (i) a bank loan of
approximately HK$816,357,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$806,374,000) secured by Juxon House and certain trade and
lease receivables; (i) other loan of approximately HK$234,078,000
(31 December 2019: approximately HK$213,959,000) secured by
the US Complex which was newly drawdown during the Year; and
(iii) lease liabilities balances of approximately HK$5,483,000 (31
December 2019: approximately HK$39,603,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had available cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$196,147,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$246,877,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DN

During the Year, the Group’s business operations were principally
located in the PRC, the UK and the USA and the main operational
currencies are Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”),
Pound sterling (“€”) and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group’s
transactions were mainly denominated in RMB, £ and US$. The
majority of assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$, RMB,
£ and US$. Any significant exchange rate fluctuations of foreign
currencies against HK$ may have financial impact to the Group.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy at
present. However, the Group will closely monitor the exchange
rate movement trend and take corresponding measures in a timely
manner to reduce foreign currency exchange risk and exposure.

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of employees of the
Group (excluding Directors) was 499 (31 December 2019: 698).
Most of them were located in the PRC.

The total remuneration of the employees of the Group for the
Year was approximately HK$70,561,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$96,705,000).

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the
Group is on the basis of their merit, qualification, competence and
experience in the industry, the profitability of the Group as well
as remuneration benchmarks from other local and international
companies and prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors
and employees also participate in bonus arrangements which are
determined in accordance with the performance of the Group and
the individual’s performance.

The Board resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year (31
December 2019: Nil).

GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

RAFEE  AEBEZEHZETRMUNGTE -
REREXBEIRA - MEBEEERSBT(E
7T ARB(TARE]) ~ RE(RE ) R3E
(X)) - ARE 2R FEEUARE ~
BERETREM - ABOBEEMABHAE
T AR RERETREM - SMNERET
WMEEMEREXRKE @ AJRt@HAEEBENK
MR E - AREB AL EINEL R - R
o AEBBZRTERSBE - RER
R P& 514 o DAV R SN R\ e B Ao o

RZZE-TF+-_A=+—8 ~EEZEES
(TBEEE)ABAIA(ZZE—NF+=A
=—+—H :698A) ' KEBHEFBIIE -

AEFERARFE 2B EHNRTEA70,561,000
BLT(ZE—NAF+_A=+—"8: 4
96,705,000/ 7T) ©

EERARERESE ZHMORERET % -
B - e W RITHRER - AREZFBEARKE
fl A3 K2 BIFR 2 )2 Hr MR R 2 AT 500
MEE - ATEENEBTASERS L -
HERBEAREREREARREE °

EERFATERAE L2 EMRMRE (=
T-AETA=+—H &)



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had investment properties
and properties held for sale amounting to approximately
HK$3,775,613,000 in total (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$3,783,349,000) to secure bank and other borrowings. Such
bank and other borrowings comprise of loans presented in the
section headed “Financial analysis” of this report on page 13.

As at 31 December 2020, certain trade and lease receivables of
approximately HK$16,910,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$3,253,000) in total was pledged to secure bank loans granted
to the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, no bank deposit (31 December 2019:
approximately HK$39,168,000) has been pledged to secure
standby letter of credit issued to the general contractor for Santa
Monica project.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2019: Nil). As at 31 December 2020, the
Group had no contracted and no commitments for development
costs and capital expenditure (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$2,879,000).

Property valuations on the Group’s investment properties located
in the UK and the USA and the property located in the PRC as at
31 December 2020 have been carried out by independent qualified
professional valuers, Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, Cushman &
Wakefield Western, Inc, and Colliers International (Hong Kong)
Limited, respectively. The property valuations were used in
preparing 2020 annual results. The valuations were based on
income capitalisation approach and sales comparison approach.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DN

The Group had not made any significant investments, acquisitions
and disposals during the Year.

There is no plan for making material investments or acquiring capital
assets as at the date of this report.

FUTURE PROSPECT

Faced with the unprecedented challenge of the COVID-19
pandemic in 2020, the Group worked relentlessly to maintain
effective operations and provide quality services, minimizing impact
on tenants, customers and staff. To ensure long-term sustainable
business growth and value creation, the Group will continue to
engage prominently in property development and investment, and
relevant asset management services. However, the Group would
be more cautious in considering investments in the international
markets such as the USA and Europe in accordance with the future
development strategy of the Group. This should give diversification
and a hedge against the future domestic businesses of the Group
with a reasonable return to the Shareholders. Other than capturing
investment opportunities to establish the position and engage
in the property market in Los Angeles and London for income
generating real estates with potential of capital appreciation in the
long term and re-development in future, the Group’s focus will also
be on the execution of existing projects, including but not limited
to enhancement of operating performance as well as facilitation
of projects developments. Besides, the Group will not rule out
any possibilities to divest its investment with decent return. The
Directors believe that after the acquisitions in the past few years and
execution of existing projects, the Group will be able to broaden its
income base through the stable rental incomes generated from the
properties.

Apart from the Group’s core businesses in property development
and investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision
of property management services in Beijing, the Group will continue
to focus on searching for suitable investment opportunities which
may strategically fit into its diversification strategy and generate a
steady source of income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, redeemed or cancelled any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and has
no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the companies
adopted by the Group and on the Group’s internal controls and risk
management, accounting and financial reporting functions.

-3 SECS
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HERERAWRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (“ESG”) of GR Properties Limited (“GR Properties” or
the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group” or
“We” or “Us”) to stakeholders, which aims to provide a balanced
representation of the efforts made by the Group on corporate social
responsibility and sustainable development in the past year. This
report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

This report covers the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2020 (the “Reporting Period”).

The reporting scope of this report covers the major property
management projects of the property management business, which
include 11 major property management projects of the Group during
the Reporting Period (2019: seven major property management
projects), namely the Fortune Street project®, the Yigou project®, In-
Beijing project*, the GOLDEN TOWER project®, the North Garden
project*, the Kingdom Guorui project*, the Guorui Plaza project®,
the Daxing project*, the Xiongan project*, the Sanya project” and
ChengdianManTi project*, and Recreational Centre businesses of
the Group located in Beijing.

* The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose
only.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG WORKING GROUP

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and accountability,
the Company has established an ESG working group, which has
clear terms of reference that set out the powers delegated to it by
the board of directors of the Company. We highly value opinions
of each stakeholder and treat them as the cornerstone for the
development of the Group. If you have any opinions or suggestion
on this report and our sustainable development performance, please
send us your comments via email at info@grproperties.com.hk.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

(“CSR”) VISION, POLICY AND STRATEGY

The Group adopted a CSR Policy in order to commit to the highest
standards of corporate governance, and aims to integrate CSR into
the Group’s business strategy and management approach.

CSR is viewed as a business philosophy that creates shared
sustainable value with its stakeholders in the economic, social and
environmental dimensions. The Group’s CSR vision and CSR Policy
guide the Group’s business and operational decisions to take into
account its responsibility to the CSR cornerstones with pragmatic
objectives providing guidance on the application of these principles
in its daily operations.

The Group’s CSR Policy describes our long-term approach to
specific issues in the four cornerstones: Marketplace, Workplace,
Community and Environment, which is instrumental in enabling our
business to operate in a sustainable manner. Within each of the
cornerstones, core principles and pragmatic objectives provide
guidance on practicing CSR in our daily operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEREARS

SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainable development is a long-term commitment of a
responsible enterprise, and is deeply rooted in our people-oriented
businesses. We have been implementing sustainable operations
and worked towards a better life for the public, through continuously
enhancing the sustainability of the environment, ensuring a high
quality of services, building an outstanding and strong service team,
carrying out rigorous supply chain management, maintaining a high
level of ethics and integrity, caring for disadvantaged groups in the
community and otherwise.

Sustainability of
the environment

RENAIHE N

Caring for
disadvantaged
groups in the
community

Eilead T RRE et

BUARA

High level of
ethics and integrity

=ENBEERE

Rigorous supply

BREM R E IR

GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

People oriented

chain management

AR
AREEREAEALENERAG - BRR
ERRBEFRABKRNEBES - FBTE N
SBIRIRAIREN BRREREEY - B
BFEBRNRGEE - BENHEREE - 4
FEERERERE BEHESBEHHEES
BENTIE - B —BEERHERES
RRIFEBR R DR ©

Ensuring high
quality services

HERIRS mE =

Outstanding and
strong service team

BT R A RS
il



STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group endeavors to create sustainable growth and long-
term value for its stakeholders, who are comprised of the Group’s
employees, customers, owners and households, suppliers and
business partners, shareholders and investors, government and the
wider community. We continue to interact with our stakeholders on
an ongoing basis in order to understand their views and collect their

feedback.

Our channels of daily communication with stakeholders are as
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B HEkER®mE
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follows:
Local community Employees
Bt E BT
» Website » Employee meeting
3 ET&%
 Social media  Training
Ay 53
» Mass media » Annual meeting
AREH Fg
« Visit « Notice board
RehEE N
» Mobile application ¢ Internal system
FHERERX LN Owners and
households
EXRERF
» Hotline
Government D E T
B . . » Mobile application
: %uggg%jm review Communication Fremmiet
Ve : with Stakeholders + Social media
" Meeting ; 2
&% BHEEE
. _— » Website
. Dlreqt communication eI
BEAED o
» Satisfaction survey
mEERAE
* Direct communication
HEED

Shareholders and
investors

RREREE

Shareholders’ meeting

BES

Annual report, financial statement
and announcement

FiR o HBmRERLE

Social media

AR

Website

#k

Mass media

ZATC RS

Suppliers and

business partners
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» Direct communication
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» On-site inspection
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* Regular review
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» Performance evaluation
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HEkER®RS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of
our stakeholders, we engage a third party to conduct materiality
assessment for us each year. Through opinion survey, we invite
stakeholders to score and rank a total of 25 environmental, social
and governance issues grouped into five main categories (namely
“Quality of Working Environment”, “Environmental Protection
and Green Operations”, “Operational Practices”, “Product and
Service Responsibilities” and “Contribution to Communities”),
thereby understanding their degree and change of attention to
each significant issue, and enabling us to plan our sustainable

EEMFG
RTEAMERFNENRERNME - HME
FREF=TRAMETEZEFETHE-B
BEAAE  BRESENFNERIEALIE
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development work more comprehensively in the future.

Materiality Analysis of Issues

BRECEENS

Rankings
Rankings for the
Category Change for the Year Last Year
t—FE
El 24k TEEHER BE
Product safety Product and service responsibilities ) 1 8
EmZ: EmEREEE
Treatment of hazardous and Environmental protection and ) 2 7
non-hazardous waste green operations
BERBEEREEYRIE IRIGIREN A B8
Anti-corruption Operational practices h 3 12
RES BETHR
Complaint handling Product and service responsibilities ) 4 14
AR EmERFEE
Disaster emergency plan Operational practices h 5 6
KEESTESR BT
Customer/consumer privacy Product and service responsibilities v 6 3
BFE/HBELE EmERBEE
Energy and water conservation Environmental protection and v 7 5
green operations
B RIBEIR K FA 7K IRIBIRENAZ B EE
Sewage discharge Environmental protection and v 8 2
green operations
VIR IRIFRENG B EE
Exhaust emission Environmental protection and ) 9 10

FERIEIK

green operations
IRIBRENGZEEE
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Rankings
Rankings for the
Category Change for the Year Last Year
t—5E
g 21 REEHR BE
Occupational safety and health Quiality of working environment ] 10 1
BEL2 RER TIFRIRE R
Prevention of child and Quallity of working environment v 11 4
forced labour
PIEET R &E THERREEZR
Greenhouse gas emission Environmental protection and ] 12 9
green operations
B SRS BEN RIBIRENER B &8
Intellectual property rights Product and service responsibilities 13 13
S ERE EmERBEE
Natural resource utilization Environmental protection and v 14 11
(including energy and green operations

water utilization)

RRERNA (BFEEEREAAK) RIEREMZEEE

Employment relationship and Quallity of working environment () 15 21
communication with employees

ERARNIEIER THERREEZR

Technology research and Product and service responsibilities )] 16 18
development

Rt 9T B A 5 EmERBEE

Supplier selection procedure Operational practices [ 17 19

HEREZIRF EEER

Employee turnover rate Quality of working environment () 18 25

BITRAR IHEREER

Evaluation of suppliers’ environmental Environmental protection and ] 19 17
and social performance green operations

HEERE It g KRB RIBRENGZEEE

Diversity and equal opportunity Quality of working environment () 20 24

ZLRISEHE THERREEZR

Trainings and development Quiality of working environment ] 21 15

AR B R IHEREEER

Employee benefits/leisure activities Quality of working environment ] 22 20

BTREA,BRELED TIFRIRE &

Participation in volunteer activities Contribution to Communities 23 23

2R TS HERER

Carbon trading mechanism Environmental protection and ] 24 16

green operations

Bk 32 Z eI RIBIRENAR B &8

Charity donation Contribution to Communities 7 25 22

BERE HERER
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B HEkER®RS

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is eminently devoted towards promoting a sustainable
working and living environment through continuous emissions
reduction and effective use of resources. We have obtained
ISO14001:2015 Environment Management Certificate and ISO9001:
2015 Quality Management Certificate, and formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to actively reduce our
impact on the environment, especially in terms of energy saving and
waste reduction.

The Group persistently strives to operate its business in an
environmentally friendly manner, making every effort to achieve
environmental conservation. Our main emissions are greenhouse
gas emissions (“GHG”) from the energy consumption and the non-
hazardous waste from domestic wastes. Apart from carbon dioxide,
other air emission or pollutants produced by the Group were
immaterial or negligible during the Reporting Period, thus are not
reported in the report.
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GHG Emissions BEREHN

Our greenhouse gas emissions are mainly direct or indirect FH A= REHFIRBEIEINEE 1 - HEF
emissions caused by the use of purchased electricity, the fuel use  BIREHME B LA R B{EMREE - BR - £/F8KE
for vehicles and the consumption of natural gas and steam for  F3&FT M FE B ] A RN ZE SR BT S A 09 B B2 3
heating, cooking, domestic hot water supply and otherwise. B HER -

An overview of the carbon footprint of the Group is summarized as N5 B aYHR & Ui~ -
follows:

2020tCO,¢ 2019C0e Variance Increase/(decrease)
ZECBECEHERNS TE-NECENRERRY £/ (R))&
Property  Recreational Property  Recreational Property  Recreational
GHG emissions Management Centre Total Management Centre Total Management Centre
BERRAN NEER FREA At NxER B it NEER fRRL
Scope 1: Direct emissions? 10013 28.70 128.83 86.74 163.15 249.89 15% (82%) (48%)
81 BRI
Scope 2: Indrect emissions® 9,51381 2,836.00 12,349.81 9,560.36 423022 13,790.58 (0.5%) (33%) (10%)

6E2: R

Total GHG emissions

(Scope 142) 9,613.94 2,864.70 12,478.64 9,647.10 4,393.37 14,04047 (0.3%) (35%) (1%)
REREUNLE

(BE1+8ED)

GHG emissions intensity*

BEREHHEE:
Average by number of household

(Kg CO,gMousenold) 524,69 NA N/A 708.20 N/A N/A (26%) NA N/A
EPETH(RT —Efik

£2/5P) ) elii 0 elii 0 i 0 ki i elii 0 elii
Average by area (Kg CO,e/m) 514 102.10 N/A 6.57 156.59 N/A (22%) (35%) N/A
HETA(RT K

88/5¥5%) NER HER NER
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B HEkER®RS

Note:

1. The above calculation is based on the reference and
tools provided by Environmental Protection Department.
https://www.carbon-footprint.hk/node/52

2. Scope 1 refers to direct emissions from operations that are owned
or controlled by the company;

3. Scope 2 refers to indirect emissions resulting from the generation of
purchased or acquired electricity and steam consumed within the
company;

4. GHG emissions intensity is calculated by dividing the total

energy consumption by (1) the number of household; and (2) the
total chargeable area or the area of operation for the property
management segment and Recreational Centre, respectively.

° For the property management business, total chargeable
area for 2019 and 2020 is approximately 1,468,393.48 m2
and 1,870,269.97 m? respectively.

° For the Recreational Centre, the area of operation is
28,056.88 m?in 2019 and 2020.

o For the property management business, the number of
house hold for 2019 and 2020 is approximately 13,622 units
and 18,323 units respectively.

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group had temporarily
suspended the Recreational Centre from February 2020 and
reopened in August 2020. As a result, GHG emissions from
Recreational Centre have been significantly reduced.
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Non-hazardous waste HWEREY

The operation of the Group’s business does not result in the AREEHNEKLETSERNELGEEEY
creation of hazardous waste, while non-hazardous waste is mainly MEEEZYTERENSWEESIEEB MK
general refuse collected from various property management  EfR DA EUNER —REEY » A ERFM
projects and public spaces in the Recreational Centre, as well HWAZFREA YV ER - NEBDEEE=HEE
as waste papers from our offices. The Group has engaged third- ZEYERARIKNENEEEREEEREEY) -
party waste management companies to collect and dispose of its

non-hazardous wastes in an appropriate manner.

Variance

Increase/

Non-hazardous waste! 2020 tonnes 2019 tonnes (decrease)

—EB-BF —E-hF @,

|EERY N N (M) &

Property management 27.47 26.53 4%
MEEE

Recreational Centre 9.62 88.00 (89%)
REH O

Total 37.09 114.53 (68%)

a5t

Non-hazardous waste intensity?

BEBERYEE?

Property management

MEER

— Average by number of household (Kg/household) 1.5 1.95 (23%)
— EFHE (AR, BF)

Recreational Centre

REH L

— Average by number of household (Kg/household) N/A N/A N/A
— EPECEH(AT/8F) TE A TEA TE A
Property management

MEER

— Average by area (Kg/m2) 0.01 0.02 (50%)
— EREEE(AT/FHK)

Recreational Centre

REH L

— Average by area (Kg/m?) 0.34 3.14 (89%)
— EREEE(AT/FHK)

Note: st

1, The non-hazardous waste data did not include waste generated by 1. EEEEYEBET TREVETERANE
owners in the property management segment, only the amount of TELAHEEY  EitRPAERALS
waste generated in offices and public areas were accounted for; ELEMEZEYSE

2. Non-hazardous waste intensity is calculated by dividing the total 2. BEBRVEENGTERER  BERYRE
non-hazardous waste by (1) the number of household; and (2) BRUMEFEE  RQEEEREZIKRE
the total chargeable area or the area of operation for the property RLEEMEREmESEEEE -

management segment and Recreational Centre, respectively.
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We promote the practice of waste reduction at the source to
owners, households and customers, by encouraging them to use
environmentally friendly bags instead of plastic bags, classifying
general refuse and recyclable waste, donating unwanted items to
others instead of discard, and choosing environmentally friendly
products and otherwise. In addition, we encourage employees to

RFIMET FRPNERTSERERE 56
HPEBERABER - FARRE B—REE
%ﬂ—lﬁihf&“*ﬁ B AEENYmIBEM
AMIEES  BESRRNERS - N K
1F37T1E%EI}|—121&“*§J2€@ BEIN A
AR EAS SIS BIRP FTE S EEN K

classify wastes, and require that construction waste generated by ~ REEA—RREZEY R » WEDFHEE M

contractors or builders during decoration or maintenance should not
be mixed into general refuse but should be separately treated and
transferred in a timely manner. Meanwhile, we are also committed
to enhancing employees’ awareness of emission reduction,

BB - B - BFNECDIRA B TR
Bt - BB AEAET(CRENE - BET
REEDTRENKBRAR FEER
R PO A -

encouraging them to use electronic channels for communication,
giving priority to the use of double-sided printing and recycling
paper as far as possible, in the hope of achieving a “paperless”

office.

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19. the Group had temporarily
suspended the Recreational Centre from February 2020 and
reopened in August 2020. As a result, the non-hazarous waste from
Recreational Centre have been significantly reduced.

The Group encourages our employees to use their best endeavors
to reduce waste and emissions, with a view to contributing to
the community and the environment. We have implemented the
following environmental protection policies to reduce emissions

R COVID-19R B E - AEEKEFT L8 =
Z_EFE_ARCERARE IR _T_FF
NAEFHRAZE - AtREFLEREERZRYA
IR o

AEEZBE TR ERY LN - Bt
B NIREME AR - HAEEA T IRRRER
B AR BERAL IR =3 ﬁﬂﬁﬁxﬁ(}i ’F]%‘E%i
BEE - FARRR ﬁ»{&kmia{ =

and increase efficiency of resource usage, which include green
management, the use of environmentally friendly equipment and the
promotion of environmental awareness.

Category
il

Green management
reEn

Environmental Protection Measure

RRER

Establish plans and guidelines for energy and water saving

BEENABEIR & K E) 75 2 465l

Organize monthly energy consumption analysis meeting to discuss and analyze the
energy consumption data, status of indicators, and the remaining energy consumption
quota

HEERARRONTEE  HHHREREE - BREANERFREEETONR
Cooperate with local suppliers as far as possible to reduce carbon emissions caused
by transportation

BEEIHHEEAE - R AERIBIZFT T RAHEE N

Maintain the temperature of air conditioning in office and public area at 26°C in
summer and 22°C in winter

B REMAHRIGHZEDAZERFT - EROBEE - LR2BRE

Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce energy and water wastage caused
by damage

FHRERERE  BREERE RO EEEMREKE

Organize the promotion and training activity to raise awareness of environmental
protection

BPSEFINES - UWRRSRREH

Encourage employees to use their best endeavors to take public transport during
business trip

SEETHEEEHRRERLARTBEIA

Reuse office stationaries (e.g. envelopes, folders and double-sided printing and
recycling paper)

BERFEAMAEBIEMEE - X - EETE R ERARER)
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Category Environmental Protection Measure
il RREE

Environmentally friendly * |Install voice or infrared sensors to control the level of regional lighting
equipment o LRBEFUIMERIERS @ EHIREIHE KT

IRIREEAE e Replace ordinary lamps in garage of each project with LED lamps

e NLEDBEERRZHEEEALEEE

e Adjust time switch in a timely manner based on the level of sunlight for lights and roof
advertisement words

o ZEXHAYERER - BIEESETIRE B RIS KA RERIERHE

e Purchase appliances with at least Grade Two Energy Label as far as possible

o BRUBHBER MR EAIRIRER

e Replace boiler burners to increase operational efficiency and reduce emission

o FHRIMEMEERS - IREIETTEL SIRIEBER

e Use central control system for energy management, and adjust such system
seasonally to save energy

o HBTREMEEEIRNGH  RAFTEETAE  USHEER

e Adopt rainwater recycling system for garden irrigation

o EBFKEII RSB RKEITIERER

e Use non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to save energy

o RAEMBERKEERL - EiLIEIR

e Adjust the running time of the elevator based on peak and non-peak hours

o RESEHREAHRRAREHETRRE

e Equipped the electricity controller of air conditioner in the employee’s dormitory

s BIFEMZTHEHMAELET

Environmental awareness e Provide environmental protection training for employees to improve their attention to
IRIRE environmental protection issues, and require them to apply energy saving measures

into their daily work, including considering the necessity of energy dissipation and
water consumption, turning off lights, powering off when leaving, keeping an eye on
water and electricity waste caused by equipment damage, and arranging maintenance
in case of any damage

o RETRMRRAERE - RAMRBRESENMT - ERETIEHERHERAR
BILEER  BEZSEERFEKNLEN - BEFEE - THEKR IERSBRERE
BIEMREKENER - LERE

e |nstall sub-meter and implement “user/polluter-pays” policy to encourage water and
electricity savings

o BRLTEKENEK  REIA/5EENINRA - FEMTFEHL

e Promote environmental awareness and provide guidelines to encourage better
behaviors

o EERRES  RHIES HERBETREE

FH 2020 ESHHEFRAT
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Energy Consumption
Our energy consumption includes purchased electricity, fuel
consumed by vehicles and natural gas and steam consumed for

BEREFE
BPIBEREBIEINEE S - BWMAOWRMBREIA
K RIEERRUK - BB RMEAZRNRARR

N BRERRNBIENT -

domestic hot water supply, cooking and heating purposes. The
relevant consumption data are as follows:

2020 MWh 2019 MWh Variance Increase/(decrease)
ZZCEETETRE “2-NETRTRE i/ (R &
Property  Recreational Property  Recreational Property  Recreational

Energy Consumption Management Centre Total Management Centre Total Management Centre

EAYE NEER HERL &t IES HRERL & NxER B
Electrictty 11,745.44 244840 14,193,684 11,950.45 401399 15,964.44 (2%) (39%) (11%)
B
Steam N/A 3829.17 382017 N/A 457558 457558 N/A (16%) (16%)
Ea NER NER
Non-renewable fuels? 1,330.36 382.08 1,112.44 1,102.88 2269098 3,362.86 21% (83%) (49%)
FREMARR
Total 13,075.81 6,059.64 19,735.45 13,053.33 10,849.55 23,902.88 0.17% (39%) (17%)
it
Energy consumption intensity®
WRHRTR
Average by number of household

(MWr/household) 071 N/A N/A 096 N/A N/A (26%) N/A N/A
ERETH(TRTRE/5P) NER NER AER NER NER NER
Average by area (MWh/m3) 001 024 N/A 001 0.39 N/A (30%) (39%) N/A
BETA(TETRER/

BTAR) iR NER R
Notes: T
1. The consumption of steam purchased only included the amount of 1. SNEZF VB REERERIERE R O E R &

steam used in the Recreational Centre; AE

2. The natural gas data only includes the consumption for the GOLD 2. RKARBIBEEREeRLEBNEREZ - )

HREMYEEERANBESEREER
R \FRIMBTE=T

EN TOWER project, since the operation and management of boilers
in other property management projects were outsourced to third
parties from 2018;

BERBRBEMFTENER - BELRBRE
BAMEFPEE + RWERERSEMIARE
POE MBI EmEREEEAE

3. Energy consumption intensity is calculated by dividing the total 3.
energy consumption by (1) the number of household; and (2) the
total chargeable area or the area of operation for the property
management segment and Recreational Centre, respectively.

ATRAERNG - RPN DEEEEBKCDH
ECETREIRREEBR) » MBI AREZYEN
ERRERBEE IR T(F - IR EMRE BN
EEBARBRBOEE 2L  EREL
F o AR R B RERRE -

In order to improve the energy efficiency of our property
management business, we have formulated the “Energy
Conservation and Environmental Protection Management Policy” to
strengthen and standardize the management of energy conservation
and emission reduction in properties, including regular inspection,
cleaning and maintenance of equipment and facilities such as units,
cooling towers and air conditioning systems, so as to effectively
control energy consumption and avoid energy waste.
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Water management

The Group recognizes that water management is one of the material
aspects of preserving the natural environment. With respect to
water usage, we collect rainwater for irrigation through rainwater
recycling system, install automatic faucet in public washroom,
adjust the amount of flushing water, and use non-negative pressure
fresh water supply system to reduce water consumption. The water
consumed by the Group daily is derived from the municipal water
supply by the local water supply department, and the Group has
not experienced any material issues in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose and such sourcing has no impact on the groundwater or
water resources in the natural environment. Our water consumption
data during the Reporting Period are as follows:

B HEkER®mE

Kiﬁﬁﬂ

AEEEBD  KEREERRERAREIRN
EKHEZ_ o ERKITE - HFIEBRIKE
WEBWERIGETER  EAKXATFHLE

HEIKEESR - ARFIKE - EREREIXK
HERG - R AKE - KREREFERER

IKERED R B E KB PT R A A T B
K BRREUERAR B B E S EMNEA

R - SKEUKIRE IR & 8 Tk B AIRE
BIKEREERE - LTRBMNREHHN
FEZREBUR ¢

2020 m? 2019 m? Variance Increase/(decrease)
ZECBEVAR ZE-NEURK B/ (BY)&
Property  Recreational Property  Recreational Property  Recreational
Water consumption Management Centre  Management Centre  Management Centre
HkE NEER {REHD NEER NGNS NEER REHD
Segment 156,080.99 12,191.00 183,389.20 54,396.00 (27,308.21) (42,205.00) (69,513.21)
iz
Total 168,271.99 237,785.20 (15%) (78%) (29%)
fit
Water intensity
HKEE
Average by number of household
(m?/household) 8.52 N/A 13.46 N/A (37%) N/A N/A
FFETH(IK/BF) MR TR TR TR
Average by area (m¥/m?) 0.08 043 0.12 1.94 (33%) (78%) N/A
EETH(AR/ FERK) il
Note: BT
Water intensity is calculated by dividing the water consumption by (1) the  FEKEEMFTEHEA + FRKEBRUANEFHE

number of household; and (2) the total chargeable area or the area of
operation for the property management segment and Recreational Centre,
respectively.

The Group’s overall water consumption decreased by 29% from
237,785.20 m3 in 2019 to 168,271.99 m?3 in 2020, mainly as a result
of the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group had temporarily suspended
the Recreational Centre from February 2020 and reopened in
August 2020. As a result, the water consumption from Recreational
Centre have been significantly reduced.

RQMEEERE LKA LS B MR KEEER
CESETER

AEEMBERKERCZ f*ﬂiﬁﬁ
237,785.20 . KB L 29% E — T T F 1
168,271.9937 /5 K + £ Z R AR COVID-19%& 1%
SE ZJK$@17KB@3EF/DE:§:§¢_H£E

TR WR-_ZE-_ZTFNAEHHAEX - A
IHARE O RKERIRERIE -
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BPBY AT E RIKBE R O RFEKE -
B IEEIKIE I

We closely monitor the water consumption of properties and the 7 ER
Recreational Centre and implement various water conservation

measures:

North Garden
project

tEEE

Adjusted the time of water use for greening purposes to consume water at intervals

FEARA L KBV REFE A D BRI K

Equipped with a water card system in public toilets to control the duration of water consumption
to reduce waste

DEFERBFORRERS - EHIAKER -

Kingdom Guorui

Bt « £WER AR E

Yigou project

ZHEIEHE

Installed pressure reducing valves to control the water flow
2 ORI PARE K &2

Golden tower project
SRZHEAE

Upgraded the cooling towers to control the water flow
RAMEETARDGETIE - EHIERE

Separating the pipelines of the two swimming pools into independent ones instead of connected
running, which avoid to close and drain all of pools and refill the water while cleaned or repaired

Recreational Centre

1R (E K B AEE B B SCERR B B
e BERRER A H X At B8 5 5E 7K

PREI O

The Group will continue to devote on-going efforts to promote
energy and water-saving behavior under its overall environmental
management agenda.

We promise to comply with all environmental laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China and etc., striving to building a green community. We
actively integrate the elements of energy conservation and emission
reduction into operations to reduce the carbon footprint of our
operations, so that our next generation can continue to live and
work in peace and contentment in the community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to air and GHG emission,
discharges into water and land and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes.
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Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are an integral part of any organization and the
corresponding labour management practices play a requisite role
in affecting a company’s culture, success and reputation. Our goal
is to create a working environment that encourages diversity and
respect for all while enabling each employee to exhibit individuality
and creativity. With the aim to institute a favorable work environment
the organization took several steps which included maintaining
a workplace culture of equality and diversity, developing the
competencies of employees, recognizing, motivating and rewarding
talent, ensuring their well-being and safety of all individuals.

Employment

Our employees lie at the core of our business operations and form
the firm foundation of our success and development. The Group
from time to time reviews its policies relating to recruitment and
promotion, compensation and dismissal, equal opportunity and
antidiscrimination, training and development, and other benefits and
welfare of the employees.

As per the records till 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of
474 employees in mainland China while 123 of them (who worked
in the general office and 11 major property projects in the property
management segment and the Recreational Centre) are covered
in this report. The total number of employees in this year has
decreased by 31% from 687 employees in 2019, which is mainly
due to the human resources planning of the Group taking into
account the influence of the epidemic.

B HEkER®mE

S EmE
EREESZEIER
%ﬂﬂﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ% - B TR A SR AP
NS TEREREATUE » KR
égﬁﬁﬁﬁéTﬁéig{’Eﬁﬁ BB REEE
SBZTEREERRETNHITERE B
ERERSMLEENEUEMEIED - STHEE
REFHTIERSE - AEBRIAEHEERES
BRENENNZE  BREEFTFENZTL
M TIESMAXL - BB T A8 RBA - BB
KEERINT »

&

B EEERFEBEENZOMAE - TR
HPIART E R T BB AR $%@Tﬁ%
BRI RET - HMRERE  FEREER
AR~ SR B R A K Eo At B B AR M AE AR

s

;ﬁo

BEHE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—HmLE "
ZK%@EEPIﬂ HEATAZRE T » MARE
MEHEHP123B B TR MEEEBIRMAOBHA
i&ﬁMIEW%EEM&W%$M%Q°m
BN _E—NFMES7TEZET » REENET
BER D T31% » TBTVHERAEENANE
FREGE BN EEBEN -

Employment Data Overview

BRBEHE

Number of Employees by Gender

BUR D ENEEAR

2019

B Male
B 2%

169

M Female

2020
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Number of Employees by Employee Category
RESER S ENEEAH
2019 2020

8 31

648 439

B Senior Management [ Middle-level Management [ Ordinary and technical personnel
BRERE PRERE —MRREMET

Number of Employees by Age
REBRSBENEEAH

300

243

- /\

200 186
168
188

L/ RN
/

100
98 58
50
4
11 4
0
Aged Aged Aged Aged Aged Above
below 20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 age 60
20B% AT 21-30%% 31-405% 41-507% 51-6073% 60B% A L

—&— 2019 —0— 2020
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Employee turnover rate by Gender

BB S BNETRAR
100.00%
90.00% 87.76%
79.30%
80.00%
70.00%
58.64%
60.00%
50.00%
41.36%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%
2019 2020
Male Female
Wey Wy
Employee turnover rate by Age
RERIENEIRAE
400%
346%
300%
200%
114%
100%
69%
52% o
36% 45%
0%
Aged Aged Aged Aged Aged Above
below 20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 age 60
20574 21-307% 31-405% 41-505% 51-607% 60p7A =

| 2019 W 2020
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Health and Safety

The Group intends to provide our employees with a healthy and
secured workplace environment, which in turn ensures a sustainable
corporate culture.

For our property management business, we have obtained
OHSAS18001:2007/GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System Certificate and formulated the
Quality, Environment and OHS Management manuals according to
requirements of the certificate, to strengthen the safety management
of the work environment.

During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance with the laws and
regulations relating to occupational safety that have resulted or may
result in significant impact on the Company was identified.

The health and safety measures undertaken by the Group include
the following:

o To ensure the physical health of employees, physical
checkups are conducted annually to avert the occurrence of
infectious and occupational diseases.

o As part of the COVID-19 countermeasures and to prevent
the spread of the virus, the Group complied strictly
with the virus prevention regulations as required by the
government, and stringent infection preventive measures
were implemented to protect its employees. The Group
closely monitored the health of its employees by checking
their body temperature, providing sufficient surgical masks
and alcohol-based hand rub in workplace. The Group also
arranged some of its employees to work from home and to
conduct business meetings online to minimize the spread of
the pandemic.

o The Group often organizes production safety education and
training, and promotes safety awareness. Our employees
are required to execute Employee Safety Production Liability
Statement in which they are committed to complying with all
safety requirements.

° The Recreational Centre has formulated the “Regulations on
Handling Work-related Injuries and accidents”, specifying the
procedures and measures for the prevention and handling of
work-related injuries and accidents, so as to avoid material
casualties in accidents in a timely manner.

o We provide personal protective equipment based on the
position and work nature of employees, such as insulated
shoes, gloves, safety helmet, safety reflective jacket etc., so
as to reduce the accident risk. For the property management
business, we provide anti-heatstroke or cold-proof
equipment according to seasonal changes, so as to protect
the safety of employees working outdoors.
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o The Group carries out fire drills every year and inspects all
fire-fighting and electronic equipment regularly to ensure
environmental safety.

' 4

Development and Training

We believe that employees are one of our most valued assets and
motivated workforce could play a vital role in sustaining competitive
advantage and providing the best service experience to our
customers. For the sustainable development of the Group, we
search for multiple facets of employee development and training
activities.

The Group is committed to create a diversified and discrimination-
free workplace and continuously improves the career development
ladder. In order to effectively evaluate their performance, we have
a performance management system, pursuant to which we carry
out monthly, quarterly or annual performance assessments of
employees, the results of which are taken into consideration in
determination of the performance pay and adjustments to salaries
and positions.

With regard to training, we provide abundant training opportunities
to our employees. Our human resources department hand out the
questionnaire of employees’ training need at a regular basis, so as
to draws up the annual training plans and readjusted the training
content with actual needs. A vigorous and appropriate training
development framework was developed as per the requirements
of different staff members working at different positions. New
joiners will receive orientation training covering corporate culture,
regulations and system, safety training, environmental health and
safety training, job skills and work procedures. The training to
the employees of the property management project including but
not limited to the customer service, security management, skill of
communication with owners, equipment maintenance, emergency
and fire safety.

B HEkER®mE
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During the Reporting Period, due to the impact of the COVID-19,
we have provided more than 9,140 working hours of training and
the total training coverage exceeded 159 employees. Moreover, the
Group continuously monitors the implementation of development
and training measures to ensure effective execution, as well as
regularly review and update such measures.

As a Group we strive to create a positive work-life balance culture
that provides reasonable working hours and organizes team-
building activities on a regular basis. In order to cultivate a strong
cohesiveness and team spirit, we organized a wide range of
activities, such as sports competition, holiday celebration and
epidemic prevention and control activities, all of which have been a
great success, enabling our employees to strengthen their sense of
belonging to the Company while relaxing themselves.

REREER - BACOVID-19ZIEFE - B IR
HT B, 140E TR A IE T - 1FFI 8 A BB
BI5OA o AN REEBEERER R
BN EEEN - UERERHT - WEBR
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BTRABTHRE N RERA RS - B
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MRS LR - JEE T S AR M REBR -

Overview of Employees’ Activities
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Sports competition

BELE

Holiday celebration
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Labour Standards

To recruit and motivate the potential employees, the Group offers
competitive remuneration and welfare packages. We provide
our employees with reasonable remuneration, benefits and
compensation at the market level, in sufficient consideration of
their needs. The additional benefits given to the employees range
from meal and accommodation, annual leaves, communication
and Transportation allowance, holiday allowance and gift, social
insurance and housing provident fund in accordance with local
regulations. With this robust system of motivating the employees
with enticing rewards and support, the Group strives to retain talent
and envision the development of all the staff members.

We strictly comply with all employment-related laws and regulations,
so that all employees are protected by law, including but not
limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, and laws and
regulations of Hong Kong in respect of the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, and other ordinances relating to occupational safety,
as well as disability, sex, family status, and race discrimination. The
Group also established a Code of conduct, which is in line with the
Anti-Corruption Policy published by the Hong Kong Independent
Commission Against Corruption, the Anti-Fraud and Whistle blowing
Policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware of any material
breaches of employment labour laws and regulations related to child
and forced labour in its operations, and other benefits and welfares
concerning its employees.
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Supply Chain Management

Effective supply chain management can have implications on
cost and quality, and it serves to mitigate social or environmental
risks that an organization may face. The Group formulated a
strict Procurement Management Rules with shop around review
mechanism for choosing the suppliers, including carry out on-site
assessment to review their licenses, qualifications, service quality,
business management, material management, the degree of
support, reputation and otherwise. During the course of purchase,
we require suppliers to sign the Integrity Commitment, impress on
them the attention of the Company to integrity and disallow any
corruption, bribery and other illegal activities, and require them
to undertake to comply with laws and regulations in producing
products and providing services. Besides, we also conduct regular
review of existing suppliers in our Qualified Supplier List every year
to ensure that they maintain the supply quality, the service level and
otherwise.
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Procurement
Guidelines

RS

Green
Procurement

IR

Supply Chain
Management

HEREE

Integrity
Commitment

BRIBUE S

Qualified
Supplier List
R EPIET S

Product Responsibility

The Group values each client and strives to continuously improve its
products and services. Each business operation in preserving the
strict quality standards and traceability.
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For our property management business, we have a sound
environment, occupational health and safety, and quality
management system. We have established the Quality, Environment
and OHS Management Manual to perfect our management system
and define responsibilities of the management and departments,
and has passed 1ISO14001:2015 environmental management
system, OHSAS18001:2007 occupational health and safety
management system and ISO9001:2015 quality management
system certifications. We spare no effort to maintain the quality of
our services and protect the health and safety of the households,
tenants and employees. The Company regularly reviews and
inspection for the Quality, Environment and Occupational health
and safety management system. The external expert confirmed
that we have complied with relevant requirements of the three
standards, namely GB/T19001-2015 Quality Management System
Requirements, GB/T24001-2015 Environmental Management
Systems — Requirements with Guidance for Use and GB/T28001-
2011 Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Specifications. We are committed to the sustainable development
of the enterprise, environment and society by strengthening the
management of daily operations.
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For our Recreational Centre business, we have formulated the fFEARBEHRLEBHE @ KU E(ERIER
Quality Inspection Scheme to perfect the quality inspection system )X TE&LEREEZNEE - RPTGE2
and standard in which we carry out weekly service quality and safety ETIRERE LT EBRE @ SEMEERER
inspection, covering environmental sanitation, appearance, facilites 4 -« EAER « BEEE  1TAHHE  AR%E
and equipment, code of conduct, food safety, fire safety, dormitory 248 « 245 - BSEE - TERF Lig
management, work procedures, operations and etc., and monthly  {EZ£% - e LAF A KE - TEHEemE -
inspection, irregular comprehensive inspection, unannounced visit  #EfTIRE M ETRSENGETER - X8
and otherwise, in the form of: $E

Quiality inspectors from various departments would carry out inspections twice a week and
® supervise the rectification of problems in respective departments, summarize the problems
Departmentl identified, prepare quality inspection report and submit them to the HR Department.
SRy SEHPMERFESFASNE B MPIETRMREMEREERN - BERNNERATER
SRS CERRREs - ERANERE )
*The Service Quality Department, together with quality inspectors of various departments,
: : reviews the contents of quality inspection and safety reports every week, so as to ensure that
Sg’é’;:ﬂ?n‘gfy problems are rectified properly.
G » REMESEHASHIINEREEBBEYER REMEANDETES - BRMBEERI -
BRAS R BR /
R
N\
®nspections, follow-up actions, communications and urgent work are carried out every week
P for key inspection departments, so as to improve the quality of services.
ﬂiggggz:‘ s FAGIE L ERREHPIFRAFNRSE - Bt - BR - BROTE  URASERERE
EHHFIRE
*The Service Quality Department summarizes the inspections and prepares a report, which will
be sent to department directors, who are required to respond with proposed rectifications,
Service Quality within 3 working days, including recording the rectified items in photos, or indicating the time
Department needed for rectification.
SlDIER) e RSB IS BB B RELKRE - BXEFZHPVRE Y ERWEEIEATIER AHEEE
nﬁﬁéf% MESETTRE - BEMERNNMLT AR - AR F 2R EAEMERRE - )
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The Recreational Centre also adopts the mystery shopper scheme AR LIRS IMEE R =t 2] - kst E|H -
by engaging a testing agency to appoint a mystery shopper to KB /OE Z sE ke BIHE R 1 i B i e
carry out quality inspection at the Center’s restaurants, SPA  FETRHEE - SPANE S L ETESRE
and fitness centers on a regular basis, which is divided into 25 187 + 9 A25EBE - — 156K B FEIE
processes with a total of 156 test indicators, including telephone  BIEEEETEE] « BE - L - £IRZE - DUAIER
booking, meal ordering, serving of dishes, payment and etc., to test IR A BRVEZIF N - Wi A 2R HEEIA
the qualification of the service personnel, and record the specific  $&Z B 28k - IMEBZEENEHHHAE
test processes by recording or photographing, so as to report to 32 A 8 Mk »

managers items which require improvement.

It is also notable to mention that the Group has received certain  TMES—1IEM2 - AEBTERBENETH
awards and honors in respect of product quality and responsibility. EINVESE THRIEBNEE -

China Excellent Service Team Triple-A Credit Units
P E R R EE 3 AAAR IS B

 LkEREMLEEERAS
| AAAZE N

E=

Highlighted Office Property’s Energy Most Valuable Landmark Project
BEFEITEHOPESR RAEEMEEREE

AN FABAHOPER
Agbighied Ofice Praperty 4 (se-ty
/ | HMImARRRTENE
\
\
L T
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Contacting Customers

We have always advocated the service philosophy of “customer
first”, and are committed to providing the most complete and
considerate service for the owners, households and surrounding
residents to provide a feeling of home. There are customer service
specialists for all of the Group’s property projects to take care of the
customers’ needs at all hours, including repair requests, comments
on the services or complaints. If necessary or in case of any
problems, owners and households can contact their corresponding
customer service specialists through the 24-hour service hotline, the
on-site customer service center of the project or the “Aocean Life”
online service.

The new version of “Aocean Life” mobile application has been
transfered to the “B7FE¥ % AOCEAN” WeChat Official Accounts.
The same with the “Aocean Life” APP, owners of the Aocean
property can apply for repairs online, track the progress of services,
contact service specialists, pay property fees, and make comments
and suggestions on property management online.
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With regard to customer complaints, we have formulated the
Complaint Management Policy, pursuant to which we shall respond
to a complaint in the system within 4 hours, an oral complaint
within 1 working day and a written complaint within 3 working
days. In order to ensure that all complaints are handled in the
most appropriate manner to the satisfaction of customers, we
follow up with customers by telephone or in person, which shall
cover all customers every year. In addition, we carry out at least
one customer satisfaction survey each year to collect customer
feedback and suggestions on the property projects and the quality
of services, so as to continuously improve the quality of our services
and “create high-quality products and provide prominent services”.
In order to better understand customers’ views about us, we have
specially added a “criticize and praise” function to the 23
AOCEAN” WeChat Official Accounts application, allowing customers
to instantly upload photos and give a praise or suggestion for
improvement so that our service team can make immediate
response.

For the business of the Recreational Centre, in addition to our
efforts to ensure the quality of services, we have always adhered
to the philosophy of “treating customers with integrity and honesty”
and treat every customer with care. In order to continuously
improve our services, with regard to facilities and services of the
Recreational Centre, we invite customers to complete a satisfaction
survey after daily service for giving a score and comment on the
food of restaurants, the quality of service staff, dining environment,
treatment methods, skills and otherwise, and regularly summarize
and analyze the results of the survey, and identify the items that
require improvement, and carry out corresponding improvement
measures for continuous enhancement.

Health and Safety

As a constructor of the community, we must shoulder the
responsibility to protect the safety of the community, and are
committed to protecting the lives and properties of the public.
In accordance with the Safety Production Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Regulations on the Reporting, Investigation
and Handling of Work Safety Accidents, and the Safety Production
Regulations of Beijing, we had formulated the Safety Production
Management Manual to identified various kinds of safety risks and
formulated appropriate response plans, so as to strengthen safety
production management. We also carry out adequate safety training
and publicity activities to raise the awareness among our staff and
residents in safety issues. According to the principle of “safety first”,
the Group made a great endeavor to respond to different safety
risks.

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Fire Safety

With regard to fire safety, for the property management business,
we have improved the maintenance and repair system for fire-
fighting equipment, including daily inspection of the alarm system
and fire-fighting equipment room, monthly random inspection of
smoke detectors, temperature detectors, audible and visual alarms,
monthly inspection of fire-fighting facilities, equipment, escape
routes, safety exit and otherwise, and testing water supply pumps
to ensure normal operation, and annual inspection of water supply
and drainage systems. In addition, the safety officers of each
property project regularly check the status of fire hydrants, pumps,
fire controllers and other equipment to ensure that all facilities and
equipment are in good condition and will not pose a safety risk.

In addition to the property management business, the Recreational
Centre attaches great importance to fire safety and has formulated
inspection and fire emergency systems for various equipment
systems such as oil separator, power distribution rooms, swimming
pool systems, machine rooms, boilers and etc., to standardize daily
inspection procedures and maintenance systems, fire prevention
measures and emergency measures in case of fires, power outage,
natural disaster and etc.

For improving the fire prevention awareness and the ability to deal
with emergencies, we have developed fire drill plans and fire training
during the Reporting Period. It not only enhanced everyone’s
awareness of fire safety, but also improved the ability of each project
staff to put out fire at an early stage, and familiarise every staff with
the project’s fire fighting and evacuation plan and their respective
duties during evacuation in the event of a fire.

fi?!!lllkfé.
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Elevator Safety

To further strengthen the elevator safety management, the property
management business has put forward the idea of “building
intelligent elevator with Internet of things” to improve the safety and
quality of the elevator. The Yigou property management project
installed the Cloud elevator system, including the Cloud elevator
Internet of things system, Cloud elevator big data analysis platform,
APP, management and operation platform. The Cloud elevator
system takes a positive role as the 24 hours electronic housekeeper
to monitor the elevator running state and predict the elevator failure
statistically, and intelligently manage the elevator daily operation,
discourage and record unsafe and uncivilized elevator behavior.
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Hygiene

For the property management business, environmental officers
of each property project carry out centralized cleaning and
maintenance work in each area, beautifying the environment of
the community and improving the appearance and image of the
community every day, in accordance with the green maintenance
standards. In addition, we engage a third-party testing agency to
inspect the drinking water in projects every year to ensure that the
water quality meets relevant requirements of the Hygienic Standards
of Drinking Water and that drinking water is not contaminated or
harmful to health.

Since the business of the Recreational Centre involves fitness
centers and SPA, personal items including beds, towels, slippers,
cosmetics and otherwise are used. We pay special attention to
environmental and personal hygiene, and require our employees to
clean and disinfect all facilities, equipment and supplies including all
fitness equipment, fithess products, furniture, towels, gymnasiums,
sauna rooms, massage couches, beauty beds, slippers, changing
rooms every day. In addition, we require that all cosmetics including
powder puffs, cotton swabs and eyebrow brushes should not be
shared, and require employees to keep cosmetics including lotion,
face cream and loose powder in clean and sealed containers.

In addition to the hygiene of the environment and supplies, food
hygiene is an issue to which we attach great importance. For the
catering service of the Recreational Centre, we have formulated a
personal and environmental hygiene system, which specifies the
separation of raw and cooked food, finished and semi-finished
products, food and medicines and debris, and have frequently
cleaned and disinfected the surrounding environment, tableware
and utensils, and strictly managed the environment, refrigerator and
food hygiene, so as to meet the relevant requirements of the Food
Safety Law, the Measures for the Supervision and Administration of
Food Safety in Catering Services and other laws and regulations. In
addition, we carry out daily kitchen hygiene inspection, and weekly
comprehensive site inspection by the food safety manager, and
develop a food safety inspection plan every month to systematize
the procedures and standards of kitchen hygiene inspection.
For food safety, we have strict standards for the acceptance of
ingredients during purchase to ensure that the freshness, quality,
colour, lustre and appearance of all ingredients meet the standards,
and ensure the quality and hygiene of each dish at the source.
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Privacy Matters

In respect of privacy and confidentiality protection, the Group’s
employees are obligated to retain in confidence all information
obtained during the course of their employment, including, but
not limited to, trade secrets, knowhow, customers’ information
and personal data, supplier information and other confidential
information. We strictly comply with all laws protecting data
privacy and formulated privacy protection guidelines to instruct
our employees to properly handle and storage of employees and
customers data, with an aim to eliminating behavior of unauthorized
edit, use, resale or use for other purposes of personal information.
We also provide frequent trainings to our staff to increase their
awareness in privacy protection.

During the Reporting Period, there were no violations or data
leakage-related cases involving us, or substantiated complaints from
any external parties or regulatory bodies about the Group’s failure to
protect the privacy of customers and loss of customer data.

Advertising and Labelling

During the Reporting Period, all advertising and publicity activities
are in strict compliance with the advertising and promotion laws and
regulations enforced in regions where we operate our businesses,
including but not limited to the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests. In developing
a promotion plan, we did not publish any advertisement with false
statement that would bring damage to customers.

Anti-Corruption

The protocols and laws concerned with bribery, privileges,
and political contributions are closely followed by the Group.
For ensuring an ethical behavior and conduct in the business
environment, all the employees are subject to business ethics
training corresponding to their position. We require all employees
to strictly comply with all relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Interim Provisions on Prohibition of Commercial Bribery,
and strive to develop a corporate culture of compliance with laws
and integrity.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware of any matters
concerning material instances of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations regarding bribery, extortion, fraud, or money
laundering in the countries where its employees are engaged. There
are no current or pending regulatory actions or other litigation that is
anticipated to have a material impact on the Group.
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The Group proactively fulfils its corporate social responsibility to the
communities in which it operates and where its employees live. To
perform as a responsible corporate citizen, we inspire employees to
render support to the charitable organizations and also encourage
them to participate in the charitable activities of the Group itself. We
have been active in charitable activities, community culture building,
environmental and health protection education as well as meet the
labour needs.

Festival Care

The Group has had deep roots in the community and provided
services for the community for years. We regard community
engagement as an opportunity to contribute to the humanistic
concern of these local communities.

Every Christmas Day, our employees would dress up as Santa Claus
to give apples and gifts to the surrounding households of property
management community we manage, sending our blessings and
greetings.
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Community Communication

The Group pledges itself to ensure continuous communication
with members of the community where the Group operates. We
pay attention to social issues and events to understand public
expectation of the Group. Our property management company
held the weeklong property service activities to collect the owner’s
need for optimizing our customized service. This year, our property
management company organized a garbage sorting promotion
campaign during October to further implement the work of garbage
sorting. We distributed waste separation pamphlets to the owners,
explained the knowledge of waste separation and played quiz game
with the owners. The owners said that they welcomed this kind of
community interaction. This activity not only promoted the concept
of garbage separation to the community, but also shortened the
distance between the Group and the property owners and the local
community.

B HEkER®mE
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R

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

HERERRE

(IR

‘itERERHWEESDRS]

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPlIs

TEHR - BE - —REBEREREXER

“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ 738 <F 5 08 IR S

Subject Area A. Environmental

FTEHRAIRE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : By

General Information on:

Disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

—MRBEE BHRBERBEREEN - KR LN BERESE
FEEYMEESY
(@) BE &

(b) BTHEITABEAZENERERLROEER

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

RARIE R HEr e MR R R

HEIZA11

KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

RABRAE RN RERBAESNE(UNAE) R(ER)BE(WASES

FEIZA1.2 B - BERBITHE)

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

RASRAE R FEAEEREYRE (UNETE) R(ER)BE (AE

HEIEA1.3 EREN - FERMEAH)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

RASRAE R FEABEEREEYEAE (UNTE) R(ER)BE (1AE

FEIZA1.4 EEB0 - GIEZHETE) -
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2020 ESG Report
“ERORERE - HEREARS

Please refer to Environmental
(page 24-32)

B2 R RER 1(5524-32H)

Please refer to Emissions
(page 24)
E2H R (%248)

Please refer to GHG
Emissions (page 25-26)

F2HBERE IR (525-26K)

Please refer to non-hazardous
waste (page 27-28).

The Group does not produce any
hazardous waste in its operations.
F2HBEEEY ($27-28H)
REEE S ERZ P A E
BERBERY) -

Please refer to non-hazardous
waste (page 27-28).

B2 BERRY |(527-28H)



KPI' A1.5

RABAEE RN
FEIZA1.5
KPI A1.6

RgAE
FEIZA1.6

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEkER®mE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR - EH - —REERBAEBERER

“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ 78 <F 7 48 1R S

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

IR E BT i S AT IS A R By it

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
REAEREEEEVN L  RIEEEENREBRETEX
Reva

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
fEEA2 : ERFIA

General
disclosure

—HER
KPI A2.1

FASEAE R
BIRA2.1

KPI A2.2

FEIZA2.2
KPI A2.3
RASEAE
FEIZA2.3
KPI A2.4

BAsRAERK
HE1RA2.4

KPI A2.5

FRSEAEK
1E1RA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BRERER(BERR - KREMRI BB -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility)
RIBRE S EE R SEEER(INE - Ko EFEE
(ATFRETFREFE) REBE (A SESEN - §IBERET

= <]
It

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)
ERKERTE(WMABESEN - BERBTE) °

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
BEIRIE AR ER At B R PTG A R eyt

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved

SREUER7KR_ERTA AR - A RIRITAKEF 8 R A
BRI

Total packaging material used for finished products

(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced

R MATAREM BB E (CANETE) R(ER ) BEES

ff5& -

2020 ESG Report
“RORERG  HERERRE

Please refer to non-hazardous
waste (page 27-28).
ELHBEREY |(5%27-288)

Please refer to non-hazardous
waste (page 27-28).
B2l EEEEY (5£27-28H)

Please refer to Use of Resources
(page 28-32)
E2HERAA(%28-328)

Please refer to Energy
Consumption (page 30)

A2H RERERE($308)

Please refer to Water Management
(page 31-32)
F2HKERER |(%31-328)

Please refer to Use of Resources
(page 28-32)
F2HERAAI(5E28-32H)

Please refer to Water Management
(page 31-32).

The Group does not have any

issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.

B2 KEREE |($31-328)
AN B SKEVE FZKIR 75 E I
o] fEl 8 o

N/A. No packing materials are used
for the Group.

A o AR R (T
HRE o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IEHE - BH  —REERBEENER

“Comply or explain” Provisions 2020 ESG Report
[ 355 A A R RS —BoRERE  HAREAEE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEAS : RERXAER

General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the Please refer to Environmental
disclosure environment and natural resources. (page 24-32)

—MRIRE BIREITABRERRABEREKERTZENHER FLHBE (5$24-32H)
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Please refer to Environmental

environment and natural resources and the actions takento = (page 24-32)

manage them
RS AE EBERDHRELARARERNEATERCD KN EEAEY HF2HMRKE(5824-328)
FEIRA3A LTI

Subject Area B. Social
TEHEBAE

Employment and Labour Practices
EREREIER

Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : EfE

General Information on: Please refer to Employment
Disclosure (a) the policies; and (page 33-35)
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
—MRIREE a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
B R E - BREREA - TIERS - RE - TE5% E2B BB 1(%33-35H)
2 Zift - RERAREAMGFEREMNR
@ BR &
(b) BFEEITABEARLEAERERLROEER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2 : REHRZE

General Information on: Please refer to Health and Safety
Disclosure (@) the policies; and (page 36-37)

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
—MRARER a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FRARMZ 2 TERBERREREESREBELEEN w2 RREEZ 2 [($36-37H)
@ BR: &

b) BTEHBETABEAZENHBER RPN ER
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR - EH - —REERBAEBERER

“Comply or explain” Provisions

[ 78 <F 7 48 1R S

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : &EREI

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
—MRBEE BRERTEEBRITIERE A HE R HER - #tiE|
EED ©
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T8
General Information on:
disclosure (@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— MR IR BRABIEE TR HISTH -

@@ BUEE: &

(o) BFEEITARE
Operating Practices
EEEH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : HEHEEE

FENRRER KRG ER

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
Disclosure supply chain.
—ARBEE ERHEENRIE I SRR -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EmEB6 : EmEE

General
Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

BHAMEHERMRBHREELZ S -

HIARFEROTER

(@ BE: &k

(o) BFHBEITABEAZENEBERE RO ER

—MRIKE B -

X YGIN &

2020 ESG Report
“RORERG  HERERRE

Please refer to Development and
Training (page 37-38)
E2H B ERIEN (5E37-38E)

Please refer to Labour Standard
(page 40)

A28 TR |(5840H)

Please refer to Supply Chain
Management (page 41-42)
B HEREERE |(£41-42H)

Please refer to Product
Responsibility (page 42-51)

2
9

Bl EmEE(542-518)
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IEHE - BH  —REERBEENER

“Comply or explain” Provisions 2020 ESG Report
[ T8 <F R R T2 RS —ECEERE tERERRS

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : R&ES
General Information on: Please refer to Anti-Corruption
Disclosure (@) the policies; and (page 51)
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— B BB ILRERE - B3R - HGFROEREER) - FLHIRES |(%518)
@ BUR: &
(b) BTFHEEITABEALENERERLRHEER

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : #tEBRE

General Policies on community engagement to understand the Please refer to Community (page
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates andto ~ 52-53)

ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’

interests.

—RIE BRNHR2ERBERETACENCLRBTEMRREE  F2HHEI(5$52-53K)
BREEE Bt RNEARE
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director and the chairman of the Company on 17 February 2014,
He also acts as the chairman of the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wei Chunxian is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. In addition, he is also the president of GR
properties USA Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC (each a US
subsidiary of the Company).

Mr. Wei Chunxian graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1k FiEEE
TH2EP%) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei Chunxian obtained the
senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei Chunxian has more
than 10 years of management experience in the real estate sector.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a shareholder of a company while Mr. Sun
Zhongmin is also the shareholder of that company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 54, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin has been involved in the real estate sector
since 1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for various
formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun Zhongmin is
currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (3,
RESHIERR A R A A)).

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a shareholder of a company while Mr. Wei
Chunxian is also the shareholder of that company.

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only
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Ms. Liu Shuhua (“Ms. Liu”), aged 44, was appointed as an
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company on 17
February 2014. Ms. Liu is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Ms. Liu graduated from the Central University of Finance and
Economics (R R B4 AE) in 1998 and was conferred a Bachelor
of Economics degree in accountancy. Thereafter, Ms. Liu obtained
the intermediate accountant qualification in 2004. Ms. Liu has been
engaged in financial field for more than 10 years, including financial
management work in real estate development enterprises. She is
currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (3,
REISHIZER AR A R).

Ms. Huang Fei (“Ms. Huang”), aged 48, was appointed as
an executive Director on 28 June 2019. Ms. Huang graduated
from East China University of Science and Technology with a
bachelor’s degree in engineering with a specialization in Fine
Chemical Engineering in 1996. Since June 2015, Ms. Huang has
been appointed as director and general manager of Beijing Aocean
Property Management Co., Ltd.* (L FURFAYEEIRGR A A), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. She has also
been a director of Contract Budgeting and Group Vice President of
Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development Company Limited* (3t 3=
B i EHER AR A 7)) (“‘Beiing Guorui”) since February 2009.
She has been engaged in management areas such as budgeting,
bidding and legal contracts. From June 2004 to February 2009,
Ms. Huang was the budget manager of Beijing Zhongrui Jianda
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* Jt R EEMERE A
[R A &]), engaging in financial sales control, budgeting and bidding
management.

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only
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Ms. Li Bing (Former Name: Li Cheng) (“Ms. Li”), aged 49,
was appointed as an executive Director on 28 June 2019. Ms.
Li completed a two-year program in industrial accounting in
Heilongjiang Provincial Industrial Traffic Management Cadre College*
(BERTIE TERIREE®HIEMR) and graduated in 1992. Since
December 2016, Ms. Li has been appointed as the managing
director of Beijing Guorui Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* (3t X[
SR EEIR AR A R]) (“Guorui Hotel Management”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, overseeing all operational
activities of Guorui Hotel Management and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Ms. Li has held the positions of vice president (from
December 2016 to present) and marketing director (from August
2004 to December 2016) respectively in Beijing Guorui and her then
responsibilities included supervising sales and customer relations.
Prior to her employment with Beijing Guorui, Ms. Li worked as a
finance manager in a trading company in Beijing for several years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (“Mr. Tung”), aged 50, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 February
2014. He also acts as the chairman of the Company’s audit
committee and a member of each of the Company’s remuneration
committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada with
a bachelor’s honours degree in administrative studies. Being an
experienced Hong Kong certified public accountant and a U.S.
certified public accountant (practising), he has gathered many years
of experience in the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung is the
assistant president and general manager of the finance department
of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 392), an executive
director, the chief financial officer and company secretary of Beijing
Enterprises Water Group Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 371), an independent
non-executive director of South China Financial Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 619), as well as the company secretary of Biosino Bio-
Technology and Science Incorporation (a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8247).

*

The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only
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Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien (“Ms. To”), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 14 February 2018. She also
acts as a member of each of the Company’s audit committee and
remuneration committee.

Ms. To is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA Practicing) and
Certified Tax Adviser (CTA). She has over 30 years of experience
in finance and accounting field and over 20 years of management
experience in information technology audit, computer system,
finance and administration. Ms. To is the owner of a Hong Kong
accounting firm which provides extensive management and
consultancy services of accounting, audit, company secretary and
taxation for the subsidiaries of listed companies from Europe, China,
Southeast Asia and Hong Kong. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (“Mr. Leung”), aged 38, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and member of
the audit committee and nomination committee and chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company on 9 February 2020. Mr.
Leung has been appointed as the financial controller and company
secretary of AL Group Limited (a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 8360) since September 2019.
Mr. Leung was a chief financial officer and company secretary of
Prosperous Future Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Child
Care Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1259) from June 2017 to May
2019 and from January 2018 to May 2019 respectively.

Mr. Leung holds a bachelor degree of Science in Quantitative
Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2004. He
has been a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant since 2008 and has over 10 years of experience
in accounting and auditing for Hong Kong listed and private
companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards
of corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring that
the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the effective
implementation of an accountability system, so as to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on the principles and code provisions in the CG Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange") (the “Listing Rules") .

The Company will seek to improve its management and raise its
control level to enhance the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to
generate greater returns for the shareholders.

A. BOARD

The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-term
shareholder’s benefit. It assumes the responsibility for
providing effective and responsible leadership and control of
the Company, and directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs in the pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The executive Directors and the management of the
Company are responsible for the day to day operations of the
Company whereas the independent non-executive Directors
are responsible for ensuring a high standard of financial and
management reporting to the Board and shareholders of the
Company as well as to provide a balanced composition in
the Board so that there is a strong independent element on
the Board.
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At present, the Board comprises five executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Mr. Guo Jingsheng (resigned on 9 November 2020)

Ms. Huang Fei
Ms. Li Bing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
(resigned on 9 February 2020)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
(appointed on 9 February 2020)

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out
on pages 59 to 62 of this report. The Board possesses a
balance of skills and experience which are appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The opinions
raised by the independent non-executive Directors in the
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. All independent non-executive
Directors have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. A balanced
composition of executive and independent non-executive
Directors also generates a strong independence element on
the Board, which allows independent and objective decision
making process for the best interests of the Company.
The Company will review the composition of the Board
regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
developmental needs of the business of the Group.

The letters of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, Ms. To Tsz
Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming, entered with
the Company expired on 16 February 2021, 13 February
2021 and 8 February 2021 respectively and their letters of
appointment had been extended for one year commencing
on 17 February 2021, 14 February 2021 and 9 February
2021 respectively.

The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wei Chunxian, Mr. Sun Zhongmin and Ms. Liu Shuhua,
entered with the Company expired on 16 February 2021
respectively and their service agreements had been
extended for one year commencing on 17 February 2021
respectively.

The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Ms. Huang Fei and Ms. Li Bing, entered with the Company
expired on 27 June 2020 respectively and their service
agreements had been extended for one year commencing
on 28 June 2020 respectively.
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In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, representing one-third of the Board. All
independent non-executive Directors are free from
any business or other relationship with the Company.
The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director, who were in the Board during
the Year, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy
and overall strategy for the Group and to provide effective
oversight of the management of the Group’s business and
affairs. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
also approves the strategic plans, key operational issues,
investments and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and compensation
of senior management. These functions are either carried
out directly by the Board or through committees established
by the Board. The Board is also responsible to maintain
effective risk management and internal control systems.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Biographies”,
there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year
to approve the annual and interim results, and to review the
business operation and the internal control system of the
Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings
are also held to approve major issues. At least 14 days’
notice of each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent not
less than three days before the date of Board meetings
to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time to
review the same. Draft minutes of Board meetings and
Board committee meetings are circulated to Directors for
their review and comment. All the said minutes are kept by
the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any director.
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Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive of an issuer
should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 17 February 2014, Mr.
Wei Chunxian and Ms. Liu Shuhua have been appointed as
chairman (the “Chairman”) and CEO respectively. There is a
clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
the CEQ, in that the Chairman provides leadership for the
Board and bears the primary responsibility for the functioning
of the Board, by ensuring its effective operation, while the
CEOQO is authorised and responsible for the management
of the day-to-day business of the Group as well as the
implementation of the strategies approved by the Board.

The procedures and process of appointment and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of
Association (the “Articles”).

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
have entered into service contracts or letters of appointment
(as the case may be) with the Company for a term of one
year, which is terminable by either party by giving no less
than three months’ or one month notice in advance to each
other (as the case may be), subject to retirement from office
by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors for the time being or,
if their number is not a multiple of three, then the nearest
number to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring director shall
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr. Wei
Chunxian, Mr. Sun Zhongmin and Ms. Huang Fei will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

Independence

The Board includes a balanced composition of executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive directors
so that there is a strong element of independence in the
Board. The independent non-executive directors shall be of
sufficient calibre and stature for their views to carry weight.

Gender and age

The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business
dealings and achieving a workplace environment free of
harassment and discrimination on the basis of gender,
physical or mental state, race, nationality, religion, age or
family status. The same principle is applied to the selection
of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.
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Skills and experience

The Board members should possess a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Group, including the independent non-executive directors
possessing professional accounting and other qualifications.
The directors have a mix of finance and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Group with
considerable experience in a range of activities including
banking, investment and the professions.

Measurable Objectives

1. The Company shall comply with the requirements on
board composition under the Listing Rules from time
to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry on which
the business of the Group is.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the Board’s
composition, the Nomination Committee considered that the
requirements of the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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Pursuant to the CG Code which has come into effect
from 1 April 2012, all directors and the company secretary
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant.

Reading materials on relevant topics have been issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses. Newly appointed Director
has received formal and tailored induction and training
on his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
the relevant regulatory requirements.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer
in compliance with the requirements of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the Year:
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Attended
seminars/
Read briefings
materials HEWE
Directors BEE ELES S ENE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian maELE 4
Mr. Sun Zhongmin HHPREAE 4
Ms. Liu Shuhua DU 2+ v
Mr. Guo Jingsheng HREFXER-_FE-FF N/A N/A
(resigned on 9 November 2020) +—ALHEFHTE) T A A
Ms. Huang Fei mIEL L v 4
Ms. Li Bing EF S v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BN TEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric BERESL A 4
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung Bl EYhE(RZFE-FF N/A N/A
(resigned on 9 February 2020) —ANHEEHE) T EA TEA
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien M EELZ+ v v/
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming 2B S (R -FE_FF 4
(appointed on 9 February 2020) ZANHEZAE)

During the Year, all Directors confirmed that they have

complied with the CG Code.

SFCREERTAD ©

F2F 2020 ESIESRAT 69

WAFE  FIEEEHR  REBEE



70

B/RA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BlamE

There were four Board meetings and two general meetings
held during the Year. The attendance of the Directors at the
Board meetings and the general meetings was as follows:

RARFE RO AEFEREZENL

REEAR - EFHEEFRERRE
FEARBERIAT -

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the Directors

EEEHAEE
BITEBRE
Board General
meeting(s) meeting(s)
Directors BEE EERER BRAE
Executive Directors HiTEF
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) AL () 3/4 0/2
Mr. Sun Zhongmin HREE 3/4 1/2
Ms. Liu Shuhua R+ 4/4 1/2
Mr. Guo Jingsheng FRERER_FE-FF 4/4 1/2
(resigned on 9 November 2020) +—ANBEHE)
Ms. Huang Fei HIEX L 3/4 1/2
Ms. Li Bing TR+ 4/4 1/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIENTEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric BERELAE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung BlpEL S (R=_FE=F N/A N/A
(resigned on 9 February 2020) F = HNHFE) TiEA N
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MERELA 4/4 1/2
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming P E(R_FE-FF 4/4 1/2
(appointed on 9 February 2020) ZHNAEZT)
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The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high
standards of corporate governance practice. The Company
stresses the importance of maintaining the quality of the
Board by ensuring that the Directors possess a wide
range of expertise and the effective implementation of
an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
stated in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
Year.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the compliance of the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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The director’s nomination policy of the Company was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 1 January
2019 and the Nomination Committee is responsible for
execution.

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and headhunters.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward director
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider
director candidates properly submitted by shareholders
of the Company through formal procedures set out in the
Company’s Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing director candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation.

All director candidates, including incumbents and candidates
nominated by shareholders of the Company are evaluated
by the Nomination Committee based upon the director’s
qualifications. While director candidates will be evaluated
on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee retains
the discretion to establish the relative weighting of such
criteria, which may vary based on the composition, skill sets,
and experiences of the collective Board rather than on the
individual candidate.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to the recommendation of director candidates by the
Nomination Committee to stand for election at any general
meeting. The Board will take such recommendations under
advisement and is responsible for designating the director
candidates to be elected at the annual general meeting of
the Company and electing directors to fill Board vacancies.
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Procedure for Appointment of New Director

Director candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the director
candidate, evaluate such director candidate based on the
criteria as set out below to determine whether such director
candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable director
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each director candidate (where
applicable).

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder of the
Company for election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
director candidate based on the criteria as set out below
to determine whether such director candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation
to shareholders of the Company in respect of the proposed
election of Director at the general meeting (where applicable).

A director candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her
candidature at any time before the general meeting by
serving a notice in writing to the company secretary of the
Company.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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Procedure for Re-appointment of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Directors including their attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and determine
whether the retiring Directors continue to meet the criteria as
set out below.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to the shareholders of the Company
in respect of the proposed re-election of Directors at the
general meeting.

Director Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new
Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

(@ the highest personal and professional ethics and
integrity;

(b) proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment;

(c) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are
complementary to those of the existing Board;

(d) the ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
SUCCESS;

(e) the contribution on diversity of the Board and any
measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination
Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;
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® an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities
that is required of a member of the Board and
the commitment of time and energy necessary to
diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

(9 meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is
in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable).

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum
criteria for director candidate, although the Nomination
Committee may also consider such other factors as it may
deem to be in the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its directors and
officers.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As part of good corporate governance, the Board has set
up an audit committee, a nomination committee and a
remuneration committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. All the Board committees should report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The Board set up the audit committee in July 1999 with
specific written terms of reference (which have been revised
subsequently to cope with changes) (the “Audit Committee”)
which clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Audit
Committee’s role is to review the Group’s financial reporting,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Audit Committee have been and are:

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman)
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
(resigned on 9 February 2020)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
(appointed on 9 February 2020)

The corporate governance functions per formed during the
Year included the following:

@

(€)

to develop and review an issuer’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following tasks during the Year:

(i)

reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

reviewed the draft interim and annual financial
statements and the related draft results
announcements;

reviewed the change in accounting standards and
assessed the potential impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements;
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(iv) discussed with the management the relevant issues
including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions and ensured
that the management has discharged its duty to
have an effective internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget; and

(V) made recommendation on the appointment or
reappointment of the external auditor and approved
their terms of engagement.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and
has no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the
companies adopted by the Group and on the Group’s
internal controls and risk management, accounting and
financial reporting functions.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth
experience in their profession. All of them possess
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year
under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

ESERLE

Directors 2= BITEBRH™
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman) &R 5 & (/&) 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung GEELEE(R_EFF N/A
(resigned on 9 February 2020) :ﬁ/L HEHT) ANiE A
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MHEELZL 2/2
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming DS (R —F — 4 2/2

(appointed on 9 February 2020) ZANHEZAE)
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The Board set up the nomination committee in March 2007
with specific written terms of reference (which have been
revised subsequently to cope with changes) (the “Nomination
Committee”) which clearly deal with its authority and duties.
The Nomination Committee’s roles are principally to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular
basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding
any proposed changes; identify individuals suit ably qualified
to become Board members and make recommendations to
the Board in this regard; and assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

In respect of code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code, the
Nomination Committee is chaired by the chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Nomination Committee have been and are:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
(resigned on 9 February 2020)
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
(appointed on 9 February 2020)

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during
the Year included the following:

i) to review the structure, size and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

ii) to assess on the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

if) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors and to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members.
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The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

REELAHmE

REBEFERNERTMAREEZEES
& o ERKBMHEERNT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EEAHRLE
Members of Nomination Committee EEZZE5SKE BOEBRE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) BRI E(FE) 1/2
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERESLE 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung BSEE A (R _FE_FF N/A
(resigned on 9 February 2020) — AN ABHT) @A
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming PSS (R = FE = F4F 2/2
(appointed on 9 February 2020) ZHNHEZF)

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in May
2005 with specific written terms of reference (which have
been revised subsequently to cope with changes) (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which clearly deals with its
authority and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role is
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management
and to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of shareholders. The principal duties
of the Remuneration Committee include determining the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management with reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time. No
Director or any of his/her associates may be involved in any
decisions as to his/her own remuneration.

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the
Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and comprising a majority of independent
non-executive Directors.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Remuneration Committee have been and
are:

Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman)
(resigned on 9 February 2020)
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
(appointed as Chairman on 9 February 2020)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year included the following:
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() reviewed and recommended the remuneration () W RER BN IFITE SN
package of the independent non-executive Directors; s 0 &
and
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(ii) reviewed and recommended the remuneration (ii)
package for the executive Directors and management
of the Company.

REBFERNGRIT-AFHEZESS
& o HERMHERRINT

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as

follows:

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors
Members of EETHREE
Remuneration Committee FHNEEERE BITEERE
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman) BB Lt (E) N/A
(resigned on 9 February 2020) (R—E—FFE = [/ HEHT) E A
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (appointed B4 (R - F - FF 11

as Chairman on 9 February 2020) ZANAEZEEEE)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERESEE 11
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MEELZT 1/1
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION
AND REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. A statement by the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 131 to 139 of this report.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems, in order to
safeguard the interest of the Company and shareholders as
a whole. However, the risk management and internal control
systems were designed to manage rather than eliminate all
risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide an absolute
shield against inherent limitations such as unpredictable risks,
uncontrollable events such as natural catastrophes, fraud,
and errors of judgement, but it may provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatements or
losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk Management
framework in order to implement effective risk management.
Our risk management structure is simple and clear, which
has categorical duties.
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Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is
responsible for establishing the risk management framework
and risk management policies, and the relevant policies
are aiming to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The Board,
with assistance from the Audit Committee, monitors risk
management and internal control systems in an on-going
manner and reviews, at least annually, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the risk
management and internal control systems below the Board.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
providing advice and support in respect of all risk matters,
including on-going monitoring of the implementation of
risk management procedures, reviewing the Group’s risk
register, reviewing and approving the internal control review
plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for identifying
and on-going monitoring strategic, operational, financial,
reporting and compliance risks associated with the daily
operations of the Group. The management reports to the
Board and Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulates various internal
control measures to mitigate the risks, and rectify internal
control deficiencies they identified in a timely manner.
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Independent Professional Internal Control Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control review,
the Group has outsourced the internal audit function to an
independent professional internal control advisor (the “Internal
Control Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management procedures
and effectiveness of the internal control systems. The Internal
Control Advisor formulates the internal control review plan
based on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit Committee
about the review results directly.

The Group has established the Enterprise Risk Management
framework so as to effectively manage all kinds of risks faced
by the Group. The Enterprise Risk Management framework
defined the procedures for identifying, assessing, responding
to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function, the Group
strengthened the understanding of risk management so that
all employees will understand and report the risks timely
which enhanced the Group’s ability to identify and manage
risks.
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In the course of risk identification, the management liaises
with each operating function, collect significant risk factors
that affect the Group from the bottom to the top, in various
aspects including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk assessment
scope, the management will assess the potential impact and
possibilities of the risks and prioritise the risks, and make
appropriate internal control measures are then developed to
mitigate the risks identified and monitor the changes of risks
in an on-going manner.

Maintain an effective internal control system

(operational level)

o Establish clear internal control policies and
procedures, clearly define the responsibilities,
authorities and accountabilities of each key position;

° Establish code of conduct, convey to all employee

the Group’s requirements on integrity and ethic;

o Establish whistle blowing mechanism, encourage
employees to report incidents of misconduct or fraud;

° Establish appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoid leakage of price sensitive
information;

° Establish inside information disclosure policy,

including reporting channels and responsible person
of disclosure, unified response to external enquiries
and obtain advice from professional financial advisors
or the Stock Exchange, if necessary.
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In 2020, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of internal
control policies and procedures, including those related to
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance and the
management also conveyed confirmation of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems
to the Board and the Audit Committee. The Board has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
during the evaluation of the review of risk management and
internal control systems.

On-going risk monitoring (risk management level)
Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board, the
management communicates with each operating function,
collect significant risk factors that affect the Group from the
bottom to the top. The Group has established a risk register
to record the risks identified, the management will assess
the potential impact and possibilities of each major risk and
develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2020, the management conducted evaluation of risk
management structure and procedures and submitted a
risk assessment report to the Board and Audit Committee,
including a 3-years internal control review plan, to enable
the Board and Audit Committee to effectively monitor the
major business risks of the Group and know about how the
management responses to and mitigates such risks.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoiding leakage of price sensitive information.
We also establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible person of
disclosure, unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules requirements regarding handling and
dissemination of inside information.
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Independent review
The Group has outsourced the Internal Control Advisor
to conduct an internal control review, reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and submitted the internal review report to
the Audit Committee.

In 2020, the Internal Control Advisor has completed the
internal control review work during the Year. The review
aimed at the transaction incurred during the period from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, and the scope of
the review included the effectiveness of the internal control
measures in corporate level and operational level. The
Internal Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses identified.
Nothing has come to the Audit Committee’s or Board’s
attention to believe that risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are inadequate or ineffective.
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The following are the principal risks and uncertainties faced UTEBEAEAEBENEZR &K EE
by the Group and their changes during the Year: 1 URERAFENESER
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[ B b TEERERER 25
Economic Affected by economic downturn, the number — Regularly analyse overall Decreasing
downturn of people who are able to purchase or rent the economic changes, adjust N
KETIT property decreased. We may need to lower selling business strategies, and
price or rental rate or may even not be able to sell communicate quickly with
or lease. We might also be unable to increase our managers in business areas
property management/other additional service fee through video conferencing
due to the overall worse economic conditions. to implement recommended
FIEETOMYE  BRNBELARMENA  improvements
B BPKFETHEEIAE  EEREE — TH/WMARLEEE  FEE
SR - FAIRERRBCEREMENRSY BERE - WRAREEHERRE
TR/ HMBINREHER - EEBREEEABBBHEER
2T
— Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects
— WEHOYEREBRRETR
BT BEEMCERDED
BHIR
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our staff — Be close to the pay market No change
Resources  might affect our ability to provide quality service dynamics, control the wastage 30
ATER to meet our customers’ demands. In addition, rate

labour costs in mainland China are expected to BRLHENTIRENRE - TRk R
increase which might also decrease our profits or

competitiveness. — Recruitment planning every year,
BETABTEHENT R EZERMEHREL timely replenishment of staff
REAR R PHLMEES - BHh - REIRkER turnover
BEORATERIE IR HIBHMNNEN — SFETHERE  REHRR
HHEFN © KAF

— Provide adequate training for
staff to improve staff service
standards
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RIS K%
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
LB it TERRERER 25
Brand If we fail to maintain our service level in customer — Dalily self-examination to maintain  Decreasing
Name service, engineering, cleaning or security, and enhance the quality of service J&
Ry customers may lose confidence which will and engineering

have a very negative impact on our Company’s — BE#TREEEEEHZRIE

reputation and image. FHRBEF TRREE KT

SEEREEFREKT  EEPRE - TI2E
2 BRMREIEPHREAME - FEFX — Investigate customers’

KEF HRARBEERKKENGABENE satisfaction, monitor the latest
o ratings for each project, follow up

timely on customers’ complaints

- REEFWEE  ERREEH
B REREFPHIEE
EITIRE

— Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with
problems

— THEIIET ®mREIBTH
e BE ]

Outsourcing  Failure by service providers and contractors to

Conduct strict assessment and No change

EIN) proceed projects to their completion on time and follow due tender procedures gL
on the unsatisfactory quality of the work may in selecting outsourcing service
incur extra cost to the Group in order to complete providers.
the work. — HEEEIBRBHEERIETR

PRI HIER AR A R ST TIFHT ERRHE BRI

EmERNER - AR @R 2T P ARMREN

MERE - SR MFEZEIMNEINKEUATE Our project manager and legal

BI{E- staff would review the terms of an
outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of each
party therein are clearly defined
and stated.

— BHBKLRMEBABREINEE

AR - HERE 7 B 63U
R o

— Evaluate and update performance
by outsourcing service providers
on regular basis to ensure their
service standards meet the
Group's requirements.

— THRENBRGHERRR
RERBKTERERBER -
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DEERRE
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[0S i TERREREE 25
Natural Inappropriate handling of emergency situations ~ — Put in place various contingency ~ No change
disasters triggered by natural disasters (e.g. fire, electric plans and strategies and with EEL
BRKE shock, traffic accident etc.) or epidemic outbreaks designated persons-in-charge
may lead to substantial/numerous claims and to deal with specific risks, and
liabilities against the Group and damage to our conduct of regular disaster drills.
reputation, in addition to human casualties and  — HIESEZ2EHTEER LR -
direct losses on assets. RIVEREHEEA - WA
FREETERBERMNERNBALEImA 1T SOERR -
KBE - RBEINE)REAREEEN K
A A BB T REREEREALSIN - JFAlgE2  — Periodic checks on equipment
REBEMYAE, SHERE LESE UEKE for emergency and regular
BEEREL - inspections would be conducted
so that any source of severe
hazards could be identified as
early as possible.
— TEHRERKERE  ARETH
BUE - RREREAERIR
— Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.
— BEE=EETREBIASEHE
% EEREHRIEE E AR o
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in place appropriate — Put in place various work safety ~ No change
healthand  emergency equipment, formulate and oversee procedures, strictly observe mE
safety the implementation of various safety procedures and implement precautionary
BEEG2EREE  that result in injuries of our employees in work measures for all duties and
ZE may incur liability to the Group against any procedures that are hazardous in

compensation, give adverse effect to our
reputation and cause an outflow of talents.
SEERERESE ERE T EERE
LEEFHHT  SIBREIETERRS &5
AR EA LRERM  AARNEEEKAR
& AREIRATRE

nature. Designated persons would
be appointed to oversee the
implementation of such measures.
HERETIERT - REHITE
BB ERIEE TIER RS AR
Pragtait - WiEREE ABRE
HITIER ©

Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational
safety.

REZ 2 - ERE THRE
RENEH

Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.
THREL2RME  ERREE
A

FR 2020 ElHERRAQ A
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DRELGHS
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
o it TERBEEER 25
Interest rate  The Group holds borrowings on floating interest.  —  Closely monitor the interest rate, ~ No change
F= This may increase the cost and have an effect on and report to the management mE
profits due to the increase in interest rates. timely on the interest rate changes
KEFFNFBNEAENER - AR EgxH — BYEENERRL - RERER
K IR EMIE KA - FEEM o BERKHNEEL
— Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk
— HIEEHBOREY KRS
B = B
Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilities — Actively monitor the fluctuation No change
exchange denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, in foreign exchange rate change, &t
rate US dollars and GBP. Foreign exchange rate consider all necessary actions
fEE & fluctuations may bring exchange losses to the (such as reduce loan/investment,
Company. hedging).

KEFANET - AR® - ITRREFECE — HSEEREXER - YHEHE
ENAE - NEEXKEHERBARAFRER EEBK(RIMER,/RE - Z
BX - BEHE) o

— Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure
— TEHETEREST  EtEH

[y

Relevant Changes in politics, policies and regulations — Actively monitor changes of laws ~ No change
politics, on real estate might increase our operating and regulations associated with &£,
policies and  expenses. If we breach relevant regulatory and the business of the Group.
regulations  governing requirements, such as lack of ability ~ — TEMRESR EAEEEKIAERE
onreal to adjust the operational procedures timely, EEREH o
estate the Group may incur losses due to penalty,
B REMER suspension or interruption of operation — Consult legal staff or legal
BEEE - SEHK FRREEEREENeENEEE advisors to ensure the Group’s
Bk R AR EFY c AEBERBEEERLEEER(BE compliance with policy, regulatory

R REAGEEEFEB) Mg As and governing requirements.

EEZ I - ek & Em ol EEx — REBABIOESE R HERA

EEFARE  AEREE(RE
MRR)Esk o
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Ms. Lam Yuen
Ling Eva, is delegated by an external service provider.
The external service provider’s primary contact person at
the Company is Ms. Lee Sum Yee, a director of human
resources and administration of the Company.

During the Year, the company secretary of the Company has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young. The
remuneration paid/payable to Ernst & Young in respect
of audit services and permissible audit related and non-
audit services for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$2,050,000 and HK$491,000 respectively. The
permissible audit related and non-audit services of
HK$421,000 comprised (i) agree-upon procedures on
interim financial information of approximately HK$400,000;
and (i) other and tax services of approximately HK$21,000.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general meeting
of shareholders of the Company can be convened by a
written request signed by shareholders holding at least
5% of the total rights of all the shareholders having a right
to vote at that meeting, stating the nature of the business
to be dealt with at that meeting, and deposited at the
Company’s registered office. The rights of shareholders
and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at
shareholders’ meetings are contained in the Company’s
constitutional documents. Details of such rights to demand
a poll and the poll procedures are included in all related
circulars to shareholders and will be explained during the
proceedings of meetings.

REELAHmE
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1% EUE R MR BRI B 18 ()P 7%
&R 15 E 72 7 49400,0008 7T ¢ K (i)
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p1og 3

RS

B/RA

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange on the same day of the
shareholders’ meeting.

The general meeting of the Company provides a forum
for communication between the shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman, as well as the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, normally attend the annual general
meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings to
answer shareholders’ queries at the shareholders’ meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings
on each substantial issue, including election of individual
directors.

The Company continues to enhance communication and
relations with its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt
with in an informative and timely manner.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the Company’s shareholders’
interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable
dividend policy.

The declaration and recommendation of dividends is subject
to the decision of the Board after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among
other things:

° the Group’s financial results;

° the Group’s cash flow, liquidity and capital
requirements;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;
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° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

o the Group’s shareholders’ interests;

° the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;
. the general market conditions;

° the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
° any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form to pay, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board
may also consider declaring special dividends from time to
time, in addition to the interim and/or final dividends. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

The Company shall review and reassess the Dividend Policy
and its effectiveness from time to time. Any revisions to the
Dividend Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, the Company had not amended its
constitutional document.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFRNEE

The Board hereby present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the property development and
investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision of
property management services in Beijing and Hebei Province, the
PRC. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the Year
is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-economic
conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
divergence of monetary policies in major advanced economies of
global nations is expected to continue to contribute partly to the
volatility of fund and trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong
Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities and
real estate prices is also affected by political and economic
developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
long term business and profitability growth of the Group is expected
to continue to be affected by the changes in macro-economic
variables, including unemployment rates, real gross domestic
product growth, consumer and asset price indexes and credit
demand, and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The Group’s profit for the Year and the Group’s financial position
as at 31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 140 to 143.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the

Year (2019: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2019:
Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year has been stated in
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 7 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 8 to 17.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are set
out in Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 18 to
58.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its employees,
customers and suppliers is contained in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report on pages 18 to 58.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year and
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out on pages 271 to 272. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance. The Group has been
allocating system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance
with rules and regulations and to maintain strong working
relationships with regulators through effective communications.
During the Year, the Board is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Group.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 17 August 2018, the Company completed the first completion
with the acquisition of 95% of the share capital of Wise Expert
Investment Limited, at a consideration of HK$1,464,254,000,
from Winluck Global Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei
Chunxian) and Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was paid as to HK$361,260,800
by the allotment and issue of 451,576,000 consideration shares
at the issue price of HK$0.80 per consideration share and the
remaining HK$1,102,993,200 by the issue of convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$1,102,993,200 convertible into
1,378,741,500 shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.80
per convertible share. By way of a summary, the conversion rights
underlying the convertible bonds may be exercised provided that
any such conversion (i) does not trigger general offer obligations
under the Takeovers Code on the part of the bondholder or parties
acting in concert with it; (i) does not result in the public float of
the Shares being less than 25% or such other percentages as
the Listing Rules may prescribe, and that the relevant bondholder
complies with the procedures set out in the conditions to the
convertible bonds. Based on the market price of the Company’s
shares of HK$0.82 as at 17 August 2018, the share capital of the
Company was increased by HK$370,292,320 as a result of the
issuance of 451,576,000 consideration shares.

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018 and 17 August 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 19 July 2018.

On 3 September 2018, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based
on the market price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.80 as at 3
September 2018, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
shares.
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For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 3 September 2018.

On 7 May 2019, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based on
the closing market price of the Company’s shares of HK$1.41 as
at 6 May 2019, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
ordinary shares.

For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 7 May 2019.

After the exercise of conversion rights of the convertible bonds
on 3 September 2018 and 7 May 2019, the remaining principal
amount of convertible bonds is HK$1,090,993,200, a maximum
of 1,3683,741,500 new ordinary shares will be issued upon
full conversion of the convertible bonds. Upon full exercise of
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds, the
shareholdings of Mr. Wei Chunxian, the substantial shareholder
of the Company, will be changed from approximately 70.21% to
76.72% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
enlarged by the issue of the shares of the Company upon the fulll
conversion of all the convertible bonds.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “ SHARE OPTIONS” and
“SHARE CAPITAL” of this report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
Year.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash distribution/or
distribution in specie as at 31 December 2020 in accordance with
the provisions of section 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity of the Group on pages 144 to 145 of this report
and in notes 33 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, less than 20%
of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers, and less than 20% of the Group’s purchases were
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has related party transactions with
related companies (as disclosed in the note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements), including Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (16 B # F AR ZE AR A R]) and 1t
mEEE X AR AT, which are controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors. These related
companies are top 5 customers of the Group.

Except as disclosed per above, none of the Directors, or any of their
close associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s top five customers
and suppliers.

* For identification purpose only
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group
did not make any charitable donations.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)
Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin
Mr. Guo Jingsheng
(resigned on 9 November 2020)
Ms. Huang Fei
Ms. Li Bing

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
(resigned on 9 February 2020)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
(appointed on 9 February 2020)

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr. Wei
Chunxian, Mr. Sun Zhongmin and Ms. Huang Fei will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from all independent non-executive Directors
and as at the date of this report all of them are considered to be
independent.
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BOARD CHANGES AND CHANGES IN
DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Subsequent to the date of the interim report of the Company for the
six months ended 30 June 2020, there has no change in information
of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 59 to
62 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group as well as the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee.

Further details of the Company’s Remuneration Committee are set
out in the corporate governance report on pages 79 to 80 of this
report.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Other than the directors named under the paragraph headed
“DIRECTORS” above, the persons who have served on the boards
of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and up
to the date of this report included Mr. Chen Gang.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the
Group is on the basis of their merit, qualification, competence and
experience in the industry, the profitability of the Group as well
as remuneration benchmarks from other local and international
companies and prevailing market conditions, executive Directors
and employees also participate in bonus arrangements which are
determined in accordance with the performance of the Group and
the individual’s performance.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 137 of the Articles provides that every director, executive
director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liabilities incurred by him as such director, executive director,
manager, secretary, officer and auditor in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to the extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance. The Company has also maintained directors
and officers liability insurance during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and significant
related party transactions are disclosed in this report and in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the above, no
Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) (a) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:

EFRERITHA RN B
Rz RRE

R-ZZE_ZEF+_RA=+—8 BEFEKARA
R TBABARBEEZBHBEALRARFR
HigkxE (EERES MGG ESFR
HIE GO D EXVED) 2 i HE : (@RIEE
7 LB GHIEXVERET R E8D FIAME AR
A MR P 2 s OR B (BRRIERE 75 M
BIGRH 2 X FHRREF AR NERE 2
FORA) ¢ (o) IRIEE T M B 155 F352{5F A
FRR ARG P &M 2w KRR+ (o)
RIBEETRUAFERETRIZANGARE R
B P sk MORRIAE

Approximate

percentage
Number of Number of of the total
ordinary underlying number of
Name of Directors = Capacity shares held shares held issued shares
HEBT
KA R 2
EEpnE 54 REEBRRHE RFEE BMAED T
(%)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 136,752,350 (L) 109,086,735 (L) 7.68%
BMREE BEREEA
(Note 4)
(Hfzta)
Interest of controlled corporation 8,669,925 (L) 0.27%
RIEEE
(Note 3)
(K1:#3)
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 2,246,160,464 (L) 1,342,317,340 (L) 112.16%
Bug st SSTNEP
(Notes 1 and 2)
(HisE12)
Ms. Liu Shuhua Beneficial owner 5,020,500 (L) 0.16%
FREL+ BEnEAA
(Note 5)
(Hfzts)

102 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

denotes long position

Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares
and 1,254,654,765 underlying shares of aggregate principal amount
of convertible bonds of HK$1,003,723,812 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018.
Wintime Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Winluck
Global Limited. Apart from the shares and underlying shares held by
Wintime Company Limited, Winluck Global Limited is also interested
in 87,662,575 underlying shares of aggregate principal amount of
convertible bonds of HK$70,130,060 to be issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share pursuant to the payment
schedule under the agreement entered on 30 May 2018. The
entire issued share capital of Winluck Global Limited is beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Winluck Global Limited is deemed to
be interested in the shares and underlying shares held by Wintime
Company Limited, and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be interested
in the shares and underlying shares held by Wintime Company
Limited and Winluck Global Limited under the SFO.

811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (1t RE$iEHEMZEFR A ) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by an independent third party. Beijing Guorui Real
Estate Development Co. Limited* (1t REI$EHEFIZ AR A R) is
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited* (4 5§12
f%&BR A &), which is directly owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr.
Sun Zhongmin as to approximately 91% and 9%, respectively. Each
of Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development Co. Limited* (1t R 7 5=
1 BA#E A R A 7)), Beijing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited* (1t 7B $%
R B BR A 7)), and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
under the SFO.

Silky Apex Limited is interested in 8,669,925 underlying shares
pursuant to convertible bonds in the principle amount of
HK$6,935,940 to be issued by the Company at conversion price
of HK$0.80 per share pursuant to the payment schedule under the
agreement entered into on 30 May 2018. Silky Apex Limited is 100%
owned by Mr. Sun Zhongmin and Mr. Sun Zhongmin is deemed to
be interested in the underlying shares held by Silky Apex under the
SFO.
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Note 4: Mr. Sun Zhongmin is interested in 109,086,735 underlying
shares pursuant to convertible bonds in the principle amount of
HK$87,269,388 issued by the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018.

Note 5: These shares represent the share options granted by the Company
under the share option scheme of the Company on 20 June 2018.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 December 2020,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:
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LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY:
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RELTFRRGRAHARRIGZIFE -

Total interests
as percentage

Number of Number of of the total
ordinary shares underlying number of
Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares
BREE
BENE HEBRTRG
£ g BREERBREA BGEA BY AL
Wintime Company Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,434,421,537 - 44.83%
Wintime Company Limited (4/7#7) EaBEBA
Beneficial owner - 1,254,654,765 39.22%
ERlEBEA
Winluck Global Limited (Note 1) Interest in Controlled Corporation 1,434,421,537 — 44.83%
Winluck Global Limited (#7:#7) XEFE R
Interest in Controlled Corporation — 1,254,654,765 39.22%
RiEEE ER
Beneficial owner — 87,662,575 2.74%
EREEA
Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Beneficial owner 811,738,927 (L) - 25.37%
Limited (Note 2)
BHERERE(BE)BRARMZ2) ERBAA
Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 () - 25.37%
Co., Ltd* (Note 2)
b REHEEREER AR (72 REEEzER
Beijing Guorui Holdings Co., Ltd* (Note 2)  Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 () — 25.37%

EREFERBRAR (M iE2)

RErE B
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares
and 1,254,654,765 underlying shares pursuant to convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$1,003,723,812 issued by the
Company at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August
2018. Wintime Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Winluck Global Limited. Apart from the shares and underlying shares
held by Wintime Company Limited, Winluck Global Limited is also
interested in 87,662,575 underlying shares pursuant to convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$70,130,060 to be issued by
the Company at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share pursuant
to the payment schedule under the agreement entered on 30 May
2018. The entire issued share capital of Winluck Global Limited is
beneficially owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Winluck Global Limited is
deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying shares held
by Wintime Company Limited, and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to
be interested in the shares and underlying shares held by Wintime
Company Limited and Winluck Global Limited under the SFO.

811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (dt R EMEFZE AR A &F)) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by an independent third party. Beijing Guorui Real
Estate Development Co. Limited* (1t RE Bt EFZE AR A R) is
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited* (1t 7 B $5 1%
AR A F]) which is directly owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr.
Sun Zhongmin as to approximately 91% and 9%, respectively. Each
of Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development Co. Limited* (1t 5B §%
B ERFIZE A R A 7)), Beiing Guorui Holdings Co. Limited* (1t 5[
$HIEIE AR A7), and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be interested
in the shares held by Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
under the SFO.
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The English names of Chinese entities marked with “*” are
translations of their Chinese names and are included for identification
purpose only, and should not be regarded as their official English
name. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any
other person (other than the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTIONS

On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), pursuant to which
the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any person,
who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or the Group. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to (i) incentivise and reward those who have
contributed or may contribute to the development of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company thereby linking their interest with that of the Group.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board in the relevant offer
letter to a grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (the “Option(s)”) must be held before it can be exercised and
no performance target which needs to be achieved by a grantee
before the options can be exercised. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board will have absolute discretion in determining the
subscription price (subject to the Listing Rules) in respect of any
Option. The Board is of the view that the flexibility given to the Board
will place the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
Participants and retain human resources that are valuable to the
growth and development of the Group as a whole.
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The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and notified to the Participant in the offer
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of a share as
stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer of the grant; and (i) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant. The consideration payable for
acceptance of the option by each participant is HK$1.00 which shall
be received by the Company within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the participant does not accept such grant of
option pursuant to the procedures specified in the respective offer
letter or notice within the stipulated time frame, such option shall be
regarded as unaccepted and lapsed.

Following the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting dated
28 June 2019, and based on the 3,199,373,986 shares in issue at
the same date, the maximum number of shares to be issued upon
the exercise of options that may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme are 319,937,398 shares, being approximately 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit. Pursuant to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules, the total number
of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
scheme mandate limit. The Board shall not grant any options which
would result in the maximum aggregate number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
but yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes adopted by the Company exceeding,
in aggregate, 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to each Participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue (the
“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to a Participant which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted to such Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month
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period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting with such Participant and his close associates (or
his associates if such Participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the
date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.
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Number of Options
BREZAE
Outstanding Outstanding Exercise
at at price per
Nature of 1 January Cancelled/ 31 December share
Name(s) interest 2020  Granted Exercised Lapsed 2020 Date of grant  Exercise period (HK$)
RZB-BE RIBZEE
-A-H Bi#/ t=A=t-8 BRITEE
#A BRME HATHRE BRI [EEix:d BA¥ HATE REAH T (#7)
Director(s)
Bz
Liu Shuhua Personal 5,020,500 - - - 5,020,500 20 June 2018 20 June 2018 to 0.827
19 June 2023
2z fEA RZZ-)\§ —Z-N\E
~NAZtHH NAZTHE
I
~ATRA
Note: All of the Options granted have no vesting period or vesting #it - FIEEREMNBERET EEEHNEEK

condition.

On 20 June 2018, the Company granted 5,000,000 Options to Ms.
Liu Shuhua, an executive Director and the chief executive officer
of the Company under the Share Option Scheme, with exercise
price of HK$0.83. Following the completion of the open offer, the
exercise price and the number of shares to be allotted and issued
upon exercise in full of the subscription rights attaching to the
outstanding Options were adjusted to HK$0.827 and 5,020,500
shares respectively, with effect from 24 July 2018.

o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group entered into certain transactions which
constituted connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the
details of which are set out below.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions undertaken
by the Group were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms
or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that nothing has
come to the auditor’s attention that causes it to believe that the
continuing connected transactions (a) have not been approved
by the Board; (b) were not, in all material aspects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group; (c) were not entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions, in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
insofar as they are applicable.
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(1)

Heat supply and property management services
provided by AOCEAN Property Management to
Beijing Guorui Group

During the Year, Jt FURFEYEEE BR A7 (Beiing
AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited*
or “AOCEAN Property Management”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, provided heat
supply and maintenance and property management
services to a total of 1,893 property units of Beijing
Guorui Group (Note 1) with a total floor area of
approximately 205,196 square metres.

The 2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement, the
2018 New Property Management Agreement and
the 2018 Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management
Agreement all entered into between AOCEAN
Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property
(Note 1) on 20 October 2017 (with details set out
below) have expired on 31 December 2020.

In order to continue the provision of services by
AOCEAN Property Management to Beijing Gruorui
Group, on 2 November 2020, AOCEAN Property
Management and Beijing Guorui Property (for itself
and for and on behalf of Beijing Guorui Group)
entered into the 2021 New Heat Supply Services
Agreement and the 2021 New Property Management
Agreement (with details set out below). Such
agreements have been approved by independent
shareholders of the Company on 23 December 2020
and became effective on 1 January 2021.
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2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature of
Transactions:

Fees:

20 October 2017

(i)  AOCEAN Property Management

(i) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for
and on behalf of the Beijing Guorui Group)
(Note 1)

From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive)

AOCEAN Property Management shall provide
heat supply services to the members of
Beijing Guorui Group. AOCEAN Property
Management’s responsibilities include (i)
overseeing the daily operation and provision
of repair and maintenance services of the
heat exchange station and facilities and the
pipeline network located in the property
projects developed by Beijing Guorui Group,
namely Fortune Street Phase One* (Bt —
i), Fortune Street Phase Two* (Bt — i)
and Rui City International Building* (&3 BIFX
AJE) in Chaoyang District, Beijing, Kingdom
Guorui* (B1§f{e4 78) in Daxing District, Beijing,
and North Garden* (Jt7EE) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing; and (ii) ensuring that
the heat supply complies with governmental
guidelines and standards, etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges the
individual owners/tenants of the property units
directly for those units which are occupied. The
relevant members of the Beijing Guorui Group
will be responsible for the fees of the vacant
units or units occupied by Beijing Guorui Group
within the aforesaid property projects

Residential properties: RMB18 to RMB30
per square meter per heat supply season
depending on the property project, payable on
annual basis

Commercial properties: RMB25.2 to RMB50.4
per square meter per heat supply season
depending on the property project, payable on
annual basis
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Transaction RMB4,928,000 (equivalent to approximately
amount during  HK$5,540,731)
the Year:

Annual cap: For the three years ended 31 December 2020

are RMB8,596,000, RMB9,456,000 and
RMB10,401,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 20 October 2017 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2017.

The 2018 New Heat Supply Services Agreement has
expired on 31 December 2020.

2018 New Property Management Agreement
Date: 20 October 2017

Parties: (1)  AOCEAN Property Management

(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for

and on behalf of the Beijing Guorui Group)
(Note 1)

Term: From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive)

Fortune Street Phase One* (81 —Hi),
Fortune Strest Phase Two* (8147 —Hf), Rui
City International Building* (%ﬁi&ﬂ%ﬁf),
GOLDEN TOWER" (& &% AJH) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing, and Kingdom Guorui* (Bl e
£78), Fairyland (I3 R) in Miyun, Beiing at
Daxing District, Beijing, and North Garden™ (it
7t at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing

Premises:

Nature of
Transactions:

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible
for (i) safekeeping of the keys of the vacant
units; (i) carrying out monthly inspections of the
vacant units and keeping records accordingly;
(iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the vacant
units; and (iv) inspecting the vacant units during
bad weather conditions; (v) providing security
services; and (vi) maintaining and managing
facilities and assets for public use, etc.
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Moreover, for particular property units,
AOCEAN Property Management will also
provide initial clean up services after completion
of their construction (the “Initial Clean Up
Services”).

Fees: The management fee ranges from RMB1.25
to RMB32.0 per square meter per month for
different types of commercial and residential
property units, payable on a quarterly basis

For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN
Property Management charges a fee calculated
based on its actually incurred disbursement
plus a margin of 10%.

Transaction RMB31,643,000 (equivalent to approximately
amount during HK$35,577,385)
the Year:

Annual cap: For the three years ended 31 December 2020
are RMB54,620,000, RMB60,083,000 and
RMB66,091,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 20 October 2017 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2017.

The 2018 New Property Management Agreement has
expired on 31 December 2020.
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2018 Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management

Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premises:

Nature of

Transactions:

Fees:

20 October 2017

(1) AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1)

From 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive)

Kingdom Guorui* (Blife& &) — sales office
and ancillary areas at Beijing Economic and
Technological Development Area, Daxing
District, Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible
for (ijwelcoming and arranging customers to
visit the show flats; (i) coordinating services
related to sales activities; (i) the security,
hygiene and concierge services of the property;
(iv) the daily operation, management and
maintenance of the common parts including the
restaurants, bars and other amenities facilities
and common facilities; (v) maintenance of the
hygiene and security of the common parts of
the property; (vi) refuse collection and disposal;
(vii) maintenance and management of the
greenery of the property, and so on.

Beijing Guorui Property shall bear the
following expenses, disbursements, costs and
fees, which are paid by AOCEAN Property
Management in advance and settled between
the parties quarterly:

() the expenses incurred in the course
of providing services to the property,
including all supplies, materials and labour
costs;

(i) disbursements including the costs incurred
for external wall cleaning, floor brightening,
maintenance of the exterior greenery as
well as power charges and replacement
costs of facilities;
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(i) the costs of acquiring the fixed assets,
equipment and facilities necessary for
the additional services if Beijing Guorui
Property requests AOCEAN Property
Management to provide additional services
or themed activities related to sales; and

(iv) the relevant taxation and profit margin of
10% over the actual costs and expenses
incurred in the course of managing the
property.

Transaction RMB3,480,000 (equivalent to approximately
amount during  HK$3,912,692)
the Year:

Annual cap: For the three years ending 31 December
2020 are RMB6,160,000, RMBS6,776,000 and
RMB7,454,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcement dated 20 October 2017 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2017.

The 2018 Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management
Agreement has expired on 31 December 2020.

2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement
Date: 2 November 2020

Parties: () AOCEAN Property Management
(i) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for
and on behalf of the Beijing Guorui Group)
(Note 1)

Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
(both days inclusive)
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Nature of

Transactions:

Fees:

Annual cap:

AOCEAN Property Management shall provide
heat supply and maintenance services to the
members of Beijing Guorui Group. AOCEAN
Property Management’s responsibilities
include (i) overseeing the daily operation and
provision of repair and maintenance services
of the heat exchange station and facilities and
the pipeline network located in the property
projects developed by Beijing Guorui Group,
namely Fortune Street Phase One* (3154
—Hi), Fortune Street Phase Two* (Bim&—
HA), Fortune Street Phase Three* (81im & =)
and Golden Tower* (£ &% AE) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing; Guorui Square* (El$ &%)
and Kingdom Guorui* (El§{e4 78) in Daxing
District, Beijing; and North Garden* (L 7EE)
at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang District, Beijing; and
(i) ensuring that the heat supply complies with
governmental guidelines and standards, etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges the
individual owners/tenants of the property units
directly for those units which are occupied. The
relevant members of the Beijing Guorui Group
will be responsible for the fees of the vacant
units or units occupied by Beijing Guorui Group
within the aforesaid property projects

Residential properties: RMB18 to RMB30
per square meter per heat supply season
depending on the property project, payable on
annual basis

Commercial properties: RMB25.2 to RMB50.4
per square meter per heat supply season
depending on the property project, payable on
annual basis

For the three years ending 31 December 2021
are RMB10,000,000, RMB11,000,000 and
RMB12,100,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcements dated 2 November 2020,
23 November 2020, 4 December 2020 and 23
December 2020 and approved by independent
shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2020.
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2021 New Property Management Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premises:

Nature of

Transactions:

Fees:

2 November 2020

(1) AOCEAN Property Management

(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for
and on behalf of the Beijing Guorui Group)
(Note 1)

From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
(both days inclusive)

Fortune Street Phase One* (Bf &7 — &),
Fortune Street Phase Two* (B15% 1 — 1),
Fortune Street Phase Three* (81 5% =)
and Golden Tower* (£ &% AJE) in Chaoyang
District, Beiing; Guorui Square” (B1$4/&35), and
Kingdom Guorui* (El3{{* ) in Daxing District,
Beiing; North Garden* (1t £ ) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing; and Project
Majugiac* (5559878 H) at Tongzhou District,
Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible
for (i) safekeeping of the keys of the vacant
units; (i) carrying out monthly inspections of the
vacant units and keeping records accordingly;
(iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the vacant
units; (iv) inspecting the vacant units during
bad weather conditions; (v) providing security
services; and (vi) maintaining and managing
facilities and assets for public use, etc.

Moreover, for particular property units,
AOCEAN Property Management will also
provide initial clean up services after completion
of their construction (the “Initial Clean Up
Services”).

The management fee ranges from RMB0.49
to RMB33.6 per square meter per month for
different types of property units, payable on an
annual basis
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For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN
Property Management charges a fee calculated
based on its actually incurred disbursement
plus a margin of 10%.
Annual cap: For the three years ending 31 December 2021
are RMB47,500,000, RMB52,250,000 and
RMB57,475,000, respectively

*  For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company
in its announcements dated 2 November 2020,
23 November 2020, 4 December 2020 and 23
December 2020 and approved by independent
shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 23 December 2020.

For details of the 2021 New Heat Supply Services
Agreement and the 2021 New Property Management
Agreement, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 2 November 2020, 23 November
2020, 4 December 2020 and 23 December 2020 and
the circular of the Company dated 4 December 2020.

Note 1: 3t BI85 Hb 7 i % 2 &](Beijing Guorui Property
Development Company Limited*, or “Beijing Guorui
Property”, which together with its subsidiaries
and associates, as the “Beijing Guorui Group”)
is a connected person of the Company by virtue
of Mr. Wei Chunxian (the chairman of the Board,
executive Director and the controlling shareholder
of the Company) being the ultimate beneficial owner
of approximately 91% equity interest in Beijing
Guorui Property (the remaining equity interest of
approximately 9% being indirectly held by Mr. Sun
Zhongmin (an executive director of the Company)),
and Ms. Liu Shuhua (an executive director of
the Company) being a director of Beijing Guorui
Property.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHESE

TARERREMS - &
AMEEESUIER -
DIREEEREENT T
MFNEEI0%ETE

2FLER: HEZZ--%+-A
S+-BUE=AFE:
2 Bl A AR # 47,500,000
- AR#52,250,0007T
R ARHES57,475,0007T

*EHRES

IRGERRARFIBP AT
—EF+—A=-H ZT=F
F+—A=-+=ZH - —T-ZTF
T AMBR=ZE-EF+A
T+ =Bz MWL
ARRZZEZEF+HA=+=
BERCBREAZ L& o

B - —FHHERRE
RZZB-_—FHNEEEHH
25 B2RARERH AR

TE-FF+—AF-H - ZF=-F
F+—A-+=0  —ZT-FTF

TZAMBRR-ZE-_TF+_H
T+ =HZAMA KRR G B
R_E_ZTF+_AMBZB
I o

Hat1  ARARRERRERE - #

TEEFRERBERRAES
ERIERESEHENES
RAE (T4 Est ]
Ry PNCIDE = PNEIFs R
AL REHERE ) £91%
Bz R EmERA(H
R #99% R HE RIl iy AN 2 B
TEERMPREERMESR
B)RARBHITERZM
ELTRIREHRZES
Bt - ERBEHRARRE]Z
RABAL e

35 2020 ESEARAT 119



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHREE

@

Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy Agreement |

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 16 July 2019 and 1 August 2019, Beijing
Shengyu Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (1t
R R R AR A A]), a company of which
91% interest indirectly held by Mr. Wei Chunxian
(“WE PRC Subsidiary B”) and Beijing Guorui Hotel
Management Co., Ltd.* Jt RE#BEEEE AR
A |]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Guorui Hotel Management”) had entered into the
Guorui Hotel Management Tenancy Agreement |,
which expired on 31 July 2019. On 1 August 2019,
WE PRC Subsidiary B and Guorui Hotel Management
had entered into the Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement | to renew the Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement |.

Date: 1 August 2019

Landlord: WE PRC Subsidiary B

Tenant; Guorui Hotel Management

Premises: No. 101-102 of the 1st Floor, No. 101-103

of the 1st Floor of Basement, No. 201-210
of the 2nd floor of Basement, No.3 of
Building 1, Ronghua South Road, Beijing
Economic and Technological Development
Zone, Beiing, the PRC* (1t T dt RSB
% EREmE K3 E—E101-102
% - 8—/E101-103% - B Z/8201-210%)

Gross floor area: 23,525.54 square meters
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Term: From 1 August 2019 to 31 July 2022

Rent: RMB846,919.44 per month (equivalent
to approximately HK$965,488.16)to be

payable monthly in advance

The monthly rental payment of the
Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy Agreement
| was determined between the parties
with reference to, among other things, the
current market rent for similar properties in
the vicinity.

Total rental payment RMB30,489,099.84 (equivalent to

payable during approximately HK$34,757,573.82)
the term:
Usage: Office and operation

The Company recognized the total rental fees
payable under the Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement | as the value of the right-of-use
assets on the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Renewed
Guorui Hotel Tenancy Agreement | are regarded as
an acquisition of asset by Guorui Hotel Management
for the purpose of the Listing Rules.
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Since WE PRC Subsidiary B is a company indirectly held
by Mr. Wei Chunxian as to 91% and therefore an associate
of Mr. Wei Chunxian, the Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement | and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constituted an acquisition of assets from connected person
under the Listing Rules.

As Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin are considered
having a material interest in the Renewed Guorui Hotel
Tenancy Agreement |, they had abstained from voting at
the Board resolutions approving the Renewed Guorui Hotel
Tenancy Agreement | and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.

Since the applicable percentage ratios set out in Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the transaction
contemplated under the Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement | exceed 0.1% but are below 5%, the transaction
contemplated under the Renewed Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement | is therefore exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 16 July 2019 and 1 August 2019 and
disclosed in its circular dated 30 September 2019.

The tenancy agreement has been terminated on 31
December 2020 and the rent payable for the period from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2020 has been waived by the
landlord. The tenancy agreement has then been renewed for
a term of one year (i.e. from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2021); but since the highest applicable percentage ratio
set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the
renewal transaction is less than 0.1%, such transaction is
fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and
all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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EERBEE
(1)  Guorui Hotel Tenancy Agreement Il (1) ERTEEERE=
Date: 5 July 2017 B “E—t%Ft AR
Landlord: WE PRC Subsidiary B BR: WEFEIR B A AIB
Tenant: Guorui Hotel Management iij= BiREEER
Premises: No.3 of Building 1, Ronghua South Road, Beijing mE PE R R ER R %
Economic and Technological Development Zone, eSS b e
Beiiing, the PRC* (Ib /Rt AT B R iR 3 R 22
ER1eE)
Gross floor area: 18 square meters BEREE 18EAK
Term: From 5 July 2017 to 4 July 2020 FH: “E—tFtARAZECEC
TELANA
Rent: RMB1,095 per month, calculated based on the rate i BAARE1,095T - HRE
of RMB2 per day per square meter BYAAFEARE2THF
LiHE
The monthly rent of Guorui Hotel Tenancy B EERERE—NE AT
Agreement Il was determined between the parties SHANFRLZ(Hh L)
with reference to, among other things, the then W AR BN SR TG
current market rent at the time payable for similar HeEE -

properties in the vicinity.
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Since WE PRC Subsidiary B is a company indirectly held by
Mr. Wei Chunxian as to 91% and therefore an associate of
Mr. Wei Chunxian, the Guorui Hotel Tenancy Agreement I
and the transactions contemplated thereunder constituted
continuing connected transaction of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 16
July 2019, pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions contemplated under the Guorui Hotel Tenancy
Agreement Il are subject to all applicable reporting, annual
review and disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcement dated 16 July 2019 and disclosed in its
circular dated 30 September 2019.

The tenancy agreement has been renewed for a term
of three years (i.e. from 5 July 2020 to 4 July 2023) (the
“Renewed Agreement”); but since the highest applicable
percentage ratio set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules
in respect of such renewal transaction is less than 0.1%,
such transaction is fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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EERHREE
The annual rental payments paid and to be ElHBIEE RS F RWETR
payable by Guorui Hotel Management to WE PRC WEARBENRERNESMN
Subsidiary B are as follows: T
From From From
5July 1January 1 January From
2017to 31 2018to31 2019to 31 1 January
December December  December 2020 to 4
2017 2018 2019  July 2020
“E2—tF ZB-NF ZB-hf
tBEHZ —-B—HEZ -—-A-HE ZEB-Ef
“E-t§ —E-\§ ZE-Nf -HB-HEZE
+=A T=AR T=hR ZBZZF
=t-H =t-H =t-H +tAMWA
Annual rental amount FHe
(in RVB) (AR%) 6,480 13,140 13,140 6,696
(approx. in HK$) (#ET) 7,387.2 14,979.6 14,979.6 7,633.4
Usage: Office i - A
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H#RET ETRAE14EETHRE
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The Renewed Agreement has been terminated on 31
December 2020 and the rent payable for the period from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2020 has been waived by
the landlord. The Renewed Agreement has then been further
renewed for a term of one year (i.e. from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021); but since the highest applicable
percentage ratio set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules
in respect of such renewal transaction is less than 0.1%,
such transaction is fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

2 Ruilai Tenancy Agreement

Date: 13 June 2017
Landlord: WE PRC Subsidiary B
Tenant; Beijing Ruilai Recreational Fitness Company Limited,

a company established in the PRC with limited liability
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Premises: No.103-105 on the First Floor, No.3 of Building
1, Ronghua South Road, Beijing Economic and
Technological Development Zone, Beijing, the PRC*
ERTAREBERMAERREDR 1 RRFE
103-105)

Gross floor area: 50 square meters

Term: From 13 June 2017 to 12 June 2020

Rent: RMB8,100 per month, calculated based on the rate of
RMB5.4 per day per square meter

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERHEE

KREBRFZCR -_Z_ZEF+-A
Zt+—H&I BEFEREWERE =
EEF—A—HREZ-_ZF+
B=+—BI-HNEMNHES - K25
WmEDEE—FABHa-_ZE-—5—A
—BEE-_ZT-_—F+-/F=+—H
1E) - B AR ETRAIZE14.07I&FTEA
FHRERRZNESERA DL RER
01% @ At ZR BAZEARET L™
BAB1AAZ B TR ELLE - FEE
BRATEHERT

2 REHEERE

BE: “T—+F At=H

BE: WEHR BB FB

fp tRHREERGERAT
—HRPERIMERA AR
—AARAZEBENHBA
7

mE HEL Rt R E R TR

103-105

ZREAE 507X

£ “ZFRAT=HECER
“ZERATZAH

it BAARES 100 HiRE
SYHKBRARELATH
ER:E

F35 2020 EISEARAT 125



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BEERHBES
The annual rental payments paid and payable by Ruilai HRRESERWETENE
Recreational to WE PRC Subsidiary B are as follows: ARBEMEEMASTT
From From From
13 June 1 January 1 January From
2017 to 31 2018 to 31 2019 to 31 1 January
December December December 2020 to 12
2017 2018 2019 June 2020
-t ZE-N\f ZE-nf
RATZRE -A-A% -A-A% k- 3:3
Z§-tf ¥\ ZR-AF  -f-8E
t=A t=A t=ZA %%
=+-H =t+-H =t-B  RAtZ=H
Annual rental amount FHe
(n RMB) (ARE) 49,532 97,200 97,200 43673
(approx. in HK$) (#187) 56,466 110,808 110,808 49,787
The monthly rent of Ruilai Tenancy Agreement was HRHEHZNOS ARSHT
determined after arm’s length negotiation between Wh8E (A ek HTEl
the parties with reference to, among other things, the NEEMOERDEEEEN
then current market rent at the time payable for similar THAREE
properties in the vicinity.
Usage: Office and operation A - HAREE

HAWER BB A FIBHEi4LE
FAEREREN% - Bt AR
BEEEMBEA - WHHKEER
#LEBE TN RETTHRSIRE
MRABR AR R FERER

Since WE PRC Subsidiary B is a company indirectly
held by Mr. Wei Chunxian as to 91% and therefore
an associate of Mr. Wei Chunxian, the Ruilai Tenancy
Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected

transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 16 July 2019, pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the
Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under
the Ruilai Tenancy Agreement are subject to all
applicable reporting, annual review and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transaction was announced by the Company in
its announcement dated 16 July 2019 and disclosed
in its circular dated 30 September 2019.
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The tenancy agreement has been renewed for a
term of one year (i.e. from 13 June 2020 to 12 June
2021); but since the highest applicable percentage
ratio set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in
respect of the renewal transaction is less than 0.1%,
such transaction is fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements. For those related
party transactions that constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions (as the case may be) (other
than those described in the section above headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”) under the
Listing Rules, these transactions are exempt from reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has provided a
signed copy of the said letter to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed otherwise, the related party transactions and
continuing related party transactions as disclosed in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the Year.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered into between
GR UK Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and an independent third party dated 8 January
2021, GR UK Holdings Limited agreed to dispose of all the issued
shares of GR Properties UK Limited to the independent third party
for a consideration of £30,960,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$325,876,000). The disposal was completed on 8 January 2021.
Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
8 January 2021 and 26 January 2021 and the Company’s circular
dated 26 February 2021.

Save as otherwise disclosed, the Group does not have any material
subsequent event after the Year and up to the date of this report.

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Pursuant to a construction loan agreement (the “Construction Loan
Agreement”) entered into by and among East Pacific Properties
LLC (“East Pacific Properties”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company as borrower, the Company as guarantor and a
licensed bank as lender (the “Lender”) effective on 27 September
2016, the Lender has agreed to provide a bank loan (the “Loan”)
in an aggregate amount of not exceeding eighteen million United
States Dollars (US$18,000,000.00) which shall be used to finance
the direct construction costs and related expenses of the residential
and retail buildings and relevant structures to be constructed on the
land in Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 in Block 4 of The Chelsea Green
Tract in the City of Santa Monica, County of Los Angeles, State of
California of the US. The Loan shall be repaid in full on or before
the maturity date (the “Maturity Date”), which is two (2) years after
the day on which the Lender first advanced all or a portion of the
Loan to East Pacific Properties. The Maturity Date may be extended
twice, for periods of one year each, if there is no event of default
then existing and East Pacific Properties has paid the Lender an
extension fee as stipulated in the Construction Loan Agreement.

Pursuant to the Construction Loan Agreement, it shall constitute an
event of default if Mr. Wei Chunxian, the controlling shareholder (has
the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules), an executive
Director and the Chairman, does not maintain direct management in
East Pacific Properties under which circumstance the Lender may
in its absolute discretion declare all amounts owing by East Pacific
Properties under the Construction Loan Agreement immediately due
and payable.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of corporate
governance so as to ensure better transparency of the Company,
protection of shareholders’ and stakeholders’ rights and enhance
shareholder value. In the opinion of the Board, the Company had
complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, all of the Directors have complied with, for any part of the
accounting year covered by this report, the required standard set
out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Related
Party Transactions” of this report, there were no contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party,
subsisting at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year,
and in which a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest, nor there were any other contracts of significance (whether
or not for the provision of services) in relation to the Company’s
business between the Company or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO SUBSCRIBE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than interests in share options of the Company as disclosed
above, and in the share option schemes disclosed in this report,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or chief executives, or their spouses or children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of them had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company
or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right
during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors was interested
in any business, which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the"MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contributions
under these schemes is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years. For details, please refer to, particulars of retirement
benefits schemes of the Group are set out in note 2.4 (headed “Other
employee benefits (pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for their re-appointment as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were approved by the Board on 31 March 2021.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of GR Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GR
Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 140 to 268, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAUZHEIRES

EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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EY::

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and lease receivables

At 31 December 2020, the Group
had trade and lease receivables
of approximately HK$92,827,000,
which mainly arose from the
provision of property
management services and

leasing of investment properties.

Significant management’s
judgements and estimates on
the amount of expected credit
losses at the reporting date
were involved in determining the
recoverability of these trade and
lease receivables for impairment
assessment.

Related disclosures are
included in notes 3 and 20
to the consolidated financial
statements.

In relation to the impairment
assessment of trade and lease
receivables, we obtained an
understanding of the credit
loss provisioning methodology
adopted by the Group and
assessed the reasonableness
of the allowance for the
expected credit losses
estimated by management
with reference to the history of
debtors’ settlement patterns
and ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables.

We tested, on a sample basis,
the ageing analysis

of the trade and lease
receivables prepared by
management; circulated

and obtained direct debtor
confirmations; and checked the
settlement status subsequent
to the reporting period.

We also considered the
adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in connection with
the impairment of trade and
lease receivables.

B|IAZBEHRES
MEERER(R)
EEFLEE BMATIARAEE
FREE

TEWE B R F B BRA a5 (BT
R-ZE-TFE+—F pERZESLHEER
=+—HB ' B£EE XORETEME
WESRMERSRN A BRACER H5EE
92,827,000/ 7T + £ HAMEEEEEE
DELSHREMEEE 5% Y2EEBA
RIS RAEREME - HEEXANEL KE
WE 5 RAERZKE
FRER DT » FHHERE
AT BEHEEE
BRENEEMKE -

SR ERHEEE %S E
WE 5 M HE RS
REXEEEBRAHRE
BB BEME SRS

TEAFIE R EE o BAITRERR B

ERENEKRES K
HERBENREMY AERFEREDT

HFRMIFE3R20 © DBV ESEERER
AERE + REZER

EHREEEIBR

BATEZERRES
MHmE P A REEW
B 5 LA ER
BERRBENZENE -

133



134

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB HRES

EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In accordance with the accounting
policies of the Group, investment
properties are stated at fair

value. At 31 December 2020, the
carrying amounts of the Group’s
investment properties (including

a property included in a disposal
group held for sale) amounted to
approximately HK$4,980,658,000,
which represented 74% of the
total assets of the Group. The
valuation process is inherently
subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates. The Group
engaged external professionally
qualified valuers to perform the
valuation for the investment
properties.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3, 14 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We considered the objectivity,
independence and competence
of the valuation experts.

We assessed the
appropriateness of the
valuation methodology adopted
by the valuers and evaluated
the data used as inputs for

the valuations and performed
market value benchmarking
against comparable properties.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the assumptions and
methodologies for the valuation
of the investment properties
held by the Group.

We considered the adequacy
of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
fair value measurement of the
investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EY::

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB HRES

EY:

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAUZHEIRES

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHENG Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEmK

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - TEF+ = H=+—HIFFZ

2020 2019
—EBCEF —T-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Htat FET FET
REVENUE PN 5 322,026 373,327
Other income and gains, net Hi A Rkzs @ %58 6 11,040 44,453
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA (6,001) (22,538)
Employee benefit expenses BETRMNER 8 (70,561) (96,705)
Marketing expenses EIHB A (3,320) (1,973)
Depreciation and amortisation T E N 6 8 (24,295) (31,079)
Utilities, repairs and maintenance and DHEHE - HIERRE
rental expenses PNk (120,298) (141,098)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of ~ JEWE 5 RHAEETHE
trade and lease receivables, net #meCRE) - 38 20(b) (3,492) 2,395
Other operating expenses, net HiQEER - 55 (43,806) (46,159)
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ETRHELEMEELIEE
of certain properties held for sale to Ve ERETE R
investment properties 14(c) 124,882 301,460
Fair value loss of investment properties, &% & ¥ A F(EEE 14,
net R 24(a) (5,838) (142,174)
Finance costs %58 H 7 (112,599) (57,797)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRI 8 67,738 182,112
Income tax FR1S%t 11 (67,058) (84,030)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REFEm A 680 98,082
Attributable to: THATREL :
Shareholders of the Company ZiN/NE] 3 552 98,599
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AE A 128 (517)
680 98,082
EARNINGS PER SHARE AARRREEGER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZF
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 12
Basic (HK cents) HARCEN) 0.02 3.08
Diluted (HK cents) BECGEN) 0.02 2.19




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ﬁéiﬁuﬁl o

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—FE _FF 1+ - H=+—HIFEZ

2020 2019
—ECEE —NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bat FET FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF 680 98,082
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hb2mEKzE(F18)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) WA 1E B ] GEE 75 4E 2 e
that may be reclassified to profit or HIE /‘zL?_.’I_\EEW?ﬁu/ (E78) -
loss in subsequent periods:
Debt investments at fair value BEATER AR EE
through other comprehensive mMERRE
income:
Changes in fair value NEEZE) 17 (967) 1,424
Reclassification adjustment for A=A S S
gain on disposal included in LB ATR
profit or loss 17 (144) (1,761)
(1,111) (837)
Exchange differences on translation REBIMCEEBEEZ
of foreign operations b N =5 152,950 (134,768)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) I (& HifE] Al fEE H2E =
that may be reclassified to profit or bi=Fy B4 /ﬂ%@%ﬁ/
loss in subsequent periods (E78)#5E 151,839 (135,105)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) U BEIS T &8 E 74
that will not be reclassified to profit or AR M E
loss in subsequent periods: Wezs (EHE) -
Changes in fair value of a building MNEE N EREET A K&
in property and equipment and THE b
a leasehold land in right-of-use BEMNANFEEE
assets 13 - 22,420
Income tax effect Fristis & 30 = (5,609)
Net other comprehensive income that I # BT 2 & 55
will not be reclassified to profit or loss Vi byz0p=8 /ﬂ%@%?ﬁu/?ﬁﬁ
in subsequent periods - 16,815
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE rEEHMEERE S
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, HIBRBE
NET OF TAX 151,839 (118,290)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE rEEXEmKE EHE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR azE 152,519 (20,208)
Attributable to: TH ARG
Shareholders of the Company ZA/NE] S 151,028 (19,307)
Non-controlling interests JEFERS R 1,491 (901)
152,519 (20,208)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2020 2019
—EBCEF —E-NEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FETT FEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB N&EE 13 8,229 13,457
Investment properties TEMZE 14 4,653,309 4,179,648
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 5,505 39,580
Computer software EISEE 16 948 1,083
Non-current deposits EmEEIE 21 1,188 1,119
Deferred tax assets BRI A= 30 12,196 11,975
Total non-current assets IEMBNVE EMRTE 4,681,375 4,246,862
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties held for sale BHEHEYE 18 1,073,920 1,182,025
Inventories &8 19 2,212 2,240
Trade and lease receivables FEUE 5 NRTEERN 20 92,827 33,574
Prepayments, deposits and other BRREIE - fTek
receivables Eh FEUGRIE 21 119,078 54,140
Due from related parties FE UG BE RS 5 TR IB 22 69,839 49,874
Other tax recoverables Hoh p] g Bl 78 72,200 69,277
Debt investments at fair value through 122 FE A B 2 EES
other comprehensive income HEBSIRE 17 24,562 46,518
Pledged bank deposit BEEIRIRI T 23 = 39,168
Cash and cash equivalents e RISEEY 23 196,147 246,877
1,650,785 1,723,693
Assets of a disposal group held for HEHEZHEAR
sale/non-current asset held for BE/BELEZ
sale JEMENEE 24 369,844 335,901
Total current assets MENEEBEE 2,020,629 2,059,594
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREEE
Trade payables JETE SR 25 42,327 37,477
Receipts in advance TEYFRIE 26 95,567 97,620
Other payables and accruals Hofh pE T3R8 K FERT & 27 137,799 112,153
Due to related parties JFE A< B HS: 5 FOR 22 360,648 139,579
Bank and other borrowings RITRE AR 28 25,854 710,378
Income tax payables FE(SERSRR 17,192 14,671
Other tax payables H A eI IE 4,387 5,241
683,774 1,117,119
Liabilities directly associated with the EYOBARELHECEE
assets classified as held for sale EEEEAE 24 126,543 —
Total current liabilities mENBELRTE 810,317 1,117,119




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R R

Year ended 31 December 2020 #HZE—-E-—FF+—-H=+—HIFF/F

2020 2019
—E-8% —T-N&
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HizF FET FET
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,210,312 942,475
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERARBAER
LIABILITIES 5,891,687 5,189,337
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R H MBS K 28 2,093,727 1,625,646
Liability component of perpetual KAR M ES 2 BEHLD
convertible bonds 29 51,197 49,945
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE 30 157,447 76,949
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEERE 2,302,371 1,752,540
Net assets BEFHE 3,589,316 3,436,797
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to shareholders 72~ A TR RFE(G#EZE
of the Company
Share capital &N 31 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA AR ESR 2
convertible bonds T ER D 29 1,078,217 1,078,217
Reserves B 88 (664,841) (815,869)
3,565,947 3,414,919
Non-controlling interests i s 23,369 21,878
Total equity G 3,589,316 3,436,797
Wei Chunxian Sun Zhongmin
HaneE BMHR
Director Director
EFE 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE —FE - FF+—-H=+—HIFF/F

2020 2019
—EBIBE  —_TNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kat FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KRETHELENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax FRAEDER 67,738 182,112
Adjustments for: FHEIEE :
Finance costs & E A 7 112,599 57,797
Interest income MBI A 6 (3,238) (5,217)
Fair value gain recycled from equity upon HERANFEFAEMEE
disposal of debt investments at fair value WHRESERE R B RER
through other comprehensive income W e /A ER S 6 (144) (1,761)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME WEK
plant and equipment HEIAEB KEE 8 27 9
Loss on lease modification AEEEREE 252 —
Depreciation of items of property, plant M BB REREEE R
and equipment e 8 5,885 12,365
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEEITE 8 18,219 18,475
Amortisation of computer software BB g 8 191 239
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ETHELEMEEL
of certain properties held for sale to WEYFIE 2B
investment properties el 14(c) (124,882) (301,460)
Fair value loss of investment properties, net 5 & )2 NS - JFEE 14, 24(a) 5,838 142,174
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade ~ FEUE 5 R EEZRHE
and lease receivables, net CRERE) - F&E 20(b) 3,492 (2,395)
Operating profit before working capital ZBEESEBATH
changes A 85,977 102,338
Decrease in non-current deposits BT R = 252
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFERL,/(380) 158 (779)
Increase in trade and lease receivables FEUE 5 K A E BRI AN (57,217) (9,238)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEREUE « 5] KHAM
deposits and other receivables FEMGRIE R A,/ (3 hn) (62,531) 28,282
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from e BEEsE 5 IR (3 h0)
related parties 9,887 (17,227)
Decrease/(increase) in other tax recoverables £ b fE U ES TE L 4> (3L hn) 1,287 (22,466)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables PR SREFIE IRl 4) 3,439 (27,919)
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance  TEBUERIEIE N CRi4) (5,135) 20,756
Increase in other payables and accruals H b (< 510 & FE ST B R4 0 22,524 6,802
Increase in amounts due to related parties  FE{sF B 5 FRIBIE N - 1,718
Decrease in other tax payables E AR IE R (778) (2,259)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ &R & &) 52 28555 15,581 (11,566)
Cash generated from operations KEMENRE 13,192 68,698
PRC corporate income tax paid =L (4,506) (3,783)
UK income tax paid BT AEE (4,702) —
USA corporate income tax and EESEE =&
withholding tax paid (154) (493)
Net cash flows from operating activities KRBTSR MEF 5 3,830 64,422
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FRERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #HZE—-E-—FF+—-H=+—HIFF/F

2020 2019
—B-BF —ZENF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
iz FET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B UH 8 6 3,238 5,217
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEMKHEEE
plant and equipment 13 (282) (4,077)
Addition of investment properties RNEREME 14 (10,970) (250,286)
Purchase of computer software BE B 16 = (448)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE —FRIFT 8 A A 34 = 529
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIBAF 34 = (2,337)
Proceeds from the sale of debt HEZ A ETAEM
investments at fair value through other ZHREHERIRE
comprehensive income SR 22,639 22,686
Purchases of debt investments at fair BERATESAEMEER
value through other comprehensive Ue ek 2 BEIRE
income = (45,371)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REEBFTS, TR
activities REREFHE 14,625 (274,087)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETHEENRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Decrease in a pledged bank deposit BEERIRITERUR D 38,997 =
Net bank loans IRITEFFE 35(b) 38,083 1,579,138
Repayments of bank loans EBRITER 35(b) (8,000)  (1,502,122)
New loans from a shareholder AR E R 35(b) - 81,387
New loan from a financial institution BERERERENTIEER 35(b) 21,161 —
Short term advances from independent & P TEIR A
third parties TR EK 35(b) — 29,453
Repayment of short term advances from BB FE = H R HRR
independent third parties 35(b) - (36,248)
Repayment of an interest-bearing a BEEMBAREREEA
quasi-loan equity contributed by a BRRETREERK
limited partner of a subsidiary E 35(b (194,510) —
Advances from other related parties E b BFH 5 2 Bk 35(b 209,959 35,263
Repayment of advances from ERH AR 77 2 B
other related parties (22,942) —
Interest paid for bank loans ERITERF A (37,176) (39,409)
Interest paid for a loan from ENESEHEEL
a director-controlled entity BEHF 8 (412 =
Interest paid for the interest-bearing BB ARABRERA
a quasi-loan equity contributed by BRIRET B EE R
a limited partner of a subsidiary Emr A B (55,881) (16,018)
Payment of dividend of preference SRR IENGIEE-SH d5)
shares of a subsidiary 7, 35(b) — (1,093)
Repayment of preference shares of EEMBRRELR
a subsidiary - (15,403)
Principal portion of lease payments MENFZEEHND 15 (19,821) (3,451)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BMETEBE(FTRMERS
activities MEFE (30,542) 111,501
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FRAERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - TEF+ = H=+—HIFFZE

2020 2019
—B-EF T NF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FET FEIT
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRLEEMRED
CASH EQUIVALENTS RE (12,087) (98,164)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRe MNREZEEY
beginning of year 246,877 345,163
Effect of foreign exchange rate VR B
changes, net (263) (122)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESREEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 234,527 246,877
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRREEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - kY
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 428 BTGk R &xP 5 RIS
consolidated statement of financial position &3R4 %@ 196,147 246,877
Cash and cash equivalents attributable to ~ FE{ERHEHE 2 HEARIHIRE
a disposal group held for sale EIEEEEY 24 38,380 —
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe 48R ETRERT I RIS
consolidated statement of cash flows RIRSEEY 234,527 246,877




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong and shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office and the principal place of business of the Company is
located at Suite 1603, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street,
Central, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
were involved in the following principal activities:

— property development and investment in the United
Kingdom (the “UK”), the United States of America (the
“USA”) and the mainland (“Mainland China”) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)

— provision of property management services in
Mainland China

— operation and management of a leisure and lifestyle
experience centre (the “Recreational Centre”) in
Beijing, the PRC.

At 31 December 2020, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Wintime Company Limited (“Wintime”),
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, and, in the opinion of the directors, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Winluck Global Limited
(“Winluck Global”), which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability.

B 35 R 2R B

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+—-H=+—H

LAFREKERH

REEEAR AR ([ ARAR DA —FKR
BEBAMEL 2 BR AR RERORE
BEAER AR AR (BT ER
£ ARRIMEMREREREEEE
BN A BB IREIT 20 2EL
[E161£1603% °

HE-F-TF+-A=+-ALF
& - ARRAREHBAR(GBAIAE
B EBHF FHIES -

-  HBE([RE])  ZNRERE
(F=E ) R AR KB (T
B ) AR (TR BIR R |) ey 3¢ 3
REE

-  ETBEAREREYEEERS

- REREERELLRTRERE
AR RBER L ([RE A ] ©

R-_ZE-_ZTFE+_HA=+—8 AR
AMEEERARARRERZEHS
AL 2 B R A & Wintime Company
Limited ([ Wintme ) * E2F R A& + &
AR S AR A B AT B B A
B Ak S 2 B BR 2 5 Winluck Global
Limited ([ Winluck Global]) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

LT REEEH(]R)

R-ZBE-_TF+_A=+—8 ' AQ7]
FENBARIHBEARFEEFE)N

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, which
are all indirectly held by the Company, as at 31 December

2020 are as follows: BT

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary Percentage of

registration share capital/ equity attributable
Company name and operations registered capital to the Company Principal activities

EWAL ERA BRTZBRE/ KNF B
NRER Tens &R EEEA TEREED
East Pacific Properties LLC Delaware, USA United States dollars 100% Property investment
KR (US$) 23,250,000 MERE

23,250,000% 7T
GR Properties USA Inc. Delaware, USA US$1 100%  Property development
R E e and investment
MEFRREE
Washington Motor LP Nevada, USA US$12,000,000 100%  Property development
EESE 12,000,000% 7T and investment
MEERRIRE
GR Properties UK Limited British Virgin Islands/UK USS$1 100% Property investment
HERUAE/HE 1T NERE
Talented Chief Limited British Virgin Islands/UK US$50,000 100% Property investment
EERLAE/EE 50,000%7T NERE
T REABNEEERR A A PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (‘RMB’) 100% Property investment
i/ hEARE 1,000,000 MERE
AR%1,000,0007T

LR AR ERER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,960,000 09.90%  Sale of properties and
(Kaipeng Technology’)t@ R EARE AR #1,960,0007 property investment
([SLHRE]) NEHERNERE
T RBAEYEERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Provision of property
B/ EARE AR#50,000,0007 management services
RENXERRY
I RESBEERER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 100% Operation of
R/ REARE AR #40,000,0007C aleisure and lifestyle
experience centre
EE IR R e
EEBBHD
KSR EEERER A ) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% Provision of spa
R/ hEARE AR1,000,0007 treatment service in
a leisure and lifestyle
experience centre
TARE R el AR BB RR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability
companies under PRC Law.

50.02% and 48.98% equity interests of this entity are held
by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and a fund (the
“Fund”), respectively.

The Fund is owned as to 33.33%, 66.57% and 0.1% by the
Group, an independent third party (the “JV Partner”) and a
general partner of the fund, respectively, and its main asset
is the 48.98% equity interest in Kaipeng Technology, which
holds a commercial property located in Beijing, the PRC.
Pursuant to the partnership agreement signed between the
parties, the Group and the JV Partner shall pay RMB345
million and RMB690 million, respectively, as capital of the
Fund.

Pursuant to a share transfer agreement and a supplementary
agreement thereto entered into between the Group and the
JV Partner on 23 April 2018 and 29 April 2020, respectively:

(i) the Group has the right to acquire the 66.57%
equity interest of the Fund held by the JV Partner at
any time before 17 April 2022 (as extended by the
supplementary agreement) at the consideration of
the capital injected by the JV Partner plus an 8.9%
return per annum up to 4 May 2020 and a 9.5%
return per annum thereafter (the “Call Option”); and

(i) the JV Partner shall sell the 66.57% equity interest
of the Fund held by it to the Group on 17 April 2022
(as extended by the supplementary agreement) at
the consideration of the capital injected by it plus
an 8.9% return per annum up to 4 May 2020 and a
9.5% return per annum thereafter (the “Put”).

31 December 2020

M RRMEE
—EFFf+—H=+—H

1. 2FRKERHGE)

EH B AR REP AR M
RER AT °

Jr

e % B BE50.02% £ 48.98%HI B 7
AMAREEN —K2EMNBERE R
—RES (R ELDEFA -

ZESHOHHAER  BUFE=
HTEAEERE])EZESHTR
A # A 8 33.833% - 66.57% &
01%EZLEFTEEE LAY PR
R 19 48.98% # B #E - L AR
REBAEMNFEIEEN— KRB
ME - BEFTOHEENAEW
FAEBHEALEEES B
A R # 345,000,000 T & A R #
690,000,000 CIEBZEL ZEA °

BEAEBEHREGEREESFINR-T
—N\NEMA-+=AKR_T_TF
MAZ+AAFEITHNRNEEGZ
K7 HE -

U) REBEREN T —FN
AT EtBANEERE(E
BRBRMBLR) KBS
ERHIRZEEH66.57%
g - REAREBHIA
MEANMEZE=-Z_TFAH
F 17U H 8.9%#H) 4 [ 3 K [ K
129.6% M FF O ([ REH
)R

(i) EEBHEN T __F
At tB(EBEHRHZA
JER ) MRS E & H AR
ZEEH)66.57 % - R(E
REFANEAMEE—F
—ZFh BV HE8.9%HF M
¥R} B 1%9.56% M) F 13X
(TRHHERHE]) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

The capital injected by the JV Partner to the Fund as at
31 December 2020 amounted to RMB472 million (2019:
RMB646 million).

In addition, pursuant to a pledge agreement entered into
between the Group and the JV Partner in April 2018, 104
out of 129 units of the commercial property held by Kaipeng
Technology are pledged to the JV Partner for the capital
injected by the JV Partner with a maximum guarantee
amount of RMB690 million.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the above
arrangements are, in substance, a loan arrangement to
obtain finance from the JV Partner for the purchase of
the commercial property owned by Kaipeng Technology.
In addition, the Call Option and the Put are likely to give
the Group present access to returns associated with
the ownership interest in the Fund and also the indirect
ownership interest in Kaipeng Technology held by the JV
Partner. Accordingly, there is no non-controlling interest
presented in equity in respect of the equity interest of the
Fund held by the JV Partner and the Group consolidated
the 99.9% equity interest in Kaipeng Technology in these
financial statements. The Group then recognised a financial
liability stated at amortised cost for the present value of the
consideration to be payable to the JV Partner under the Call
Option or the Put, as further disclosed in note 28(e) to the
financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

1.

LT REEEH(]R)

—E-_TE+-_A=+—81 "
BEEHRZESTITEARK
472,000,0007C(ZZE—HE : AR
#646,000,0007T) °

i
AN
=]

BN - BEBAEEBRESEBHENZ
T— ) \FWALHER RS 9
AR B R A Y% 2 1291@ B (1
RE104EER - BBRAZEEHETE
&= &R £ %8 A R#690,000,0007T
B FEEBMH -

RAREERA  LlTHEL L
A—HERZH  EEBAEBMHE
RESHE  UWESIRREESR
R AME o tbHh - RIBEIERR
SHERRER A B AN R B 1S B
CFRTAEEREENRIRARE
BHFBBEOS AR E A R
o At REMBHRRILAFE
HELBARANZESRESH
RIFEIEPRERS - MALBERZESH
Bz & 05l AR $£99.9% 1Y iR
T o AN B 75 R 3R P E 28 (e) 2 HE —
BB NEEEEIRRRE R
AR EN S EREZNRE
B3R B TR —E LA SRR ARSI AR /Y
SRARE -

ERABEIINARFMNBARRESER
REAREERNFREELTERERRE
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2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for (i) investment
properties (including a property classified in a disposal group
held for sale or as a non-current asset held for sale) and
debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income which have been measured at fair value; (i) a building
and a leasehold land in the PRC which have been measured
at revalued amounts; and (i) a disposal group held for sale
which is stated at the lower of its carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, as further detailed in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

2.1

RB AR
ZEMBRERRRRBLESIAMAE
(BB EFEAE ) RMHEEM R
SEA([FRHBREER ) (BIEMHR
BEREMBREEN - BESTER
(TBBGTENRE)  BEEE
Kz @t RAIRBBARUEPIGES -
REZEMERRE - RREME(R
BOBRFHELE 2 HEMAR T EL
EZRBEENYE) RIZ R FER
AEREEKENEFRECSRATE
AHE () REREGEFENRF B
BFREELT M Ri)FELEZH
BB SIRARE(E & A FER 3 E A
(ABEE B FIBRIN - DIRAE LK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1

2.2

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated losses,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) and
the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
BB EYERZE R -
BB ERISE395% &
BANEREENE7HR(EFTA)
Amendment to HKFRS 16
BBV BREERFE165 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and

FIEERHE

Definition of Material

HKAS 8
BAGEANEIHRK BAR)TE

BB ERIESE (BATA)
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2.2
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BB R R RS

AEBRAFREPBRREXRR_-F
—\FHFIHREB2ER ([ BESHER])
RIATAETT BB 5 E 2R

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (early adopted)
COVID- 1916578 & & (R FERMA)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)
The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
and the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(@

The Conceptual Framework sets out a
comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting
and standard setting, and provides guidance for
preparers of financial statements in developing
consistent accounting policies and assistance to all
parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters
on measurement and reporting financial performance,
new guidance on the derecognition of assets and
liabilities, and updated definitions and recognition
criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies the
roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual
Framework is not a standard, and none of the
concepts contained therein override the concepts
or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS
7 address issues affecting financial reporting in the
period before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
(“RFR”). The amendments provide temporary reliefs
which enable hedge accounting to continue during
the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which
are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)
The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
and the revised HKFRSs are described below: (continued)

(©

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately preceding
the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30
June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change
to other terms and conditions of the lease. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application
permitted and shall be applied retrospectively. The
Group early adopted the amendment on 1 January
2020 which did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BAP IR EELFEI5R(SFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
BAMBEMEEREN - BASET
RSB35 - BB MEAER
ET5 - BEMBIRELERIELH R
BB IwEERE 1698 (BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)
BANEREEF10RRBBEET
HRFE285R(ZT——F)(IBF] )
HKFRS 17
BAM G REERE175%
Amendments to HKFRS 17
BAPEwEERFE175% (R A)
Amendments to HKAS 1
BAEFTERE1R(EETA)
Amendments to HKAS 16
BAEFTERE1695(BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 37
BAEFTEREITHRUEETA)
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
—ENEFER_FE_FTFZ
BB IR 2R [E 2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2.3 EBEffifEREKREZHEERM
R G 4R

AEEW RNZEMEHRRPEREAAT
ERME M AR LR AT RSB EE
S mELER -

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?
B2 HEZE 2 22
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 21

FYEBENFE —F R

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

REEZHAB LN AR L LR FNEELEX)TE

Insurance Contracts?

N =Rk

Insurance Contracts® 6

1R A Ho0

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current3. 5

B ESE BB H I ERS

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use?

YE - BE KRR E - FEE A2 AR R?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

BRI # — BITEH)Z B2

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412

BEMBWERAFEIT BEMBREEAFES - BBEMBWMELE
R 165k B RS 0 R BB ERIE 415 (BFTA)2

C R-ZE-—F—H—Hk 2 &R

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in
October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS
39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023
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2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 REZBZ=—F—A—HXZ2EHARA
2022 B B AR AL
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January € R-ZZE=F—HA—Hsz&R%
2023 BV E EARI AR R
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace
a reference to the previous Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing
its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
Levies if they were incurred separately rather than
assumed in a business combination, an entity applying
HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after the date of first application, the Group
will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE_—FF+_-A=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current.
The amendments specify that if an entity’s right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of
the reporting period if it complies with those conditions
at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss.
The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

©

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for
an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for
which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (continued)

(e) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, HKFRS
9 (2014) Financial Instruments, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16 Leases, and HKAS 41
Agriculture. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

i. HKFRS 9 (2014): clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms
of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that
are modified or exchanged on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in
which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is
not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

i. HKFRS 16: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes
potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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24

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group measures investment properties (including a
property classified in a disposal group held for sale or as a
non-current asset held for sale) and debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a holding
company of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of

the other entity (or of a holding company,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(Vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a holding company of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a holding company
of the Group.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, deferred tax assets, properties held
for sale, inventories, financial assets and a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. [f such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Except for a building, which is stated at a revalued amount
(being its fair value at the date of the revaluation less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses), other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified
as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current asset
and disposal group held for sale”. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuation in relation to the building is performed frequently
enough to ensure its the fair value does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of the
building are dealt with as movements in the property
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the
deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation
surplus is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the deficit
previously charged. An annual transfer from the property
revaluation reserve to accumulated losses is made for the
difference between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of the building and the depreciation based
on the building’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the property revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
accumulated losses as a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
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Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 20%

&l REMPAERE 10%220%

Motor vehicles 20%
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Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBERIBEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties include both completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction.

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business.

Completed investment properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Investment properties under construction or development
for future use as investment properties are classified as
investment properties under construction. Such properties
under construction are measured at cost, including
transaction costs, and subsequent to initial recognition, are
stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period when
the fair value can be determined reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from inventories (i.e., properties under
development or held for sale) to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at the
date of change in use and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-current asset and a disposal group are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing
use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group
must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the
sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must
be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale
regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

An investment property classified as held for sale is
measured at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

A disposal group (other than an investment property and
financial assets) classified as held for sale is measured at the
lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate a non-
lease component and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Except for the
right of use of a leasehold land which is stated at a
revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of the
revaluation less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses, other right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Valuation in relation to the right of use of the
leasehold land is performed frequently enough to
ensure that its fair value does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the value of the
right of use of the leasehold land are dealt with as
movements in the property revaluation reserve. If the
total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on
an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is
charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation
surplus is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
property revaluation reserve to accumulated losses
is made for the difference between the depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the right
of use of the leasehold land and the depreciation
based on the original cost of the right of use of the
leasehold land. On disposal of a revalued right-of-use
asset, the relevant portion of the property revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is
transferred to accumulated losses as a movement in
reserve.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on the straight-
line basis over the following depreciation periods,
which are the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets:

Leasehold land
THETH
Office premises
WAEYE
Motor vehicle

FTE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

(®)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset
is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the
Group’s policy for “Investment properties”.

The Group’s right-of-use assets are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

24 FESHBRIBEE)

ERBEBEREA ()
@ RAEEEE)

®)

WP HERERSEEEENTE
BREEEREAEEINARRE
BEREENITE  FEAREE
ENGF A EREHEE

HEREEENARENEZE
E REEAGTAREDE -
MR 2 {6 P HE B EE I B 4 R A
AEHE - MERBRBEARESE
[REWH | 2 BERR A FER

=
E-°

REEEREEERGEETH
ARRKRFFITR

HEERE
HERGBINEERK B HiRE
EHARELHEENFERERE
R HENKRBEERNR(E
BEE RN REMNEREE
B - BURNR — 358 A R m
] B TE B A R TR AR A R R
BEEFRIMNOSE - HEMK
INEE A I HEE R AR ETTE
MBEEEREREZITEERAKRILE
MEME R (HEEHR
BRAREBETRA ) - WIE
BURN R — e Bkt Ry a] 271
SRR EEN RO FE AR
BN HRRER R

175



176

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, where that rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in bank and
other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office equipment
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
the straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Computer software acquired separately is measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of computer software are
assessed to be finite.

Computer software is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the computer software may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
computer software is reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rates of amortisation of computer
software are 10%-25%.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt
instruments) with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
(debt instruments) refers to how it manages its financial
assets (debt instruments) in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets (debt instruments), or both. Financial
assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order
to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
(debt instruments) classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets (debt
instruments) which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)
For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

@)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

@)

General approach (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the debt investments are
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the
Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the
debt investments. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade and lease receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

@

Stage 1 —

Stage2 —

Stage3 —

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

(b)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The component of perpetual convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of perpetual convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a financial liability at amortised
cost. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
equity component of the perpetual convertible bonds that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net
of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity
component of the perpetual convertible bonds is not
remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity components of
the perpetual convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are initially recognised.

Properties held for sale are intended to be held for sale and
are classified as current assets.

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on prevailing
market conditions less estimated costs to be incurred in
marketing and selling the properties.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with.

Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

@) Provision of property management services
In respect of property management services, the
Group's property management fee is charged
on a lump sum basis. The Group acts as the
principal and is primarily responsible for providing
the property management services to the property
owners, accordingly the Group recognises property
management fee received or receivable from property
owners as its revenue and all related property
management costs as its cost of services. Revenue
from the provision of property management services is
recognised over time when the services are rendered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)

(©

Provision of services in relation to operations of the
Recreational Centre

Revenue from the provision of services in relation to
operations of the Recreational Centre is recognised
over time when the related services are rendered.

Sale of goods in relation to operations of the
Recreational Centre

Revenue from the sale of goods in relation to
operations of the Recreational Centre is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer.

Revenue from other sources

(@)

(®)

Rental income
Revenue from rental income is recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors of the Company)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital. In addition, at the time when the share options
are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share option reserve will be transferred to the share capital
account.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or
lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses as a
movement in reserves.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions vest fully once made and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries established
in Mainland China and overseas are currencies other than
HKS$. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into
HK$ at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of the exchange fluctuation reserve relating to
that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in Mainland
China and overseas are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these entities which arise throughout
the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements and have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are set out
below:

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade and lease receivables, by applying ECL rates to
different ageing groups of trade and lease receivables. The
ECL rate of each ageing group is determined by the Group
based on the average of historical incurred credit loss
experience on each ageing group in the past years and,
where material, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future and significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. When
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact on the
carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables and the
amount of ECLs provided or reversed in the periods in which
such estimates have been changed. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade and lease receivables is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
(including a property classified as a non-current asset held
for sale or included in a disposal group held for sale) are
assessed by management based on property valuations
performed by independent professionally qualified valuers.
The assumptions adopted in the property valuations are
based on information of annual rental income and property
market price per square metre, supported by (i) the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts; and (i) (when
possible) external evidence such as current market rents and
recent prices for similar properties in the same location and
condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of the investment
properties, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in note
14 to the financial statements.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, the USA and the UK. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of its transactions in accordance
with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there are many
transactions and calculations, of which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain, during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
the differences will impact on the income tax and deferred
tax provision in the periods in which the determination is
made. The carrying amount of current income tax payables
carried as liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020 was HK$17,192,000 (2019:
HK$14,671,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

In addition, the Group has investment properties located in
the PRC, the USA and the UK which are measured at fair
value. Investment property is property held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both. In considering whether the
presumption in HKAS 12 Income Taxes that an investment
property measured at fair value will be recovered through
sale is rebutted in determining deferred tax, the Group has
developed certain criteria in making that judgement, such
as whether an investment property is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time or through sale. The presumption is rebutted only
in the circumstance that there is sufficient evidence such
as a historical transaction, future development plan and
management’s intention to demonstrate that the investment
property is held with the objective to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits over time, rather than through
sale. Continuous assessments on the presumption will be
made by management at each reporting date.

The Group shall transfer a property to, or from, an investment
property when, and only when, there is a change in use. A
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases
to meet, the definition of an investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. Judgement is involved
in determining the occurrence of a change in use of the
property and the Group has developed criteria in making that
judgement, for example, any inception of an operating lease
arrangement with an external third party, any resource to
hold and manage the investment property, legal permissible
of the change, commencement of the further development
(if any), in accordance with the facts and circumstances.
Judgement is made on an individual unit basis to determine
whether there is a change in use of the units in a property.

If the Group changes the use of a property in future, the
accounting treatment of the relevant property may be
changed, with a corresponding impact on the financial
position and financial performance of the Group.
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3.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the nature of their products and
services and has three reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@ the property development and investment segment
engages in property development and investment in
the UK, the USA and Mainland China;

(b) the property management segment engages in the
provision of property management services for office
buildings, residential properties and car parks in
Mainland China; and

(c) the operation of the Recreational Centre segment
engages in the operation and management of a
leisure and lifestyle experience centre in Beijing, the
PRC.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that head office and corporate income and expenses
are excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude unallocated
head office and corporate assets and liabilities as these
assets and liabilities are managed on a group basis.

4.

BERREH
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

4. HEEWMRBEHGR)

(continued)
Property development Operation of the
and investment Property management Recreational Centre Total
NERERRE NEER AR EE ait
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZgCgF 3N CBCBE CRNF ZBIBE CE0F Z3C®E CInf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE1 FET iz %3 AT FE1 AT iz %3 AT
Segment revenue TION 99,412 78817 101017 204205 25,507 7085 320% 37337
Segment results RiaEE 67,439 153,801 30,624 48,121 (14,801) (34,59) 83,462 167,326
Reconcilition: i
Other unallocated income and gain ERPRMAR MG 520 34477
Corporate and other nallocated expenses  ATREHAARER (16244 (19,691)
Proft before tax HATaA| 67,738 182112
Segment assets RiAEE 6,316,116 5,957,399 280,437 224,033 67,748 75883 6,664,301 6257315
Reconciliation: #E
Corporate and other unalocated assets: ~ ATREMANTLEE -
— Property, plant and equipment 0% BEREE 126 193
— Right-of-use assets -[FREEE 2,79 4,961
— Prepayments, deposts and other ~BE - T REMmEL
receivables HE 2,636 2,551
— Due from related parties L] 81 360
— Plediged bank depost ~BERRIER - 39,168
— Cash and cash ecuivalents -BERBEEEN 32,058 1908
Total assets mEE 6,702,004 6,306,456
Segment liabilities hiiak 2506805 2370230 166552 130479 205799 207,197 29695 2,727,906
Reconclliation: 5
Corporate and other unallocated iabiffes ~ ATREMAAR AR
— Other payables and accruals - At BN RERER 5220 2731
— Due to shareholders —EfREzE 84,205 84,142
— Lease liabiities -HE8E 2,820 493
— Liabity component of perpetual — AT ERESA
convertible bonds 8ESS 51,197 49945
Total liabilties EafE 3,112,688 2,869,659
Other segment information: Hitihgs
Capital expenditure” BRRE
~ iz s RS 10977 1771415 1% 178 3057 047 2B 180855
— Amount unallocated -AoELE 7 6,509
14235 13810074
Impaiment/(reversal of impaiment) of ~ EXEZRASE
trade and lease receivables, net RE/(ERE) - 58 52 = 2970 2:3%) - = 3492 2:3%)
Depreciation and amortisation REREH
— Operating Segments - 1,287 1,043 84 593 19,775 0,174 21,903 20410
— Amount unallocated -RAREE 239 1,669
24,295 31,079
Remeasurement gain upon transfer of ~— ATH{ELENEEA
certain properties held for sale to RENERLEN
investment properties stelhs 124,882 301,460 - - - - 124,882 301,460
Fair value loss of investment RAMEATE
properties, net BR 58 (5,838 (142174 - = - = (5,838)  (142,174)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WERREHE(E)
(continued)
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, & EARASTBIERNEYE  BENMK

- REME CRAEEENREM
B (2REEREARNEE) -

plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use
assets and computer software, including assets from the
acquisition of subsidiaries.

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) FEIEBEEAIEA
2020 2019
—B-®F “T-NEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET T
Mainland China FR B K B 246,535 297,907
The UK ki 62,227 75,420
The USA ESE 13,264 -
322,026 373,327

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

A EWABBTIRER PR mEL o

(b)  Non-current assets (b)) FRBHEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Mainland China Hp B K B 2,504,151 2,005,300
The UK R 1,387,228 1,431,453
The USA E3E 771,525 791,862
Hong Kong B 5,087 5,153
4,667,991 4,233,768

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

FiIEREB EEERIABEMR
BEAER - HYTEFESRT
ANIEERBEE °

During each of the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, there was no single external customer which
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for
each of these years.

BE-_Z-_ZFER-_ZT—-—NF+=A
=+—RALEEE  VERZEFES
FHAREB RIS TEN10%3 A LA E
—INEBE
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REVENUE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Disaggregated revenue information of the Group is as

follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020

31 December 2020

5. kA

P 35 R R PR

—E_FFf+—HA=4+—H

REEWWRADTIER AT -

BE T _FFf - HA=+—HIFE

Property Operation
development of the
and Property Recreational
investment management Centre Total
MERE g
REE NEER REFRL &t
Segments HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W FET FET FET FE7
Types of goods or services ERSRBESR
Rendering of property management services RAEMEERRS - 197,017 - 197,017
Operations of the Recreational Centre: R
— Rendering of services —hR MR - - 12,109 12,109
— Sale of goods —HEER - - 13,488 13,488
Total revenue from contracts with customers REAHMALE - 197,017 25,597 222,614
Revenue from another source HipRKA
— Gross rental income from investment —-RERENFLE
property operating leases HEMRE 99,412 - - 99,412
Total revenue N 99,412 197,017 25,597 322,026
Timing of revenue recognition AR
Goods transferred at a point in time NE-FHZERER - - 13,488 13,488
Services transferred over time BERF RS RS - 197,017 12,109 209,126
Total revenue from contracts with customers RPANAER - 197,017 25,597 222,614
Revenue from another source HpRBA
— Gross rental income from investment - RERENELERENTHS
property operating leases N x 99,412 = = 99,412
Total revenue N 99,412 197,017 25,507 322,026
Geographical market hE 5

All revenue from contracts with customers was generated in

Mainland China.

B EP AR BIRREESE -
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5. REVENUE (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019

5. WA(#E)
m—E— N EF = =1 —HIFEE

Property Operation
development of the
and Property ~ Recreational
investment  management Centre Total
MELRE ge
RIFE MEEE REH L A&t
Segments HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s} FET FET FET FET
Types of goods or services ERRBESR
Rendering of property management services REMEEERE - 224,225 - 204,225
Operations of the Recreational Centre: ERERL -
— Rendering of services —HRHERY - - 35,771 35,771
— Sale of goods —HEEm = = 34,514 34,514
Total revenue from contracts with customers BREAHMALE — 224,225 70,285 294,510
Revenue from another source HeFORBA
— Gross rental income from investment - RERENMERLS
property operating leases HENHE 78,817 - - 78,817
Total revenue WA B 78,817 224,225 70,285 373,327
Timing of revenue recognition WA
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-—EHAEZER - — 34,514 34,514
Services transferred over time FERS RS RS - 224,225 35,771 259,996
Total revenue from contracts with customers BEAMMALE = 224,225 70,285 294,510
Revenue from another source HARFERA
— Gross rental income from investment —REREYELLHENHASE
property operating leases W\ 15 78,817 = = 78,817
Total revenue LNt 78,817 224,225 70,285 373,327
Geographical market HETHS

All revenue from contracts with customers was generated in

Mainland China.

FAEREPAHWARRBEIAREES -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period:

P 35 R R PR
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WA (48)
Kt -

(@ TRINTRA S B R R
S8 EFFABRSHINANAE

2020 2019

i —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FETT FET

Property management services MEEIB RIS 31,507 37,726
Services in relation to operations of the HR R R0 R AR TS

Recreational Centre 4,615 22,156

36,122 59,882

No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2020 related to performance obligations satisfied or partially
satisfied in previous periods (2019: Nil).

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations in
contracts with customers is summarised below:

Provision of property management services and services in
relation to operations of the Recreational Centre

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of goods in relation to operations of the Recreational
Centre

Revenue from the sale of goods in relation to operations
of the Recreational Centre is recognised at the point in
time when the goods are delivered to the customers, and
payment is made upon delivery.

REBEE-_T-_TF+=-_A=+—H
IEFE - WARRRE LA HEE B
TP EBITHRBHEEEBEIK
ANZZ—NF: &) -

(b) BREE
ERASEREFPANANBENR
ERERS AT

FERYRE R IRE LM T EE
HEEEAR S

FE# B EREZ R E RGO R EE
7 BRARFERLMNK -

H{REI 0B E AR A R an i &
SRR EZHENEREER

ATRERRNTFEPREPNR
& VB ST RO B R B FERR
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA(HE)
Notes: (continued) BiaE - (48)
(b) Performance obligations (continued) (b) BHEEGE)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining RBERARSEEFIRBORFCK
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) BT D KRBT X ZELEEN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
2020 2019
—EEF —ZE-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FEr
Amounts expected to be recognised TEHER AR AR SR
as revenue:
Within one year — R 27,439 18,831
After one year —F% 1,036 227
28,475 19,058

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected to
be recognised as revenue after one year relate to services
in relation to operations of the Recreational Centre, of which
the performance obligations are to be satisfied within two
years. All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration which
is constrained.

E—FROEZBFERBBEAR
RHRBOEENRZHE S AR
TLEERENREER  EVE
HMEEBRMERERK - DEEF
HBENETNMEEMRFESER
B R —FARERR/BA o Lt
BHOSR TN ERXREIH AT ZR(E -
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. HUARIER B
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net is as AREEREAUA R UES @ SFEEH 0
follows: N
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Bank interest income RITHBHA 1,787 3,632
Interest income of loan receivables  FEYLE 31 F| B A 1,451 1,585
Government subsidies BT 47 B 617 -
Penalty income G ON 2,258 158
Foreign exchange gain, net b 5 W e A - 32,461
Fair value gain recycled from HERAFERTA
equity upon disposal of debt E A2 EREE R
investments at fair value through (EG e s R 4=k T
other comprehensive income el NSl E 144 1,761
Others HAh 4,783 4,856
11,040 44,453
FINANCE COSTS 7. HMBEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REBPBEERALTWOT -
2020 2019
—ETH —T-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FEIT FET
Interest on bank loans IRITEFRHF S 37,176 39,405
Interest on preference shares [ B A a8 5i% )
of a subsidiary F8 38 - 1,093
Interest on loan from ¥iN/NE] [l B
a shareholder of the BERRF S
Company 1,614 1,269
Interest on loans from SRR
director-controlled entities BERHIR B 38 412 115
Imputed interest on loans BRI ERBREEN
from director-controlled ERHEEFE
entities 15,211 2,477
Interest on a quasi-loan MEBARZAEZE AR
equity contributed by AR ANER
ajoint venture partner of EERERNFE
a subsidiary 38 55,881 16,018
Interest on perpetual XA RPEESFI S
convertible bonds 29 1,252 1,220
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 15(b) 1,053 555
112,599 62,152
Less: Amount capitalised in W EEIREMER
investment property BEREER
under construction 14 - (4,355)
112,599 57,797
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

8. WAL

AEBEHRANGENE M (GER) TIIE

(crediting): 18 :
2020 2019
—B-EF —ZE-NEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$ 000
HiaE FET FET
Depreciation of property, W - BB NRREITE
plant and equipment 5,885 12,365
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 18,219 18,475
Amortisation of computer B
software 191 239
Loss on disposal of items HEME - KEREE
of property, plant and 15 B M5 18
equipment 27 9
Lease expenses on SHHENHEEERR
short-term leases = 7
Employee benefit expenses EEENER
(including directors’ (BIEEE
remuneration (note 9)): GECDE
Salaries, allowances and e EEAEDR
benefits in kind = 67,996 90,051
Pension scheme RIRS TSR
contributions (note) (Bft3E) 2,565 6,654
70,561 96,705
Auditor’s remuneration IZELED BN & 2,050 2,180
Foreign exchange b =585
differences, net 224 (32,461)

Note:

The decrease in pension scheme contributions was mainly
due to reduction and wavier of employer obligations on
social security contributions for a specified period of time,
as announced by the Ministry of Human Resources and
Social Security of the PRC, by an aggregate amount
of HK$3,685,000. In addition, government grants of
HK$617,000 in total under COVID-19 were received from
the government in Hong Kong and the PRC which were
recognised as other income during the year.

BfeE : RRSFEHFRDEZTIRRPBEANE
RN AL & 4R 5 5D 354 10 15 2 I B AR 2 3
EHREINHERBREAEY  BSER
3,685,000/ 7T ° Lt5) - COVID-19 TN E B &
78 Ko B BRSO TR S 465 B 48 %8 /5617,000
BT - WNFNRERREALIA -
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EEHM

BIEBIEES EMBANT EHRE
Al )) ~ HACR A ) 3 383(1)@) -
0) * O ROHIEARCAR(HESZEFZ
BRDEFDE 2 BEEN AT EERH
Ban T

Group
REE
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees e 1,240 1,240
Other emoluments: E RN
Salaries, allowances and e EZMNEYH G
benefits in kind 405 716
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHER 54 54
459 770
Total remuneration B ERk] 1,699 2,010
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0. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. ERHM(E)
(continued)
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named ESHFM(AGRREE) ST -
basis, is as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
e 2EH Bike
ok BN HE 7 270 o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZE_%F
T=A=t-ALFE
Executive directors: HITEE .
Mr. Wei Chunxian (‘Mr. We") Mg ([BkAE]) 480 - 18 498
Ms. Liu Shuhua ARELL - = = -
Mr. Sun Zhongmin (*Mr. Sun’) BMREE(HEE]D 400 - 18 418
Mr. Guo Jingsheng? R - - - =
Ms. Huang Feif e - 405 - 405
Ms. Li Bing# FEIL - - - -
880 405 36 1,321
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEH/TES .
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERERE 120 - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEZL 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming’ RIS 107 - 5 112
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung® BB Lt 13 - 1 14
360 - 18 378
Total i 1,240 405 54 1,699
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-E-hE
TZA=+-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (‘Mr. Wei") BmELE(FREE]) 480 — 18 498
Ms. Liu Shuhua Ve = = - -
Mr. Sun Zhongmin (*Mr. Sun”) BHREE(HEE]D 400 347 18 765
Mr. Guo Jingsheng PRERE - - _ _
Ms. Huang Fei BIENT - 369 - 369
Ms. Li Bing FENL - - - -
880 716 36 1,632
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEHTEE :
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERERE 120 - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEZL 120 - 6 126
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung* B E g Ls 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total e 1,240 716 54 2,010
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

* Appointed as an executive director of the Company on 28
June 2019.
" Appointed as an independent non-executive director of the

Company on 9 February 2020.

Resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 9 February 2020.

Note: There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2019:
Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included no
(2019: one) director, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the five
(2019: four) non-director, highest paid employees for the
year are as follows:

o.

10.

P 35 R R P EE
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EFHM(]|)

9 RZZE—NAENA+TNBERT
BANRHITES °

" R_E_ZEF_AhBEZRETAAR
NAVBMIFNITES ©

* R-_E—_ZEF_AhBEEARQA
BAUIENITESE -

Azt ERBREERRAREHREETH
SHRI(=FTNE ) -
hAfiEE#HER

FA AfUGSHFEETIECTES

“TNF R) EFMHALX
iz - FRAR(ZZE—NF : OF)
FEFNERFHEB ZFHHMFEWT

2020 2019
i —TNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EUMNMEYF =
in kind 4,950 4,713
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEIHER 18 36
4,968 4,749
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10.

11.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AfumEHER (&)
(continued)
The number of the non-director highest paid employees HNEN AT SHE AN EEE R E
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as SRAEIT ¢
follows:
Number of employees
EEAE
2020 2019
—EIERF —E-hEF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 87TE
1,500,000/ 7T 3 8
5 4
INCOME TAX 11. Fi"R
An analysis of the Group’s income tax is as follows: REBFIHANTWT -
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—AF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAETT FET
Current — Mainland China & — B K RE 8,407 11,684
Current — UK EH— % 2,578 410
Current — USA EH—XE - 493
Deferred (note 30) B (H77£30) 56,073 71,443
Total tax expense for the year RNEEMIEERBE 67,058 84,030
Notes: Bt -
(@) No provision for Hong Kong has been made as the Group () RAFE > ARAEBNEEST

did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2019: Nil).

The PRC, UK and USA income taxes in respect of
operations in Mainland China, the UK and the USA are
calculated at the applicable tax rates on the estimated
assessable profits for the year, based on the prevailing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The USA corporate income tax provision represented
withholding tax provision calculated at the applicable tax
rate on interest income of intercompany advances to
subsidiaries in the USA for the year, based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

MREBELENERTEAR -
It WEREF BT RER( TN
FE|E) -

AREEB@PBEALRE - KB RER
KEEBODE - KEREEMS
Bt ERRBORN - WARIERA 7
MIRITERE  RENEEER - &
FREATERGE -

A EO KGR TR
BERME - RERITER  RER
AW ARAEANEA DD AR
L EL RN N el
it -
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11. INCOME TAX (continued) 11. FR/RGE)

Notes: (continued) Kiat - (&)

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to (b) EREANRAARRERNZHKNE
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory tax rates for the NAZEMEMBNFDEEERNT
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of AR (EE)aEERZTE L
its subsidiaries operate to the tax expense/(credit) at the WBREER (Ee)  HEERETERH
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable tax RAEHHFHEBEER (EH)m Y
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, B UREBARR(AEERR)M
are as follows: BB RHRAT
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_E-EF+-A=t+—HILEE

Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
ER REAE %8 1 At
HKS'000 %  HK$000 %  HKS$000 %  HKS000 %  HKS000 %
iz FET iz %3 iz %3 iz
Proftoss) before tax HaEH/ (BR) 13272 179,961 (40,065) (65430) 67,738

Tax credit/xoenses ot the statutory AR EL

tax rate HEgS/(BR) 2,190 165 44,990 20 (11,218) 20 (16,445) 193 19,517 289
Income not subject foax SERTMIA (G060 (38) (686) 04) (197) 20 - - 65 )
Expenses not edutible fortax FUENMENEE 2860 25 39 02 3% ©2 1616 (19 8102 120
Adjustment n respect of current tax SLB HRNAE

of previous periods TRfELRAR - - 87 - - - - - 87 01
Temporary diference not recognised ~~ REZ B EEE - - - - - - 15,182 (178 15182 24
Taxlosses not recognised FERTEEE 10 0.1 19,993 1141 8,485 21.2) 2,205 26 30,13 453
Tax expense/{credt) at the Group's RRERERH%

effective tax rate STERE

£3/(8%) - - 64,713 359 (233) 06 2578 (30) 67,058 99.0
Year ended 31 December 2019 82— hWF1+=-A=1+—HLFE
Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
B HERRE EX] G aif
HK$'000 % HK$000 %  HK$000 %  HKS$000 %  HKS$000 %
bz FEr & & bz
Proft before tax iyl 14,682 67,504 11,943 88,083 182,112
Tax expense at the statutory AR B

taxrate HEBH 2,406 165 16,876 25 47 40 17,617 20 41,676 229
Income not subjct {0 tax EERTIA 684 (466 (264) 04 (@454 B 69 79 (85%) (102
Expenses not deductible for tax FUEHNRENER 4,386 301 1861 28 - - 121 0.1 6,368 35
Effect of withholding tax on interest Rifiaexa

income derived from the USA HEkARTE - - - - 493 41 - - 493 03
Adjustment in respect of current tax SBEERONSHE

of previous periods fEiL AR - - 3% 06 - - - = 3% 02
Taxlosses not recognised AEDHEEE 12 - 9529 141 (23%3) [ - - 9,308 51
Temporary diferences not recognised ~ REFERIEEE - - 54729 811 - - (10409) (g 434 243
Taxexpenseat the Group's effective. RS EERFE

tax rate SENREER - - 83,127 1231 493 41 40 05 84,030 464
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE_—FF+_-A=+—H

12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders
of the Company and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2020, no
adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amount presented in respect of a dilution as the impact
of the perpetual convertible bonds and share options
outstanding during the year either had an anti-dilutive effect
or did not have a diluting effect on the earnings per share
amount presented.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2019, the
calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders
of the Company, adjusted to reflect the deemed conversion
of all dilutive perpetual convertible bonds at the beginning
of that year, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the total of (i) the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during that year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation; and (i)
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued on the deemed conversion of all dilutive
perpetual convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the
Company. The share options outstanding during the year
ended 31 December 2019 did not have a diluting effect on
the earnings per share amount presented.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 5 Rk TR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. HAFIBRHELSEEZF(E)

TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share

BREANESRNSBAELER

amounts are based on the following data: DA -
Earnings ZF|
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit for the year attributable to AARREEIEAREE
shareholders of the Company, Al AR
used in the basic earnings per STESREARERT
share calculation 552 98,599
Interest on perpetual convertible KA R RAE AT B
bonds - 1,220
Profit for the year attributable to KRR RELAFE
shareholders of the Company, wmAl o AR
used in the diluted earnings per STESREERT
share calculation 552 99,819
Number of ordinary shares TEREA
Number of shares
BOEE
2020 2019
—E-FF —T-hEF

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during
the year, used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution of perpetual
convertible bonds — weighted
average number of ordinary
shares

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares during the year,
used in the diluted earnings per
share calculation

AEESREARAF AR
FREEHTEBR 2N
ERDSE
3,199,373,986
IKARR BB S B
TE - EERhE
FHH

3,196,784,946

1,366,330,541

AESREERN
PR & B 2
AN 2K
3,199,373,986

4,563,115,487
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31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥X - BERER
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEME fiffh - £ER
% WAERE RE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T FET
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-E-E%
TZRA=t+-HLEFE
At 1 January 2020: R-Z_ZF-A—H:
Cost KR 10,186 24,681 2,502 37,369
Accumulated depreciation 2ihE (4,908) (17,151) (1,853) (23,912
Net carrying amount REFE 5,278 7,530 649 13,457
Net carrying amount: FREFE -
At 1 January 2020 W-E-F%&—-f—H 5,278 7,530 649 13,457
Additions NE 74 208 - 282
Depreciation provided during TEEHRNEHH6)
the year (note §) (2,987) (2,669) (235) (5,885)
Disposals = - (27) - (27)
Exchange realignment fEH A% 158 218 26 402
At 31 December 2020 R=E-ZF+-A=1—H 2,523 5,266 440 8,229
At 31 December 2020: RZBZEE+-f=1—-H:
Cost XA 10,852 26,327 2,656 39,835
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (8,329) (21,061) (2,216) (31,606)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,523 5,266 440 8,229




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 5 Rk TR

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. $%E - BB R fE (&)

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buiding  improvements equipment vehicles Total
AEDX i REW \
5 B HOZHE s it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000
AT BT AT AT AT
Year ended 31 December 2019  HZ=F-ff
TZAZ+-BLEE
At1 January 2019: R-E-NE-A-H:
Cost or valuation KAZ(EE 404,251 9,338 22,384 2,545 438,518
Accumulated depreciation Z2iiE (38,599 (4,429 (14,434 (1,648) (59,104)
Net carrying amount BEE 365,652 4915 7,950 897 379,414
Net carrying amount: REFE :
At 1 January 2019 R=E-NF—-A-H 365,652 4915 7,950 897 379,414
Addttions e - 1,010 3,067 - 4077
Depreciation provided during RERHEE
the year (note 8) (H:8) (8,398) (559) (3171) (237) (12,365)
Disposals e - - (190) = (190)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE-RNBARHH4) (326,413) = = = (326,419)
Surplus on revaluation s 11,883 = = = 11,883
Exchange realignment ERHE (42,724) 89) (126) (11) (42,949)
At 31 December 2019 RZEF-NET-A=1-H — 5278 7,630 649 13,457
At 31 December 2019: RZE-h&E+-A=t-H:
Cost AR - 10,186 24,681 2,502 37,369
Accumulated depreciation ZiE = (4,908) (17,151) (1859) (23912)
Net carrying amount FEEE — 5,278 7,530 649 13,457
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31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Note:

The building of the Group as at 1 January 2019 was a self-
occupied commercial building located in Beijing, which
was disposed of by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019 in exchange for another property in Beijing
under an asset exchange transaction, as further detailed
in note 34 to the financial statements. Immediately prior
to the disposal of the property on 31 October 2019, the
building portion (included in property, plant and equipment)
and leasehold land portion (included in right-of-use assets
(note 15(a)) were revalued on 31 October 2019 based on
a valuation performed by Knight Frank Petty Limited, an
independent professional qualified valuer, at an open market
value of RMB682,000,000 (equivalent to HK$759,100,000)
in total, resulting in a revaluation surplus of HK$22,420,000
which has been recognised as other comprehensive income
in the property revaluation reserve during the year ended 31
December 2019.

The fair value of the property was measured using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in HKFRS 13).
During the year, there was no transfer into or out of Level 3
(2019: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the
key input to the valuation of the property:

Valuation technique

fEER

13. % - BE R (i)

Hiat T—h&—A—B A&EEE
+ﬁm MERE— R E AR EE
FREFHASEERHE=ZT
—n¢+ )E!f+—EI¢¢J*aEﬁ
HE -  WEREERIBRRZETR
EFEHS R - ﬁ—iﬁlﬁﬁu
WS IRR M sE34 Tl « BN
—NFE+A=+—BLHEYHERA -
BERBS (GFAYE - BERZE
FORMAE LIS (GFAEREE
EF(HE15@)ER=ZE—NF
TA=+—RETEM - RIEBL
BELSEIRGEMAESATAITTE
FRAREITHEE - ARmSER
4 £ A R#682,000,0007T (FE R
759,100,000 /& 7t ) + BB E #H &
B &1 #:22,420,000/8 TN B &
—hWE+-—A=+—BHILFEME
EffREETERAEMEE RS

MELZAFEHERERTAER
BWABE=ZER) (ERLBEHB
WEERNFIBH)FE - RAFE -
BMEEASELE=ELNAFE
AECENAFE) -

AN R S b B PTER R RO (i (B Rl
REBBABEHE

Significant
unobservable input

ERTABRBARE

Weighted average
InfEF

31 October

2019

—E-NEF
+A=+-H
(date of disposal)
HERH

Leasehold land and building
HETHREF

Direct comparison

HELR

The valuation of the property was based on the direct
comparison approach by reference to comparable market
transactions. A significant increase (decrease) in the
estimated price per square metre in isolation would result
in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
property.

RMB24,308
AR%24,3087T

Price per square metre
GEFHRER

IR AT B R T L5 32 1R MR
HBCEME - 55K BBt it WA AN
SN ORL) S B B 3 2 T (B A W8 10
L)
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BREYX
Under
Completed construction Total
=535 wESP At
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Kit(a)) (Ktat (b))
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET BT FET
Carrying amount as at RZZE-NF—A—HBH
1 January 2019 BREE 1,656,442 519,228 2,175,670
Additions NE 1,624,354 245,931 1,770,285
Interest capitalised BARER) B — 4,355 4,355
Net loss from fair value N ERBREERNFER
adjustments (140,730) (1,444) (142,174)
Transfer from properties B A ELEmE
held for sale (note (c)) (Hiit(c) 782,287 — 782,287
Transfer upon completion & T 14 fE
of construction 569,064 (569,064) —
Transfer to an asset held ERERIENECEE
for sale (note 24) (Btat24) (335,901) — (335,901)
Exchange realignment B 7, (73,734) (1,140) (74,874)
Carrying amount as at RZE—NF+=H
31 December 2019 =t—BRZZEZZF
and 1 January 2020 — A—H/ERMEE 3,981,782 197,866 4,179,648
Additions INE - 10,970 10,970
Net gain from fair value NHERABEER
adjustments el 6,699 1,440 8,139
Transfer from properties B A ELEME
held for sale (note (c)) (K1t (c) 300,934 - 300,934
Exchange realignment PE 5 EEE 154,578 (960) 153,618
Carrying amount as at RZE=FTF+=A
31 December 2020 =—t+—H/REE 4,443,993 209,316 4,653,309
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31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s completed investment properties as at 31
December 2020 represented two commercial buildings
located in London, the UK; a commercial and residential
complex located in Santa Monica, the County of Los
Angeles, State of California, the USA (the “US Complex”);
and a commercial building located in Beijing, the PRC,
which are leased to third parties under operating leases,
further summary details of which are set out in note 15 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, one of the commercial
buildings located in the UK was included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale as the Group had been
actively negotiating with interested parties for the sale of
that property since 2019 and signed a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the subsidiary which owns such
property subsequently in January 2021, as further details in
note 24 to the financial statements.

The Group’s investment property under construction as at
31 December 2020 represented a parcel of land located
in Culver City, the USA, which was acquired on 27 March
2019 at a cash consideration of US$24,000,000.

During the year, the use of certain units in the properties
held for sale has been changed upon the inception of
operating leases with external third parties. As a result, the
leased portion of the properties held for sale was transferred
to completed investment properties and a remeasurement
gain of HK$$124,882,000 (2019: HK$301,460,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

Each year, the Group’s senior management decides which
external valuers to be appointed for the external valuations
of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained.

The Group’s senior management has ongoing discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and results
when the valuations are performed. The Group’s investment
properties (including a property classified as a non-current
asset held for sale or included in a disposal group held for
sale (note 24)) were revalued on 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 based on valuations performed by Jones
Lang LaSalle Limited, Knight Frank Petty Limited, Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, Colliers International
Valuation UK LLP and Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc.,
independent professionally qualified valuers.

14. BEMEGE)

Hii -

(@)

RZZE-_ZFE+-_A=t+—R%K

AN 3% &= k7 E $i- vl
HHOMEREEET - LREEMNA
EE%M%%%%EE%WW%E
FEME(XBEEMED

NI R —EHEET &%

FRELEMEEEATE=7 - £
E— IR EFBHN M B IRKRIM T
15 ¢

RZEZZTFR=ZT—NF+=H
=1+ —H AR ERN—EEEE
%#A“ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%Zﬁﬁﬁ

CHEAEEE T —NFUK
—Eﬁﬁﬁﬂ ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁuﬁﬁ
;Z%%HEEA_EZ_EE A%2E
BEEMENLEREZMENN B
AAEl BB R RERNE
24 °

RZZEZTF+ZA=+—HBHASE
ErERPREMEEMNRER
T@EHz Lt ER -
—NWE=ZA-+tBUREARE
24,000,0003 T L BE -

RAFE  BINBE=TRTLE
HER  FHIEHEMENHDET
ZERBELEES - Ft - RAFE

FIEHEMEBEMNEERIER
ERERBRENERNERE W%m

& U 3 5 124,882,000 7T (= &
— 74 : 301,460,000/ 7T) °

BF AEESRERBAERME
W—INEHEMNEEREERE

WERS BB E - BRERBIET
BHE BUMRRETEFEEK
S o

AEES ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@%&ﬁ

15@51?—#@5\ minERRRER -

RZE_TFR_FT— ﬂ¢+ A
=+—H AEEZEEVME(BRE
“E%HWEEZ%mEEEiﬁ
AFHEHE 2 B E AR 802 (5T
24)) B 183 %%éé%ﬁ@%mms
Lang LaSalle Limited ~ %&£ 81 51 fil
17 B BR A 7] * Colliers International
(Hong Kong) Limited Colliers
International Valuation UK LLP %
Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc.

EITHEEMS -



14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

Notes: (continued)

(©)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

At 31 December 2019, fair value measurements of all of
the Group’s investment properties are using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in HKFRS 13).
During the year, there was no transfer into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment

RAYMRR)
Hriz . (%)

(d) (%)

AFEERIEE

R-ZE—HhFE+-_A=+—H " &
EEREAMENR T EFEHER
BATAEBERGAE(E=ER) (E
BERBBUBREEAE13R) o B
AEE  BESEANEBHE=ER

AT E -

AT RAAEERE M EMAEMR
RE S ERl Rk ERE AEOR

properties:
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
TRER EXTAEEGAE BAEEE
2020 2019
ZECEf “E-NE
Completed investment properties
BRERRENE
A commercial building Income capitalisation () Equivalent yield 4.51% 4.18%
in the UK (i) Unit market rent per £64.20 per £57.36 per
month square metre of square metre of
gross floor area gross floor area
REENEEET WAEAR{E ) ZEKEX
(i) BABMHHE 4.51% 4.18%
B¥EK BFHA
BEEEE BREEE
64.20558 57.365 8%
The US complex Income capitalisation () Capitalisation rate 4.4% 4.5%
(i) Unit market rent per US$57-US$84 US$66-US$s4
month per square metre of per square metre of
gross floor area and gross floor area and
US$6,100-US$8,000 US$5,200-US$9,500
per unit of bedroom per unit of bedroom
or townhouse or townhouse
ERlFEME WABREE () BEAe=x 4.4% 4.5%
i) SABLTHEAS SEK SFNK
BEREEE BREEE
5TXTE84ETT B6ETLEBAETT
REENEEDR LB EMBER
B EE6,100E T2 BPEE 5,200 T
8,000% 7T 29,5005 7T
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. &3 (i)
Notes: (continued) et - (&)
(d) (continued) (@) (&)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

N ERERIRE(E)

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
HE R EXTABERAE WAESE
2020 2019
ZECBE “B-hE
A commercial buildingin -~ Income capitalisation () Sales comparison RMB52,200-RMB63,800 RMB52,200-RMB63,800

the PRC per square metre per square metre
for retail and for retail and
RMB45,200-RMB55,970  RMB43,600-RMB53,300
per square metre per square metre
for office for office
R ENERET () SHELR ZEE TEE
FE5K ¥k
AR¥52,200LE AR¥52,2000E
AEK#63,8007T AR™63,8007T
RUAE RHAE
SEIK SRk
AEK#45200702 AR#43,600L2
AER¥55,9707 ARE53,3007T
Investment property under construction
HEPRENE
A parcel of land located Income capitalisation ()  Sales comparison US$743 US$699
in Culver City, per square metre per square metre
the USA of gross floors area of gross floor area
fir S E-RE A WABRILE () HELR ¥R SRIPN
—SR1i BEEER BEEEE
T43% 7T 699 T
Included in a disposal group held for sale (note 24)
FTARMEE 2 AR (Hi24)
A commercial building Income capitalisation () Equivalent yield 5.01% 5.36%
in the UK
(i) Unit market rent per £49.05 per square metre  £51.08 per square metre
month of gross floor area of gross floor area
RRBIMEEETF () ZEE%kEx 5.01% 5.36%
(i) BRELMEESE BYHK BYHK
BEREE BEREE
49.05% 88 51.085L8%

ERAWABARER DERAIGEIRE
MERMFHSWA - YA REEY
XHERES -

The income capitalisation approach is applied based
on net rental income that can be derived from existing
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
potential of the properties.
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14.

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(d) (continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental
value in isolation would result in a significant increase
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase (decrease) in the equivalent yield and
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for
the estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally
similar change in the rental value and an opposite change in
the equivalent yield and the capitalisation rate.

(e) At 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a total carrying amount of HK$2,819,153,000
(2019: HK$2,463,059,000) were pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 28(a)), a loan from a
financial institution (note 28(b)) and loans from a joint venture
partner of a subsidiary (note 28(g)).

LEASES

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of two commercial properties in the UK, one
residential and commercial property in the USA and one
commercial property in the PRC to third parties and a related
party in which two directors of the Company have beneficial
interests, under operating lease arrangements for terms
ranging between 1 and 8 years (2019: 1 and 10 years).
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the contract terms. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$99,412,000 (2019:
HK$78,817,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

14.

15.

RAYMRR)
Hriz . (%)
(d) (%)
AT EERHE(E

@A ESEEARE LT (TE)
SEHREMERTERNELFA(CT
&) - SEURRXREAMEXREFK
tE LA (TR @BBREMERF
BERETRE (L) —RM=E -
AT HEBEEMERRNESDS
HBETE S EEMRR T MA)EE) A K
FERBERREMEERERT R

©) RZEZTF+_A=+—H &
S EIEIFRAE A £2,819,153,000
BT ZZ— N4 : 2,463,059,000/%
TMETREMEEARTAEE
BERTTRLE 2 1R (M FE28(a)) ~ 2R
B & r g 2 B (M sE28(b)) &R
BE—REWBRARIZEERRIEEA
2B (FizE28()) °

HE

AEBREBECEHELERAE=HRA
RAIMBEEEE E i m R S o
HAELEME(ME14) (BIEEEERN
WERAME EERN—BEERD
BYEREREN—EIAYE)  #
EHAIFERSF(ZT—NF 15510
FITE - ZSHENER—RERHA
FYXHRES @ WA LREAS ST
HAZRHES - AEERANFERERNE
F U A £99,412,000/8 (= — N4 ¢
78,817,000/ L) + HF BT AN KR
RHFEES ©
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15.

LEASES (continued)

At 31 December 2020, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

HER)

RZZ_ZF+_A=+—0  A5H
RIFEEMEFRITH T Al BUEH K =M
B IRREE B R TR E R
LU

2020 2019

—e-%fF —E-hE

HK$°000 HK$000

FET T

Within one year —FNR 84,127 61,105
After one year but within two years —FBEREN 68,923 38,775
After two years but within three years ~ F4E{EE =X 53,708 34,617
After three years but within four years = FEENER 37,721 28,637
After four years but within five years WEEBRFER 21,279 25,389
After five years AFE 7,513 27,332
Total T 273,271 215,855

The Group’s operating lease receivables as at 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2019 are disclosed in note 20 to the
financial statements.

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for office
premises, staff quarters, a fitness centre, several units of
a recreational centre, a motor vehicle and several items
of equipment for use in its operations. Leases of office
premises, staff quarters, a fitness centre and several units
of a recreational centre have lease terms between 3 and 4
years, while the motor vehicle has a lease term of 3 years.
Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or
less and/or is individually of low value. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

ZIS‘EEEA Z_EEF+_A=+—HEK
—hET-A=+T—HNEERK
Z‘Hifﬁﬁ KB 76 SRR P L 20 4R 5%

REBEREMAA @ HMERLEWE -
BIE®E - —M@EEHL - —FTRERA
DETEL - —WSEMAREEBKE
EMETREEENZEAE L HE
Fo-MA=EmE - BIFS  —HEH
FLR—FARRSRLETE T ZHER
HEMAIELF  MABEMHEEHRES
B3F o AR ENHE R T R12E
AAT &Sk fE B R B EERE -
—RiMmE » NEB T MALERAINA
THEERSHEESE -
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE(#\)
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) FAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use REE 7 (FBHEEERTERK
assets and the movements during the year are as FEEHMT :
follows:
Leasehold Office Motor
land premises vehicle Total
HETH WAEYE AE ast

HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET T FET FET

(note)
(Hi:z)
At 1 January 2019 R=E-NF—HF—H 405,946 13,182 639 419,767
Additions NE - 35,264 - 35,264
Depreciation provided during KEERHRTE(H17#8)
the year (note 8) (9,469) (8,698) (308) (18,475)
Surplus on revaluation BfhAR% 10,537 - - 10,537
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34)  HE B AT
(H1z#34) (432,687) - - (432,687)
Exchange realignment [ % 25,673 (500) 1 25,174
At 31 December 2019 and 1 RZZ-NF+=A
January 2020 il el = e e
—H—H - 39,248 332 39,580
Additions NE - 2,983 - 2,983
Depreciation provided during AEZIENE
the year (note 8) (f7:28) - (17,914) (305) (18,219)
Lease modification HEEE - (20,014) - (20,014)
Exchange realignment [ % - 1,176 (1) 1,175
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-_TF+_H
=r=E - 5,479 26 5,505
Note: It was stated at a revalued amount less Hiet - HREHSBRIFATER
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated ERRFHREEEYE - A
impairment losses, further details of the fair value FEFENE —FFBHA
measurement is included in note 13 to the financial B TS RRMIFE1S -
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE_—FF+_-A=+—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE(E)
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under HEBBZREE(BERITR
bank and other borrowings) and the movements HER) RAFEEEHMT :

during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
—ECEF —h&E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
At 1 January nR—A—H 39,603 13,821
New leases RS 2,983 35,264
Accretion of interest recognised REFBHERFE
during the year (note 7) e (HaE7) 1,053 555
Payments (NES (19,821) (9,539)
Lease modification HEE (19,762) —
Exchange realignment [& 5 1,427 (498)
At 31 December E"Jr —A=+—H 5,483 39,603
Portion classified as current NEAERBEERD
liabilities (3,913) (18,704)
Non-current portion JERNERER 7 1,570 20,899
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBERNEIE A ST RN
note 41 to the financial statements. TERFMTFEA1 ©
(c)  Other lease information (c) EHmHEELH
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to HEEEARNIBEmANERN 2
leases are as follows: FORNE
2020 2019
—EBCEF — &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAER S 1,053 555
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEENE
assets 18,219 18,475
Expense relating to short-term G HAHE R BN
leases X - 7
Loss on lease modification HMEEFENEER 252 —
Total amount recognised in profit R 1825 NFERKIE
or loss 4a%EE 19,524 19,037
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note HEMIR ML BERENI S
35(c) to the financial statements. HERMFE35(C) °



16. COMPUTER SOFTWARE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. EEEEH

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At 1 January: R—H—H8:
Cost AN 1,719 1,300
Accumulated amortisation g £ (636) (407)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,083 893
Net carrying amount: REVFE :
At 1 January R—A—H 1,083 893
Additions NE = 448
Amortisation provided during NG R i
the year (note 8) (H1:£8) (191) (239)
Exchange realignment P& 3 2 56 (19)
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 948 1,083
At 31 December: Rt+-—A=+—8:
Cost D9 1,825 1,719
Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (877) (636)
Net carrying amount BREVHE 948 1,083
17. DEBT INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. BROFEFARMBZHEKSE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HEERE
INCOME
2020 2019
—E-FF TN
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Unlisted debt investments, FELETERIRE -
at fair value BANFET=E 24,562 46,518

The unlisted debt investments were designated as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income as
the Group plans to both hold the financial assets to collect
their contractual cash flows and sell them, as appropriate.

I BRI ARIETE ARATEA
Hip 2 EREHSBEE - HERAE
B B A S MAEARDEAORS
TR REEER) -

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the gross loss
in respect of fair value remeasurement of the unlisted debt
investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$967,000 (2019: gross gain amounted to
HK$1,424,000) and a gain on disposal of certain unlisted
debt investments amounting to HK$144,000 (2019:

HK$1,761,000) was recycled to profit or loss.

BE_ 2 _TF+_A=+—HItF
B HRAREMEEWENIELEmE
BREZEHFTEATFEZEEES
967,000 L (— T —NF : A=A
1,424,000 70 ) R L &EE T IELETER
BE 7 W B144,0008 T (ZE—H
F 11,761,000/ E BB =18 o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

18.

19.

20.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 18.

Properties held for sale of the Group as at 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2019 represented a certain portion
of a commercial building located in Beijing, the PRC, which
was acquired on 31 October 2019 through acquisition of
the entire interest of Capable Kingdom Limited. Further
summary details of the acquisition are included in note 34 to

the financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, certain properties held for sale
with a then carrying amount of HK$956,460,000 (2019:
HK$1,028,362,000) were pledged to secure the loans from
a joint venture partner of a subsidiary (note 28(g)).

FIEHEME
REERZZ_ZTF+-_HA=+—H0K
TE-AF+-A=F—HZEERE
WERBMNPRIE RN —EEEET
ME—HD  ZEFR-_Z—LF+
A =+—H## i Capable Kingdom
Limited z 2 #piEz= mES - BRAKEE
B2 #E— S EFBEN YRR T
34

R-BE-_TF+_A=+—H8 x&EE
30 & B BR 11 (B 2956,460,000/8 7T ( —
T — L4 1 1,028,362,000/8 7T ) B9 T
BIEHEWMHEERKE —HANBERA
ZEERNREBAZERTAER K
28(e)) °

INVENTORIES 19. &H®
2020 2019
- —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Food and beverages B Rk 325 122
Other operating items for ERLENEMKEIAR
restaurant operations 294 292
Goods for resale EmEs 164 696
Repair and maintenance parts IS RIRE TR 1,429 1,130
2,212 2,240
TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 20. BERESRBRERR
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 8RR 90,790 40,857
Lease receivables JEUFR E B8R TR 16,910 3,253
Total gross trade and lease FEWE 5 R ER B
receivables 107,700 44,110
Less: Impairment (note (b)) B B (HTEEDb) (14,873) (10,536)
92,827 33,574




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Notes:

(@)

Trade and lease receivables are non-interest bearing and
arise from the provision of property management services,
leasing of investment properties and operations of the
Recreational Centre. Tenants of the Group’s managed
properties are required to pay a calendar year’s property
management service fees annually in advance.

The Group’s credit terms of its trade and lease receivables
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with tenants of the properties managed
by the Group, tenants of investment properties and
customers of the Recreational Centre. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

Included in the Group’s trade and lease receivables as at
31 December 2020 are amounts of HK$45,062,000 (2019:
HK$4,847,000) in total due from companies controlled
by two directors of the Company, which are repayable on
credit terms similar to those offered to other tenants in the
ordinary course of business. Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, both
being directors of the Company, have beneficial interests in
these related parties.

At 31 December 2020, certain lease receivables of
HK$16,910,000 (2019: HK$3,253,000) in total were
pledged to secure bank loan facilities granted to the Group
for financing the purchase of two commercial buildings in
London, the UK (note 28(a)).

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

FEER 7R EEER(IE)

HEE

@)

Y E B R ERRL B RR
RUEMEEERT  HEREME
gERBHORES - AFHEMA
AEBEREZYE  ABFEAMN—
EEFzMEEERBER -

AEBERKE S RAERRNEES
GroEBREAEBEENYEMR
F - BREMEHEP RKEFLEP
B—REBERERR L - AKH
W % FHRBRF B EMERRL
HAb SRR -

AEBR - -_TF+_A=+—
AREKE S RASRRSIEREK
RARIMBEFESN AR 2 KIE
& 45,062,000 L (ZF— N5 :
4,847,000 7T) * WHKIZBEEHT
¥ BiEhmEMBEPRENE
FRIEFARELRERIRREER - 28
EERBEEGIARRRRER)RN
ZERRE AT miEw

R-ZB-_TF+-_A=+—H &
T pE Y78 & BR 3 A& $£16,910,000%8
JL(ZZE—h%F : 3,253,000/87T) 2
BIREAAEEEE LE RBME
BT (M5E28()) MERIRTE
HEhE Z AR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

20. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 20.

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(o) An ageing analysis of the trade and lease receivables, based
on the due date and net of impairment, is as follows:

PR R 7 B H B R (48)

Hiat - (&)

)

B A EKRE S REERK
(EFNERRE) 2 BREC AT LA T

2020 2019

i —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Current =5 73,330 27,719
Past due: EaH

Less than 1 year PR—F 14,191 2,770

1 year to 2 years —EMFE 2,831 2,342

2 years to 3 years e =F 2,475 743

92,827 33,574

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade and lease receivables during the year are as follows:

NAFE  ERE S REERTR
EFERENEBIT

2020 2019

g 32 —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

At 1 January n—AH—H 10,536 13,088
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) ERERRE CRERE)

recognised, net (note 8) FRE(HEE8) 3,492 (2,395)

Transfer to assets of a disposal group EREREREZ

held for sale (note 24) HE BRI EE(f7F24) (6) -

Exchange realignment (RIS 851 (157)

14,873 10,536

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on the average
of historical incurred credit loss experience on each
ageing group of trade and lease receivables. Generally,
trade and lease receivables are written off if they are not
considered recoverable by the Group and are not subject to
enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 5 Rk TR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

20. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 20. BEWRESHRBEERE)

(continued)

Notes: (continued) izt - (48)

(b) (continued) (b) (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk BERAAEBERXBRBREEETEARE
exposure on the Group’s trade and lease receivables using WESEEEREZNEERRER
a provision matrix: HyT -
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE_ZTF+=-_A=1+—H

Ageing based on due date

ERZIH AR
Less
than 1to 2to Over
Current 1year 2years 3years 3years Total
BB OR-F -EWmF MEZF ZHFUNUE it
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 062%  6.75%  36.01%  70.99% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) ERAE(TAT) 73,789 15218 4,424 8,533 5,736 107,700
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) REEERR(TET) 459 1,027 1,503 6,058 5736 14,873
As at 31 December 2019 R=T—hF+=—A=+—H

Ageing based on due date

ER5IH B B R
Less

than 1to 2to Over
Current 1year 2years 3years  3years Total
B OR-F -EWME WMEZF ZENE it

Expected credit loss rate BHEEFEX 200%  2001%  50.99%  73.99% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FEEAE(TET) 28,284 3,463 4779 2,857 4727 44110
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEBE(TET) 565 693 2,437 2,114 4721 10536
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

21.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21.

RFTRIA - 5T& K H i fE

RECEIVABLES 3]
2020 2019
—E_EHF —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Prepayments TERTFIR 12,397 7,015
Deposits and other A& R E A EKGRIE
receivables 44,591 46,037
Loan receivables (note) EWER (A aE) 63,278 2,207
120,266 55,259
Portion classified as current DEEREEEDRD
assets (119,078) (54,140
Non-current portion JEmENER D 1,188 1,119
Note: Hiaz -

Each of the loan receivables bears interest at a fixed rate, will
become repayable in the year of 2020 and is secured by a trade
receivable of the borrower with a security value to loan ratio of more
than 2 times. During the year, interest income of HK$1,451,000
(2019: HK$1,585,000) was recognised in profit or loss in respect
of these loan receivables. The financial assets included in the
above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default and past due amounts. At 31 December 2020
and 2019, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. No
ECLs were recognised against these loan receivables as, in the
opinion of directors, the loss given default rate of each of these loan
receivables is close to zero.
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B8 WHERANERE ZEX(GERE
B RBBE)EER - TN - BhZFE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

22. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 22, HRBARIEEER
The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest- HHEAE A A A EEE - 48 BEE
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. TEEFRET o
Amounts due from related parties, disclosed pursuant RIZFBCRA REBI)EE383(1)(d)
to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies BEAR(WBEEENzEER)
Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure 71 YEE 38N 45 57 HY JE UK B BA: 5 3k
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, THAT :

are as follows:

Maximum At31 Maximum
amount December amount
At31  outstanding 2019and  outstanding At1
December during the 1 January during the January
Company name 2020 current year 2020 prior year 2019
R=B-h§
S T=h
b 223 =t-Ak joked
tT=A A5ERS -BCEF FERR R-B-1F
NRER =t-B  ®EELH -A-B  AHEELE -A-AR

HK$000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

The ultimate holding BARERD R
company*
Winluck Global Winluck Global 355 355 = 355 18
Director-controlled ESEHNEE L
related parties*
FREREXERAT FREREXERAT
(‘Beiing Guolong) (@) 2,501 2,501 1,963 1,963 1,637
Kaipeng Technology® SRR - - - - 11,314
IREBEHEERMERAR LREBEHEEHM
(‘Beiing Jiqu’) BRAR(HEm&E]) - - - 26 26
Silky Apex Limited Silky Apex Limited
(“Siky Apex’) (T'Siky Apex]) % % - % 2
Gang Rui International Investment /& ${ Bl 5 & (B 75)
(HK) Limited ‘Gang Ruf’) BRAR %ﬁj) 360 360 360 360 360
FREHEHERSEERAR  IRBHEFERS
(“Guorui Property BRAR(EHEE
Development’) FiE]) 30,945 30,945 22,569 22,722 -
34,196 24,892 13,357
Other related parties )l 35,643 24,982 -
69,839 49,874 13,357
* Two directors of the Company, namely Mr. Wei and * ARaMBES(AIREE
Mr. Sun, have beneficial interests in these related FRBEE)RZEBE S F
parties. HEETER -
a This entity became a subsidiary of the Group during 0 IARIEREE=T—NF
the year ended 31 December 2019. +—A=+—HLFEKAE

REEZHBAE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

22. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(continued)

23.

The balances as at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 mainly represented short term
advances from related parties in which Mr. Wei and
Mr. Sun have beneficial interests.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22. HRMBEHRYEER(E)

R-BE-_TF+_A=1+—HK
—EBE-AF+-A=t—BZ&
BREBRREERREEHEE
TS HREE 5 2 IR o

23. EENRTERRA®RB
eFR®/H

2020 2019
—ECEE —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Cash and bank balances bR T BATF SR OMROIR € I 5R
other than time deposits 1THERR 196,147 286,045
Time deposits TE BAfE SR = -
Total cash and bank balances & MIBTT 8 AE5E 196,147 286,045

Less: Pledged bank deposit W BEIRERITIE

(note (c)) (K15t () - (39,168)
Cash and cash equivalents ReFREEEY 196,147 246,877

Notes:

(@)

At 31 December 2020, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$89,871,000
(2019: HK$122,727,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. A short term time deposit was made for
a period of twelve months, and earns interest at the short
term time deposit rate. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At 31 December 2019, a bank deposit of US$5,003,000
(equivalent to HK$39,168,000) was pledged to a bank for
the issuance of a standby letter of credit in respect of future
settlement to a contractor for the construction of the US
Complex.
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Mt

(@) R-_EBE-_ZTF+_A=+—H" &
SERAREIENES RIEITE
#3£89,871,0008 (=T — .4 :
122,727,000 7T) ° BE ARBT
BERHEMEBAREE  BRIBE
Fp B8 K e A N BE B IR M4 I A B -
EERMNEEERTE  AEBEMU
BBRAEETINEEBRERITEA
RE Sk H S -

(b) RITEFREE BRTHERF TG
B2FHNEGGE - RPEHMER
ZEFBRT @R REBZRE
HIE M A EGHE - RITHEBRTT
AT HINE R K RD 8k T AEE AR
e

(© R-_ZE—-hE+-_A=+—8"
$R 77 17 715,003,000 € 7T (#H & ©
39,168,000/ 7T ) B3 FER1T + A
SHRAEABEABEBEXEGE
YERETRELEEHRK -



24,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF A
DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE/

NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

In December 2019, the directors of the Company decided
to sell a commercial building (an investment property) of GR
Properties UK Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, located in the UK and the Group signed
the head of terms with a potential independent third party on
15 January 2020. Since the property is immediately available
for sale, the directors expected that the disposal could be
completed within one year. Accordingly, the investment
property is classified as a non-current asset held for sale
and is separately presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019.

A new head of terms was signed by the Group with another
potential independent third party on 8 July 2020. Pursuant
to a sale and purchase agreement entered into between GR
UK Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as a vendor), and an independent third party (as a
purchaser) dated 8 January 2021, GR UK Holdings Limited
agreed to dispose of the entire interest of GR Properties UK
Limited to the independent third party for a consideration of
£30,960,000 (equivalent to HK$325,876,000). The disposal
was completed on 8 January 2021. Further details are set
out in the Company’s circular dated 26 February 2021.

As the transaction was not completed as at 31 December
2020, GR Properties UK Limited was classified as a disposal
group held for sale.

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2020 —ZE_—FF+_-A=+—H

24.

BFEHECHEHNBTER
AR BEHEZEREDSE
=
i —NE+=8  ARREERE
i & GR Properties UK Limited ( Zx A &
MEEEENBAR) 2R KRN —
ERHEEFIREYE) BAKEER
_7_g¢ AT+HBAREBEEBIFE=
FHEEBETEI o ARZ Y ERERA]
HE  BEFEFHETEAIR —FRNT
Ko Bt MEMESBEARBELE
ZHERBEEIN=_ZT—NEF+=A
=t+t—BZEBEAUBRARTEZT
R o

AEBR_ZTE_TF+AN\BHRS—
BEBLFE-"FEZBHNEEHR R
BARNRMNEEZENERRIGR UK
Holdings Limited ({EAE 77 ) BB 5 =
HFWEBBER)FIVHMBHA-_ZE—_—4F
—AN\BBE &= * GR UK Holdings
Limited[® & #GR Properties UK Limited
7 2 2B #E 2 LA X 1B 30,960,000 3 &2 (#8
E 325,876,000/ ) HE TEE=
B mbEEEN_E-_—F—AN\A
El A R = A NN = o
—F A=+ RNHEZBEH

HRZERHGN_E_TF+=_A=+—
B AR5 © GR Properties UK Limited
SEARELE 2 LEHRA -

£33 2020 EfwESREAT 235



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

24. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF A 24,

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE/
NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

(continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Group’s
subsidiary classified as held for sale as at 31 December
2020 are as follows:

HEHEZHSEHRIEER
A BEHEZERDR
& ()

R-ZE-_TF+_A=1+—H K&EE

MEBARDBARIELECEERAR

HMEZMEAIAT -

2020 2019
b S 313 —ENEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hizt FET FET
Assets: BE
Investment property REME (@) 327,349 335,901
Trade and lease receivables B E 5 KA ERR 553 -
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  TBITHIE « 14 & A YR IE 3,962 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBREEEY 38,380 =
Assets of a disposal group held for sale BELE  HERRIBE 369,844 335,901
Liabilties: BfE:
Trade payables ERESER 1,010 -
Receipts in advance TRMEIR 1,905 =
Other payables and accruals HitENFERETER (b) 3,510 =
Bank and other borrowings AT R EMIER 119,966 -
Other tax payable HhERHE 152 -
Liabilities directly associated with the assets ~ EIHEHE 7 HEERIEE
of a disposal group held for sale EEREC AR 126,543 =
Net assets directly associated with the HINERRERRE
disposal group BESE 243,301 335,901
Notes: Kt -
(a) At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the investment property (@) RZE_ZEFR-_ZT—NFF+=A
was measured at fair value and was pledged as security for =+—H  BEWERLFEF=E
a banking facility granted to the Group (note 28(a)). BEARTASBENRITRE 2 &
R (Hi5E28(@)) °
(b) At 31 December 2020, an amount of HK$266,107,000 (b) R-_ZE-_ZTHF+_-_A=+—H ' &

due to the Company was excluded from the liabilities of GR
Properties UK Limited as disclosed above.
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25.

26.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

TRADE PAYABLES 25. EMEBER

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the average ENBEZERTEE - BFHEERR

credit period is 60 days. AB0K °

An ageing analysis of the Group'’s trade payables as at the BIERZAE  RREEER - KEERE

end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as NEZERFHERE ST

follows:

2020 2019
B8 —T—hF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET TFET

Within 3 months =EAR 19,434 21,330

4 to 6 months M7~ E A 2,591 2,519

7 to 12 months +=+ @A 2,272 4,896

Over 1 year —F LA 18,030 8,732

42,327 37,477

RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 26. TAULFRIA

2020 2019

b et 22 —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Contract liabilities GRAE 74,012 69,143
Other receipts in advance HipyauIa 21,555 28,477
95,567 97,620

Notes: FfaE -

(@) The Group’s receipts in advance represented (i) (@) 7R 5 B 9 FE WK IE $5 () ) A P WO
prepayments of property management fees received MEEBRBENRIE : (1 BPFAE
from tenants; (i) cash receipts from customers which are BRUABBEERBEHRLEENE
stored in membership cards for future consumption in the © 5 RiifmAEENIREMERP
Recreational Centre; and (iii) rental received in advance from TEWREES -

tenants of the Group’s investment properties.

(o) The Group’s contract liabilities as at 1 January 2019 (o) AEER=_ZT—NF—A—HBWME
amounted to HK$75,848,000. #)B{E4575,848,000/8 7T °
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. RfufEfRRARER

2020 2019

—ECEE —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHIT

Other payables H b TR 125,256 96,933
Accruals TEIRER 12,543 15,220
137,799 112,153

The Group’s other payables as at 31 December 2020
included, inter alia, the following:

(i) amounts of HK$2,887,000 (2019: HK$3,917,000)
in total payables to water, heating and electricity
suppliers in respect of public utility fees collected
from tenants on behalf of public utility suppliers;

(ii) refundable decoration deposits and property
management service fee deposits of HK$19,186,000
(2019: HK$16,288,000) in total received from tenants
of a commercial building and residential properties
managed by the Group; and

(iii) advances from independent third parties of
HK$52,616,000 (2019: HK$47,575,000) in total for
the purpose of maintaining daily working capital and
financing new investments. These advances are
interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand or
within one year.

R-ZE-_TF+_A=1+—H K&EEH
MEMENRBRE(EREF)ATH
I8 :

0] BBERK - BRRESHE
EIRIAEA $£2,887,000/8 T (==
— L4 : 3,917,000/87T) * A
NAREER TR AR E
P[RR LBCE 5

(ii) ATREREIERMEEE
k7% & 5] £ & $£19,186,000 /8
TT(ZZF— N : 16,288,000/5
J0) BRI R —ERASE
EEB v AmEAEREEDE L
HPUE : &

(i) ERERFETELEES AR
BRMEZBIYIE=ZRREH
52,616,000 L (=& — NL4F :
47,575,000 7T ) - ZEBRR A
EmE - EIERABERERKN—
FNEE -



28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T ot

31 December 2020 EFEf—H=+—H

—=F -

— ==

28. BITRHEMMER

2020 2019
TECER —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
Bank loans, secured BITER(EER) (@ 851,988 929,568
Other loans: HMER :
Loan from a financial institution, secured SRMBRENETR(FER) (b) 234,078 213,959
Loan from a shareholder of the Company, ARR— LR R R ET (EER)
unsecured (© 84,269 82,656
Loans from director-controlled entities, BRI ERRENER(EEA)
unsecured (d) 381,976 347,648
Quasi-loan equity contributed by a joint WBLRIZAE DAY ARRMER
venture partner of a subsidiary, secured RRHE () ) 561,787 722,590
1,262,110 1,366,853
Lease liabilities HEARE 15(b) 5,483 39,603
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMERET 2,119,581 2,336,024
Analysed into: AIE :
Bank loans repayable: EEERTER
Within one year or on demand (note (3)) —FASIRER(FizHa) 4,935 131,476
In the second year FF 811,565 798,092
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EERE(RREEMT) 35,488 -
851,988 929,568
Other loans repayable: EfEERER
Within one year —&FR 17,006 560,198
In the second year E_fF 651,376 185,697
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-ZERF(BREEERE) 387,272 423,836
Beyond five years AFk 206,456 197,122
1,262,110 1,366,853
Lease liabilities repayable: [EEERERRE:
Within one year —FR 3,913 18,704
In the second year FE_F 1,513 15,018
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEENF(PREEMTF) 57 5,881
5,483 39,603
Total bank and other borrowings RO REMERERT 2,119,581 2,336,024
Portion classified as current liabilities ARAETEE ENTD (25,854) (710,378)
Non-current portion EDEIES 2,093,727 1,625,646
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28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s bank loans as at 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019 were obtained for operation
and financing the purchase of the Group’s investment
properties. The bank loans bear interest at fixed rates
ranging from 2.35% to 4.20% per annum or at the US$
prime rate and are secured by certain investment properties
and lease receivables of the Group. The loan facility of
a bank loan with a carrying amount of HK$119,966,000
(2019: HK$123,194,000) as at 31 December 2020 contains
a repayable on demand clause and was reclassified to a
disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2020 (note
24).

As at 31 December 2020, an office building of a director-
controlled entity in Beijing, the PRC was pledged as security
for bank borrowings amounted to HK$35,631,000.

The loan from a financial institution was obtained to finance
the operating costs of the US Complex, which is an
investment property of the Group. The loan bears interest at
a fixed rate of 3.65% per annum and is guaranteed by the
Company and secured by a pledge over the US Complex.

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated
1 January 2019 entered into between the Company
and Gang Rui, which holds a 25.43% shareholding in
the Company as at 31 December 2019 and in which
Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have beneficial interests, Gang Rui
granted a shareholder’s loan facility of HK$200,000,000
(or its equivalent in US$) to the Company, of which
US$10,370,000 (equivalent to HK$84,269,000) (2019:
US$10,370,000 (equivalent to HK$82,656,000)) had been
utilised as at 31 December 2020.

The shareholder’s loan is unsecured, bears interest at the
rate of 2% per annum, and is repayable in 3 years from 1
January 2019, which is the date of the shareholder’s loan
agreement. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
interest paid and payable to Gang Rui in respect of the
shareholder’s loan amounted to HK$1,614,000 (2019:
HK$1,269,000) which was recognised as finance costs for
the year.

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

28. MITREMER(E)

wist -

(@)

AEBR - ZE-_FF+_-_/=+—
Ak=—ZE—NEF+_A=+T—HZ
BITERNAEERBBEAREEH
BEREMER - %2 RTERR
 F2.35% = 4.20% K [E & Fl| R 5
EERERNRTE  YHASEE
ETIRE YR E WA SRR ER
Ho-RZTE_TF+=_A=+—H
BR T {8 119,966,000 7T ( —ZF — 11
F 123,194,000/ 7T) ZIRITE K
MNERREERRSIREREERK
XITR—ZE_TF+_A=+—H
BN EARELE ZHEAR (H
F24) o

RZEZZTF+=-_A=+—8"
PR AN EEESEH EEN
WAZEFEEBIERBITER
35,631,000/87C 2 (R °

CRIMIBRHENBER D AZELEE
ME(AEERNREYME) BELEK
ABEMER - ZEEREBSF
3.65%HIEIFEFEETE - BARFIE
HIER - WHAEBRLA MEERR -

BEAAGDEABHE (K= —AH
F+-A=+—HREEAAXRRAF
25.43%HIAXHE - BRRAEERFREE
BB EHEERES) I B85
—E-hE—F-BNBREERR
& 0 A E AR A% 200,000,000
B (kEFEET) MR EE R E
& » Hd10,370,000E T (M E R
84,269,000 L) (=T — hF :
10,370,000 7t ( 18 & 782,656,000
BIL)) ER=ZZE=ZF+= A
=t+—BEFER-

ZERRERAEER  FHXA
2% BZZT—NF—A— AR
REXRW#E B)BIFREE - &
E-TE-_THF+-_A=+—HIF
B BRREREAREMBS
F B A1,614,0008 (=T —N4F :
1,269,000 7T ) iR AN FE M 158
}Eﬁ °

ZE 7 X SR LT AR BIE14AE
FFE 2 ERRRAER S -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(©)

The loans from director-controlled entities as at 31
December 2020 were advanced from related parties in
which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have beneficial interests. These
loans will be matured for repayment between 2021 and
2024 and are unsecured and interest-free, except for a loan
which bears interest at the fixed rate of 7.2% per annum.

These related party transactions constitute exempted
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

As detailed in note 1 to the financial statements, the Group
accounted for the capital injected by the joint venture
partner into the Fund (as defined in note 1) as loans from
the joint venture partner. At 31 December 2020, aggregate
amounts of RMB472,000,000 (2019: RMB646,000,000)
were advanced from the joint venture partner which bear
interest at the rate of 8.9% per annum, and 9.5% per annum
from May 2020, are repayable on the maturity date of 17
April 2022, or at the option of the Group at any time before
the maturity date and are secured by shares of Kaipeng
Technology and 104 out of 129 units of a commercial
property in Beijing owned by the Group, which was partly
accounted for as investment properties and partly as
properties held for sale. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the loan will not be repaid during the year ending
31 December 2021 and therefore the balance was classified
as a non-current liability.

These related party transactions do not constitute
connected transactions of the Group as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

@

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

28. RITRHEMERE)

Biet ;- (&)

%_7_7¢+ A=+—RE&=

THEERENERTAREER
%%Ehﬁﬁam%ﬁmﬁ%ﬁﬁ
& o M%%?kﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ T —FEFR
ZE-F  BHEE AER
a8 HERETFT2%HE
TEREETE

ZERAM T R HEK LR RIS 14A
EMRECEHRREERS -

B SRR M A P EE A - RS
EigEERNREBARNES(EER
WEU&AW?KW%%%EAM
NAEBANER - RZEZTF
+-—A=1+—H8 AZRQRAAEA
Hax AR#472,000,000T( ==
—h%F : AR#646,000,0007T) °
ZEFIERFENELI%E - B
ﬁ—?iiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%ﬁ
YR B —FNA+TEAN
H%Eaﬁ'ﬁ$%§ﬂ%%%ﬂ
AT AERES - BASA
BE®RO R ANEEES — R
R FE Y FE 129 B B A AI104(E &
(B F)RIEEME - Y AR
EHEWE)EER - ARRESFR
B ZEFBTERBE-S=—
F+-—A=+—HILtFEEE A
IZERW DI RIEREBE °

%%W%ﬁ?%iK%&iﬁﬁw
FAAT T E 2 A B )RR 2
5o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

28. MITREMER(E)

Notes: (continued) Hiat - (&
() The Group’s secured bank and other loans are secured by () REENAEMRITREAMERTY
the following assets: AN EEERA -
2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT—hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt FET FET
Completed investment properties BRI E Y 14(e) 2,819,153 2,754,987
Properties held for sale BIEHEME 18 956,460 1,028,362
Lease receivables FEUR TR EBRIX 20(a) 16,910 3,253
Bank balances RITHEA 23(c) - 39,168
()} The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other (@ AEBIRTT R EAME AR E A

borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

THIEHEHE -

Carrying amount

REE
2020 2019
—E-EHF —TNF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
3 %7 816,357 929,568
Us$ E 235,137 298,478
RVB AR 980,998 1,103,042
HK$ BT 87,089 4,936
2,119,581 2,336,024
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29.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company had perpetual convertible bonds outstanding
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the

summary information of which is set out as follows:

Issuance date
Maturity date
Original principal amount

Coupon rate

Company (HK$)

These perpetual convertible bonds were bifurcated into a
liability component and an equity component for accounting
purposes, as further described in the accounting policy
for “Perpetual convertible bonds” set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The following tables summarise
the movements in the principal amounts, the number
of conversion rights outstanding, the liability and equity
components of the Company’s perpetual convertible bonds

HITHH

FHH

RIEA &R

EEEIES

(B7T)

during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —ZE_—FF+_-A=+—H

kAR RS
BE-T-TFR-FT-NAF+_A
S+—ALLFE - ARTREREED
KATHRRES - AR ENERT
X

17 August 2018
—N\ENA++H
No maturity date
EEHAH
HK$1,102,993,200
1,102,993,200/% 7T
1% per annum

and will cease

to bear any
coupon after the
fifth anniversary

of the date of issue
BE1%I AR ETT
HEIZEh (5)BFE
IR REERIRE

Conversion price per ordinary share of the  ZNA &I E @AY 2 X HA(E

0.80

Fﬁ@?rﬁﬁﬁﬁ% ' %Z%ﬂd&—ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%‘é
DRAERS RERTS  #E—LFHB
%Eﬁf%iﬁ%m&ZAﬁﬁﬁf*ﬁjﬁﬂx{ﬁ
FIMETHREBM - TRBAREZE
ZECEFRZFE-NF+=ZA=F—
HIEFEARRRKAMBRBRESZ NS
B RIS E AR B ERE
mabn 2 EE

2020 2019

—E-EH —F-NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FET

At 1 January n—A—H 1,090,993 1,096,993
Conversion into ordinary shares 210 4 m AR - (6,000)
At 31 December wW+—_HA=+—H 1,090,993 1,090,993
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31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

29. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)

29. KATMBRS (&)

2020 2019

=225 —TNF

At 1 January w—H—H 1,363,741,500 1,371,241,500

Conversion into ordinary shares iR AR = (7,500,000)

At 31 December nNt+=—A=+—H 1,363,741,500 1,363,741,500

2020 2019

—EIERF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 January n—A—H 49,945 48,929

Interest expense (note 7) FERZ (A7) 1,252 1,220
Transfer to share capital upon REEIR AT B 1&

conversion into ordinary shares ERERRAR = (204)

At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 51,197 49,945

2020 2019

—ERIERF —E—NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 January mn—A—H 1,078,217 1,084,013
Transfer to share capital upon ARy = R S

conversion into ordinary shares L2V TN - (5,796)

31 December R+-_A=+—H 1,078,217 1,078,217




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)
Notes:

(@) Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with Winluck Global Limited and Silky Apex Limited
(the “Vendors”) on 30 May 2018, the Company issued
a total of 451,576,000 ordinary shares and a batch of
perpetual convertible bonds to the Vendors on 17 August
2018 as partial consideration for the acquisition of a 95%
equity interest in Wise Expert Investment Limited (“Wise
Expert”). Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 30 May 2018 and 17
August 2018, and a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the
acquisition amounted to HK$1,130,568,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, certain of
these perpetual convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$6,000,000 were converted by the
bondholder into 7,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$0.80 per share. The carrying
amounts of the liability and equity components of these
perpetual convertible bonds at the date of conversion,
which amounted to HK$204,000 and HK$5,796,000,
respectively, were transferred to the share capital account
of the Company.

(b) The conversion of the perpetual convertible bonds is subject
to, amongst others, the condition that any conversion will
not result in the public float of the Company’s shares being
less than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company.

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

29. KANMERSG (&)

HEE

(@)

2 5 Winluck Global Limited £2 Silky
Apex Limited ([ E 7 ) R=ZF— )\
FRA=THIUZEEHE &
RARZZE—N\ENA+LEHRE
7 317G 451,576,000 A% i A&
R—#KAARKRES - (ERWE
7 Wise Expert Investment Limited
([ Wise Expert | ) #)95% A% # 2 2B
ARE - BEZWESE2E—F
HIEERARRBHAE-ZT—N\F
AA=+AER=Z—/\FNA+t
BzamkBEHAE=-_Z—\FtA
Zt+RZEK -

REHEEMS © REKWEAR
HA 4 /& Uk BE Wise Expert 2 1 &
BITXARBRBRESFZ ATER
1,130,568,000/& 7T °

B B 7% 5 K A A B S R RO
—SHBERARRAAHS-F
—N\FEtAZTHZREHL -

REBEE=—ZT—hE+=-_A=+—H
IEFER - /T A% 4%6,000,000
BT AR ESE HESF
B ANIEFR0.8078 LM HAIR(BEIRA
KA 7]7,500,0000% EBAK o % F K
AR RES 2 BERERID R
%A 2 BRE{E S B £204,000/8 7T
125,796,000/ 7T + EEBEEAR QA
HRRAERF ©

BHOKAABMBESAZ(EHE
B EAERTSEBARD R RN
RBFHBRELRARRBE BEITRN

6% G FTARIR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 S R P EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX 30. RIERIA
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the RSB RIERRIRETRIBEE &
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: NEEFBEOT

2020 2019

—ECEF —ZENEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FAETT FHET

Deferred tax assets BIERIHE B 12,196 11,975
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIBEE (157,447) (76,949
(145,251) (64,974)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of the

Group are as follows:

ATRASERILESIBEE, (BFE)H

BHER -

Arising from revaluation of
investment properties and a
leasehold land and building

ELXBREVER
—RHEELHREFER
2020 2019
—EBCEHF —ZE—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
At 1 January R—AB—A (64,974) (93,220)
Net deferred tax charged to profit REFEEZRIBZENBRE
or loss during the year (note 11) EER TR F 5
(KraE11) (56,073) (71,443)
Net deferred tax charged to other REEPEMEE WS
comprehensive income during HIBR AR AE RS TB 558
the year = (5,605)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE—FHHBAR
(K15#34) - 100,949
Exchange realignment [E 5 2 %K (24,204) 4,345
At 31 December R+—A=+—A8 (145,251) (64,974)
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

At 31 December 2020, deferred tax assets have not (@
been recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses of
HK$151,180,000 (2019: HK$237,627,000) as they have

arisen in the Company and certain subsidiaries that have

been loss-making for some time and it is not probable

that taxable profits will be available against which such tax

losses can be utilised. Out of this amount, tax losses of
HK$35,917,500 (2019: HK$55,042,000) will expire in one to

five years.

Pursuant to income tax laws of the PRC, the UK and the (o)
USA, withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to

foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises

established in these countries. Lower withholding tax

rates may be applied if there is a tax treaty between these

countries and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The

Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends

declared by the subsidiaries established in these countries.

The withholding tax rates applicable to the Group are as
follows:

Entities established in Mainland China AR B R B ALY

}

Entities established in the UK REEK TR
Entities established in the USA REBKZHEE

At 31 December 2020, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of
the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China, the
UK and the USA (2019: Nil). In the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Mainland China, the UK and the USA for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$87,960,000 (2019: HK$157,127,000) in aggregate as
at 31 December 2020.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the ©
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

30. EERIA(LE)
HidE :

RZZE_TF+=-A=+—H"H
RBEEEBEBENARQRIRETHEBR
FDEIE—BRER  mMAMTER
RAREEAARIEHEE AR IEERE
B FERBE A - B b3 R h R F A
i 78 /8 48 151,180,000 78 T ( = &
— L& : 237,627,00058 7T ) FE R IR
RFRIBEE - BT HIEE
835,917,500/ c (= F — A4 ¢
55,042,000 70) ER—E2HFRN
EIHR -

BEFE  HEEEEMEHE
RZEBRK BN RE B ER
BEINEEESRRBAHMEN
o WM EBEREBIMEEER A
EEERIABBGL - BIRER
REMEMTE - At - ~XEBE
RRZEBRRKN LB ARME
R HIRS B AR TEHEL o

ARRAEENEMFEMT :

HEE 5%-10%
20%
30%

RZE_TF+-A=+—H8 " '
BB AR B ARE - HERERKY
EFMTEMBOAEEHE A RN
R 1 23 B A FE SR TR 0B 1 BE AT
MEERB(ZT—NF: &) - &
BEREEARARKR  ZEMBA
AITNKRAIBE DRI ERER - KT
—EF+-A=+—H HEER
RIERIE B ER R BIRRE - KE
REBNBARRENGREZRAE
A H587,960,0008 (= E—A,
£ 1 157,127,000/ 7T ) °

RRB A BERAOB B BB
-,

=
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &
2020 2019
gt 222 —ZE-NEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE
3,199,373,986 ordinary shares 3,199,373,986%
ER 3,152,571 3,152,571
A summary of a movement in the Company’s share capital HEZ-_ZFR-_T—NF+=A
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as =1+ —RIEFE - AARRAH S
follows: R -
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
BET
BHHEE R
Note HK$'000
Kzt FET
At 1 January 2019: R-E—hE—F—A 3,191,873,986 3,146,571
Issue of shares upon conversion of BN A AR
perpetual convertible bonds BEHEREITRG 29(a) 7,500,000 6,000
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 R=—ZE—HF+=-_F=+—H "
and 31 December 2020 T EE-A-ARZEC
ZE+-A=+—H 3,199,373,986 3,152,571
Details of the Company's share option scheme and the BEAR R B ER B MR Z T E
share options issued under the scheme are included in note BT BRETIBE AT B HREM T
32 to the financial statements. 32 °
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32.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 7 November 2016 (the “Adoption Date”) for the primary
purpose of (i) incentivising and rewarding those who
have contributed or may contribute to the development
of the Group; and (i) attracting and retaining skilled and
experienced personnel (“Eligible Participants”) and motivating
them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company thereby linking their interest with
that of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption
Date and shall expire on 6 November 2026, subject to
early termination provisions contained in the Share Option
Scheme. The board of directors of the Company may grant
options to Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the Adoption Date, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Further, the total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or to any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The number of share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was
5,020,500 with a weighted average exercise price of
HK$0.827 per share.
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32.

RRz et &
RER-_F—R"E+—ALB(&RAR
H11)BBHRES - AR B BERE
ZI([BEETE ) EERA 25
BBRHESAAREERRNKE
(i) 3B & 228 2 ¥ 5k m] BE 3 AN ok [ ) 3
BRIEHBERBAL  R(i)R5| RBEH
REEARENAB(AERZEE )
AERHBRERANEENRKERE
M - femsmEmga il AR Ea s
i - BAERT B B RMB S
Bt TFERAER > XHR_F_RF
T—ARAER  EZRRERETE
WS IR LR - fERBRBAERT 815k
REOBRT » ARREZR/ARESER
SEERBBRIEAZBARRRN

EABARRIREELEMENBERT
AR 9 B AR 1 81 AT RE B8 5 9% ) 1 B AR
B5 BR%(7 BECT SRR B AR AR R
B EHIE ZITADE10%  Bob - BT
FEREERETE AR BT b
AE Rt &R H B R TTE R 22 RITE
BRI AT RE BT TRI R D R B BT S
FRIBA A BN 2 BEEBITAIRAS0% © i
m—&EBRESIB T IFITE Fek(E
AR ES B MEE AR H N ERENT
AIEZE R AR L B 128 A HEE5E
AR BRI R R B 21T 15 0.1% Kk 48
BE (AR E B RERNSEH
MERMAARTRG KT EBEE)
B 185,000,000/ 7T+ BB L RBRE KX
2 _FESRR R

RZEZZEFRZZE—NF+ZA
=+—H  BREFTEETHAITEN
BB B 55,020,50017 ¢+ i An#E
BT E R ERAR(D0.827 8 T °
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The fair value of these share options on the grant date
amounted to HK$1,730,000 which had been fully recognised
in profit or loss as a share option expense in the prior year.

33. RESERVES

(@ The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and the prior
year are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(b) Capital reserve mainly arose from deemed
contributions from non-controlling shareholders of
the Company as a result of certain liabilities of the
Group of approximately HK$161,035,000 in total
being waived by two shareholders of the Company in
February 2014.

() Merger reserve represented the difference between
(i) the amounts at which the assets and liabilities
are recorded under a business combination under
common control, net of any reserves of the acquired
entities; and (i) the cost of acquisition (fair value of
consideration paid).

(d) Property revaluation reserve represents cumulative
revaluation surplus, net of deferred tax effect and
any annual transfers to accumulated losses, of
a leasehold land and building, which is located
in Beijing, the PRC. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the reserve balance was transferred
to accumulated losses in full upon disposal of the
property, as further detailed in note 34 to the financial
statements.

(e) The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set aside
in accordance with the PRC Companies Law as
applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. None of the Group’s PRC statutory
reserve as at 31 December 2020 was distributable in
the form of cash dividends.
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. IIRMEAT
The Group acquired the entire equity interest in Capable REFREBZE-—ZT—HhE+-_A=+—
Kingdom Limited (“Capable Kingdom”) and a 95% equity B |4 2 Y B Capable Kingdom Limited
interest in Wise Expert (as defined in note 29(a)) during the ([ Capable Kingdom |) £ & &0 i% #E K&
years ended 31 December 2019. Wise Expert #95% ik # (£ & R Bt &
29(a)) °
For accounting purposes, each of these acquisitions was not netREmMS @ ZSEWESEH KR
accounted for as a business combination but an acquisition BEADHESN  MEAKEEERAR
of assets and liabilities. In this regard, the cost of acquisition FR o BRI S WA IZA R
has been allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities of Ao AL 2488 7 UL B BRI R 38Rl &
the acquirees as at the date of the acquisition as follows: EraE:
2019
—ZE-NF
HK$’000
FETT
(note)
(B15t)
Net assets acquired: FrUE & A
Property, plant and equipment M - WE MR 1,074
Computer software BRI 12
Properties held for sale BIELEWE 1,662,852
Other tax recoverables E b rT g Bl F 18 47,100
Due from related parties JE K Bt 75 SR IR 18,062
Cash and bank balances B& MIRTT4ER 529
Loans from director-controlled entities EEXEERBREHROEN (345,488)
Quasi-loan equity contributed by a limited B ARAREZEMBESER
partner of a subsidiary = (719,063)
Other payables and accruals Hi s kiaRE R (1,886)
663,192
Satisfied by: ATFIFRZA
Property, plant and equipment L EN ] 326,413
Right-of-use asset FREEE 432,687
Prepayments and other receivables FERIE N H At FE U R IE 11,884
Cash and bank balances e RIR1TES 2,337
Other payables and accruals EMENZTELTEIREER (9,180)
Deferred tax liabilities EERITEAE (100,949)
663,192
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. BB ATI(HE)
(continued)
An analysis of the net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash BEWENB AR RHE —FEHBEA
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries and MRS RRESZEEBWERA R )77
disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: M
2019
—E-NF
HK$ 000
FET
Cash and bank balances acquired Fri g IR & R IRTTAE AR 529
Cash and bank balances disposed of HERE RIRTTER (2,337)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents B RANEEHTB A A
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries that GIEMEBEENEE)
was accounted for as an acquisition of 2R KR EEBWF R
assets and liabilities (1,808)
Note: Pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement entered into Biat - BEBER=ZZ—-—NFtA+BEE
with the Vendors on 16 July 2019, the Vendors conditionally FEIMNKEBEEBEWRZE  BAHEKNG
agreed to sell and the Company conditionally agreed RELERAQARAKGERZSE
to purchase the entire interest of Capable Kingdom in & Capable Kingdom H) 2 & # z -
exchange for the entire interest of Wholly Express Limited A ER A A 7] 2 & Kt B A §]Wholly
(“Wholly Express”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Express Limited ([ Wholly Express )
Company. The acquisition of Capable Kingdom and the K2 EPHER o Y Capable Kingdom
disposal of Wholly Express were completed on 31 October } & Wholly ExpressiA —Z — L4
2019. TA=+—H%K -
Capable Kingdom and its subsidiaries (the “CKL Group”) Capable Kingdom & H ft B & &
hold certain floors of a commercial building in Beijing, the ([CKLEE N#EEFR B R — R
PRC (the “CKL Property”) and, at the time of the acquisition, BFHNETEE(CKLYE]) B
principally engaged in the leasing of the CKL Property to WHER F ZNEHCKLYEEE T
third parties for rental income. As disclosed in note 2.2(a) F=77  ABRBES U A o a0t
to the financial statements, the Group applied the fair BRERME2.20)TIEES - A5EE
value concentration test in accounting for the acquisition FARAFEEFRAHEZE Capable
of Capable Kingdom and concluded that the acquired set Kingdom® & - 2R &8 = XU
of assets and activities in respect of this acquisition is not BOAMKBEERGEWIEELE
a business combination but an acquisition of assets and o meRKEBEERERE  BEAM
liabilities because the fair value of the gross assets of the WHIBCKLE BB EEN A FESTR
CKL Group acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable B[R EE  BICKLYE -

asset, i.e., the CKL Property.

This acquisition and disposal transaction constitutes a R E R EER S TR A
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the FUAEMATENBEERS EER
Listing Rules and further details of the transaction are set SHBHRARRASHE=ZZ—AN
out in the Company's circular dated 30 September 2019. FRA=THZ@K -
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Save as disclosed in notes 14, 15, 29 and 34 to
the financial statements regarding transfer from
a portion of certain properties held for sale to
investment properties, additions of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, conversion of perpetual
convertible bonds, issue of new ordinary shares and
perpetual convertible bonds of the Company for the
acquisition of Wise Expert Group and disposal of the
entire interest of Wholly Express in exchange for the
entire interest of Capable Kingdom, the Group has
no other major non-cash transactions of investing
and financing activities during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019.

& B & ERMHE

B EEFERAGL D IFIEL
EMEEBREZREME  AE
FRELENTMERE Bk
KAR BB ES « BITADA
BT A PR R oK A R] 2 BR (E 5 A
Uy B8 Wise Expert& B A & H &
Wholly Express #) 2 2B 25 A #2
HY Capable Kingdom &) % 204 &5
(WnEAFEHREHITE14 ~ 15~ 29 %
AFTHE) I REEREEZ
TEEFR-_F-NF+A
=t+—HIEFETELMPRE
M@EERSPEITMEEIERS

%5 -

Other
payables Bank Preference
and and other shares of
accruals borrowings a subsidiary
Hit R RITR MELRAZ
kERER H AN BER
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
/8T T 8T

At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—A—H 113,167 1,036,915 15,671
Changes from financing cash flows ~ BEREREE (46,200) 146,373 (15,403)
Changes from operating cash flows B & mEH 6,802 - —
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1y 7,294 1,064,551 -
Interest expense FERL 35,050 - 1,093
Exchange realignment P i TR (3,960) 88,185 (1,361)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+_A
1 January 2020 =+—HR=Z_ZF
—H—H 112,153 2,336,024 -
Changes from financing cash flows ~ B&HR&RES (37,176) (177,381) -
Changes from operating cash flows &R &R EEE) 59,700 (1,472 -
Transfer to liabilities of a disposal ERRHEHENLE
group held for sale (note 24) BB B HE24) (3,510) (119,966) -
Exchange realignment bEE 54 FA 6,632 82,376 -
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-_ZF+_H
=+—H 137,799 2,119,581 -
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)

The total cash outflow for leases within financing
activities included in the consolidated statement of
cash flows is HK$19,821,000 during the year.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

In or about January 2020, certain plaintiffs commenced legal
proceedings against subsidiaries of the Company in the USA
and an independent third party constructor, alleging that the
subsidiaries and the constructor have caused damage and
nuisance inrelation to the construction of the US Complex.
The related punitive damages were in an aggregate amount
of US$550,000, which was reduced to US$200,000 as
at the date of approval of these financial statements with
reference to a legal advice from an independent legal advisor
in the USA. The first hearing was held on 29 July 2020 and
the next hearing will be held during July 2021.

Based on internal assessment of the aforesaid case and
having sought legal advice from the independent legal
advisor in the USA, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group has a reasonable ground of defence
on the merits and considered that the possibility of any
outflow in settling the claim was remote as the claim was
well covered by an insurance indemnity and no material
adverse financial impact on the Group is therefore expected.

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments as at the
end of the reporting period:

35.

36.

37.

i & B &k B RO EE (1)

AARFREERERERAE
AHAMBEERSREBER
19,821,000/ 7T °

RKRAR
RZZE_TF—A=pig  BETREH
RARNRERNWE A R H—ZE L
F=HERERRBEEFA - BIE%E
DY NP SE e B EiF ey = e
REKIBEREE - HEAKIIEREE
& & H A550,000% 7T - P HELEZ ST
HHREBE  ZeBEREXEBIE
EEMBAEEE BB Z=200,0003%
T BRBRANR-_ZE_EE+A =T
BT T—REMABHR T - —F+
A#877 -

RIE st R4 H) R BT AE AR R K E
BIOAEBRNEZRZER ARRES
RE - AEBEEFSENRRERLR
REFRZREBNEFE SR LA A8
R DHRZERBDARBREESR
o FHit - FERTEHAREEEXER
THE R -

BERiE
RIS B - A e AT B A

=

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted, but not provided for: BELERERE
Purchase of items of plant BEREMEKHEEE
and equipment - 2,879
Acquisition of 5% equity interest U BEWise Expert 5%
of Wise Expert 2R 77,066 77,066
Total BEr 77,066 79,945
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

@)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties

38. MBI
@ RAFE BREEHHEREME
Fillz 255 - AEE R

during the year: BEUTEARS :
2020 2019
—g=%F T NE
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ARER RHMUE Mzt FHET FET
Directors — controlled
entities:
ExEGER
Guorui Property Property management
Development fee income
B8 PR3 EE R B MEEBERA (i) 36,189 21,718
Heat supply and maintenance fee
income
I LG EE WA () 2,608 4,787
Car park management
fee income
FESERERA (i) 858 873
Rental income
HeWA (i - 2,902
Rental expense of a fitness centre
BahOBeRx (i) = 2,609
Winzone Technologies Rental expense
Development Company
Limited
ERBEMRERARDA  HERAX (iv) - 1,907
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 38. EABKHHEE (&)
(continued)
@  (continued) @) (%)
2020 2019
b St 22 —T-NF
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
NRER RHUE i FET FET
Beijing Guolong Property management fee income
it R B MEEBBIA () 2,442 2,636
Heat supply and
maintenance fee income
IR REEE WA () 2,933 3,412
Gang Rui Interest paid and payable
bt B RERFIE 28(c) 1,614 1,269

It RESH/NEERAR AT Interest paid and payable
B REMFE 7 412 115

BRORREEZSER Dividend of preference shares of
BRAHE a subsidiary paid and payable
BEAREMRAR—HHBARERE
ol &) (v) - 1,093

Vendors (as defined innote  Interest payable
29(a))
7 (& RME290) JERTA & 7,29 1,252 1,220

Joint venture partner of

a subsidiary
HWEARZEEDREBA
Kunlun Trust Co., Ltd Interest paid and payable
BfRiEEAREEAR B RERFIE 7,28() 55,881 16,018
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(continued)
(continued)

@)

Notes:

0

(i)

(i

()

The Group provides property management services
to landlords of certain properties managed by the
Group, in which two directors of the Company
have beneficial interests. In return, the Group
receives property management service fees, heat
supply and maintenance service fees and car park
management service fees which were charged at
rates mutually agreed between the Group and the
landlords. During the year ended 31 December
2020, the total fees received by the Group from
landlords in respect of these services amounted
to HK$45,030,000 (2019: HK$33,421,000). These
related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Rental expense was charged to this related party
for the lease of an office premise at RMB2,592,000
(equivalent to HK$2,902,000) during the year ended
31 December 2019, on a mutually agreed basis,
which, in the opinion of the directors, approximated
to market rates. This related party transaction
constitutes an exempted continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Rental expense was incurred by Rui Hua Investment
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively “Rui Hui
Group”) and charged by this related party for
the lease of a fitness centre at RMB2,300,000
(equivalent to HK$2,609,000) during the year ended
31 December 2019, on a mutually agreed basis,
which, in the opinion of the directors, approximated
to market rates. This related party transaction
constitutes a continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Rental expenses were incurred by Rui Hua Group
and charged by this related party for the lease of the
Recreational Centre at RMB1,713,000 (equivalent
of HK$1,907,000) aggregately during the year
ended 31 December 2019, on a mutually agreed
basis, which in, in the opinion of the directors,
approximated to market rates. This related party
transaction constitutes a continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

31 December 2020
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38. FABAEEE(E)

(i)

)

(iv)

AEBAAEEEENET
MENEE(MEBESTRE
FHEESER)REWE
EERIS - AEBIZAER
£ 2 = H[F] 17 E A (B A5 LR
MEESEREE  HELS
BIRIE B Rz B 5 E R
B oHE_ZT_TFE+_F
=t+—RLEE  AE@EH
ZEREMETIWRNE R
#8758 /545,030,000 7T ( —
T — AL : 33,421,000 78
TL) o REBH A R SHIEK
FHRAFE1IAEFRRES
BERERS -

HE-_ZT—-—N&+=A
=t+—RALFENHESMAY
ERA LRt N ES
U ER A R #2,592,0007T (48
B 12,902,000/ 7T ) © 1HEE
SHEAEHHEERE  EF
RAEMSETBERES -
Z A RSB R ETT AR Al
FIAEFTRENER R
BRERS -

BHE-_T—NLF+=A
“t+—BHLEFENHESH
ST EBHERMEEARA
AINEKMBAR (SR
EEE ) ELEY B
FHAER S B L UE A
R # 2,300,000 7T ( 8 & R
2,609,000/ ) * HHE SR
HEFERBE  EERAE
TS EmMBFERIEE - %@
B X BB TR AIE14A
EATAERFERERS -

HE-_ZT—N&+=A
=t+—RALFENHESMAY
B 5 55 55 B = A 0 PR % R
HAERREF L UE AR5
AR ¥1,713,0007T (FHE %
1,907,000/ 7C) * HHE 58
HEHERBE  EE=R
AHESHMIBERES - Z
R T R BB _ETHR A
T4AEFT A EFERER
%o
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38. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(continued)
(@ (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v) In the prior year, preference shares of
RMB183,770,000 without a par value were issued
in 2016 by a subsidiary of the Group to the non-
controlling equity holder of the subsidiary, which is
a company established in the PRC and indirectly
wholly owned by an associate of Mr. Wei and Mr.
Sun, both being directors of the Company. The
preference shares shall have no voting rights but
are entitled to annual dividends at the rate of 7% of
the issued and paid up preference share capital of
the subsidiary.

The preference shares of the subsidiary had been
accounted for as financial liabilities of the Group as
the Group has a contractual obligation to deliver
cash to the preference shareholder in 3 years from
the date of capital injection. The preference shares
were fully redeemed during the year ended 31
December 2019.

Dividend paid and payable to the related party
during the year ended 31 December 2019 in
respect of the preference shares of the subsidiary
amounted to HK$1,093,000, which was recognised
as finance costs for the year ended 31 December
2019. This related party transaction does not
constitute a continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Qutstanding balances with related parties

Save as disclosed in notes 15, 20(a), 22, 28(d) and
34 to the financial statements, the Group had no
other material outstanding balances with related
parties as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(€ Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments are
included in note 9 to the financial statements.

38. ARG (H&)

@)

(#8)
Wt - (%)

(v) RBEFE - AEE—RK
BRANR-_ZT—ANFERZ
BB A Rz IE IR IR &
BA(—RRBPBEKLZ A
A WHARREEZRELE
REFEZ —KEE R A
MEZEHER)ZETARE
13,770,000 T 2 & ™ B &
KR - ZEEBIAERWERE
¥ BERIEZNBARE
BT REARNEERRA
R7%ERFERE -

ZEMBRARIELERE AR
IERKBENIBEE - )
HRAEEFANEENE
& HEi & = F N mEB IR
RRABEE - ZFEBERE
REE-_ZT—NLEF+=A
=t+—HILFEEEEE
@o

BEz-_Z—NL&+=A
=+—HILFE  BRHB
NAZEBEBRE N KEN
RA Bk 77 2 A% B 41,093,000
BT ERBE-_ZT—NE
+-A=+—BILFE®ER
BUSER - WM AIRS
WAEK LA E14AE
FTRERZERERS °

BRRERE 77 2 1R R S A AR

RZZEZTFR T —NF+=
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39.

40.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

Except for debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income being classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income, as further
detailed in note 17 to the financial statements, all financial
assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 were financial assets and financial liabilities stated
at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities which are
due to be received or settled within one year approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments, therefore, no disclosure of
the fair values of these financial instruments is made.

For other non-current financial assets and liabilities, in the
opinion of the directors, since their carrying amounts are
not significantly different from their respective fair values, no
disclosure of the fair values of these financial instruments is
made.
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39.

40.

EMTRASH

BRIZAFEFARMEERENERSE
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mMEBMEEZE— A BRNYT ISR
K17 RZE-ZBER T HEF
+—A=+—8 AEEfEEHEE
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EmTIANLFE

B —4F OB B Sk 9 S BB
B EOAFEBIHERE  EEHR
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BHSLRIANATE -

EREMIERBCHEERARE  BS
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WESEAEE  ARWERESHESRE
TAMATFE -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, a pledged bank deposit, debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, bank and other borrowings and perpetual
convertible bonds. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is mainly for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
and lease receivables, deposits and other receivables, trade
payables, other payables, receipts in advance and amounts
due from/(to) related parties.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments is
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. Since HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group
does not have significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
its operations in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and the UK,
the Group’s financial position and operating performance
can be affected significantly by movements in the RMB/HK$
and £/HK$ exchange rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 1. MERREEERRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ($8)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end T KRR REHREMEZRFD
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in C i AR K T gpiE R HIR A IR ] AE
the RMB and £ exchange rates, with all other variables held 5)§EJJE’\]'I%5RT AEEH A=A (AE
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in MERENABEAFEEHIRES)HEH
fair value of monetary assets and liabilities). HOGRRRE -
Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange Increase/(decrease)
rate in profit before tax
SN BLADRA
EF(TH) #m,/ i)
2020 2019
St 2 —hE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z_-ZF
TZA=+—HLFE
If HK$ weakens against RMB WEBTEAREEE 5 12,016 18,119
If HK$ strengthens against RMB WEBTEARSHE ©) (12,016) (18,119
If HK$ weakens against £ HEBTT R EERE 5 (43,552) (43,398)
If HK$ strengthens against £ & BT S E (5) 43,552 43,398

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the Group’s
counterparties to meet their obligations under property
management service agreements and rental agreements.
Credit risk exposure is minimised by undertaking transactions
with a large number of counterparties and conducting credit
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of trade and lease
receivables to ensure that adequate provision for impairment
losses is made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial
assets of the Group, which mainly comprise cash and bank
balances and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2020 and
2019. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts of
financial assets.

ERRBAEANER 2R S % H A8

BTN S 5B B AR 1h &%Eéﬁ%
B INZBEEMEL - AREBBEAE

RHHTETR S M BERPETE
REE - BERRRBE&E © 1o
AEETFHEMERE S LHERRZ
AT YO & BE DA RE (R 34 AT I (B 2 RRAT IR
RABEEBERE  ARETFEEX
S ERERMEE -

AEEEMEREETRBRERE MR
1THEER M LM IR IR - AR B AR
FeREENERARREERER ST
ER) > RRRMOFNZEF AN
[EN=

T%’ilﬁgﬁ/\$$@ﬁ,‘f‘fﬂl RAEEE
ELESNRAEERR  TE2ER
ﬁ%ﬁﬂ(ﬁ%#ﬁ@éﬂ‘]&ﬂib\%%
TRBRARENNER TER) KR
—BERERFT-NF+_A=t+—
AEREERDE - MEINSER
CREENREAE

261



262

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R AR Y EE

31 December 2020 —ZE—-—F#+=-H=+—H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

At 31 December 2020

A 35 M B% E 12 H IR R B3R

(#8)

R-E-ZEF+=-HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=@AHE
HEEFR FENROEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
BB FCEE  E=ER @Shk At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade and lease receivables EWE 5 RAEER - = = 92,827 92,827
Financial assets included in SABNTE - T8
prepayments, deposits and RE IR
other receivables SREE 106,681 - - - 106,681
Due from related parties JEM R 7 5 0R 69,839 - = = 69,839
Debt investments at fair value through 322 EES AR M2
other comprehensive income WERERRE 24,562 = = = 24,562
Cash and cash equivalents, BeRBREFEY
not yet past due (HAREH) 196,147 - - - 196,147
397,229 - - 92,827 490,056
At 31 December 2019 R-Z—h&E+—H=+—8
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T A"
HEEEE FESEAEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-ME8 BB S=EER O Blak Ll
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Trade and lease receivables EWE S RAEER - - - 33,574 33,574
Financial assets included in SABNTE - T8
prepayments, deposits and RE IR
other receivables REE 47,126 = = = 47,126
Due from related parties FEUR AR 7y 2R 49,874 = = = 49,874
Debt investments at fair value through 322 EES AR M2
other comprehensive income WaRRERRE 46,518 = = - 46,518
Pledged bank depostt, BHERRITER
not yet past due (HABE) 39,168 = = = 39,168
Cash and cash equivalents, RekBeEED
not yet past due (HABE) 246,877 - - - 246,877
429,563 - — 33574 463,137




41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

For trade and lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise amounts due from related parties and other
receivables, debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and cash and bank balances, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

In light of the future business expansion of the Group, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit
lines to meet its liquidity requirements and the estimated
future construction cost of the development of a parcel
of land in Culver City, the USA. The Group’s objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through cash receipts from the issue of shares, as
well as the strict control over its daily operating expenses.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, proceeds
from a share placement obtained, capital contributed
by shareholders and financing from a shareholder and
related parties by means of cash during the prior year
and the current year, respectively to finance certain of the
abovementioned planned development is expected to be
fulfilled by the Group after 2020. Accordingly, the Group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the
Group’s operations and manage its liquidity position.

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

41.
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(%)
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

A 35 M B% E 12 H IR R B3R
(#8)

RImERR - REBERETRB A R

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual o ANEES R A G D BRI
undiscounted payments, is as follows: T
On Within
demand 1 year 1-5 years Total
REX —F LR —2RE &%
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2020 R=Z=-Z5+=H
Er=[
Trade payables Z S ENZA 20,302 22,025 = 42,327
Other payables HAERR 125,256 - - 125,256
Due to related parties SRR 2B 360,648 = = 360,648
Bank and other borrowings RITREM A
(excluding lease liabilities) (note) (TBEREERE)
(HiE) 124,250 686,113 1,556,901 2,367,264
Lease liabilities MEAE - 3,913 1,570 5,483
Liability component of perpetual KA AR E A
convertible bonds BEDS - - 51,197 51,197
630,456 712,051 1,609,668 2,952,175
On Within
demand 1 year 1-5 years Total
REK —FUR —EhF A
HK$000 HK$:000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FAT FET FET FET
At 31 December 2019 R=E-NE+=A
=t+—H
Trade payables EHRNTIE 12,870 24,607 - 37,477
Other payables Hfth RT3 96,933 - - 96,933
Due to related parties FE{HEgHE 5 2E 139,579 — — 139,579
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R E A AE R
(excluding lease liabilities) (note) (TEREHEERRE)
(Hit) 123,423 627,503 1,772,383 2,523,309
Lease liabilities HERE — 18,704 20,899 39,603
Liability component of perpetual KA B
convertible bonds aEHs - - 49,945 49,945
372,805 670,814 1843227 2,886,846




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Note: One of the loan agreements contains a repayment on
demand clause giving the bank an unconditional right to
call in the loan at any time and therefore, for the purpose of
the above maturity profile, the total amount was classified
as “on demand” as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. In
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement, the
contractual undiscounted payments of this bank borrowing
amounted to HK$119,966,000 (2019: HK$123,423,000)
which were repaid during the year ended 31 December
2020. The loan was reclassified to a disposal group held for
sale as at 31 December 2020 (note 24).

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

P 35 R R P EE

31 December 2020 —E—-—F#+—-H=+—H

MERBEEHRRBE
(%)

Wit - BRBREPN—EEERERERSR
G BT ERITEREKTEARE
EVER] - Bt - 7t B B EARR
BRmMs R-_ZE-_ZER-F
—hE+=-A=+—8 E@RE
BEWHIBERIZRER] - BREE
RmEGER  ARBE-ZE=F
E+-_A=+t—ALEEREE
MERTIERZ AN R IREITE
119,966,000 T (= & — JLF
123,423,000 70) - ERE EFH D
HER-ZT-TF+-A=+—H
BEHEMEEAR(HiE24) -

REEEAEENTIZARARESSE
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BEEMERER -

AEBMEBEREANRE - WHREHEBR
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41.

42.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the adjusted capital. The Group’s policy is
to maintain a healthy ratio. Net debt includes trade payables,
bank and other borrowings, other payables and accruals,
amounts due to related parties and preference shares of a
subsidiary, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes
perpetual convertible bonds and equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

41.

MERBEEHRRBE
(%)

FEEEREEABHXRERER - &
ERELXRTREKFERULHRE
Rt E - AEENBEE EERRRED
bk - BFRBERNEZRR - R
TREMER  HibENRRTARE
A~ FEfT AR 7T sRIB R — TR F B 2 RIEY
BER  BERELBREEEY - BXR
BIE KA AR E T KA R AR R ENS
o RBREHRNEER G R
™

2020 2019

—ECEF —T-hEF

HK$’000 HK$000

FAETT FET

Trade payables ENE ZERR 42,327 37,477

Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EAMEK 2,119,581 2,336,024

Other payables and accruals HEMEA R RIERE R 137,799 112,153

Due to related parties P BAESE 5 R0E 360,648 139,579

Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RS RRESEEY (196,147) (246,877)

Net debt BT 5E 2,464,208 2,378,356
Equity attributable to AR B (G R A

shareholders of the Company 3,565,947 3,414,919

Liability component of perpetual KA IR E AR

convertible bonds BEXS 51,197 49,945

Adjusted capital JEEEESZYIN 3,617,144 3,464,864

Gearing ratio BEAEX 68.13% 68.64%

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42. R&HIE=EIR

Save as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements
regarding the sale of an investment property in the UK
through disposal of the entire interest in GR Properties UK
Limited, there were no significant events of the Group after
the reporting period for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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BrEA TSR M s 24 T B B BB B T
#GR Properties UK Limitedf) 2 3£ x5
MEEN—EREREMEIN - RNEEH
REBEE_ZT-_TF+_A=1+—HILF
ERRE BT EEERES -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P 35 R R PR

31 December 2020 —ZE_—FF+_-A=+—H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43.

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

FLAFHMBRRER

BRAARRNHEHAROPHARKD

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

EROT

2020 2019
—EEH —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRG 126 193
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,796 4,961
Interests in subsidiaries NGOk 1,028,131 2,167,503
Due from subsidiaries FEUB B A mIFRIE 180,124 180,490
Total non-current assets EMBNEELRE 1,211,177 2,353,147
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Loans to subsidiaries RIEFHIB AT E’Jf)?m 609,897 615,264
Due from subsidiaries A S NGIE O 768,182 719,772
Due from related parties JFE Ui B B H/TAIE 636,453 360
Prepayments, deposits and TENFRIE © 512 R EAM
other receivables JEWGRIR 2,237 2,551
Pledged bank deposit BEEIRRITIFK - 39,168
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 32,033 1,890
Total current assets mEEEAET 2,048,802 1,379,005
CURRENT LIABILITIES wREAE
Other payables and accruals HA g S &i‘ﬁﬁ;%?ﬁﬁ 3,314 2,607
Due to a shareholder FE — BB 1,514 1,486
Due to subsidiaries LR NG 318 318
Other borrowings HAb SR 2,172 2,118
Total current liabilities mEARESE 7,318 6,529
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 2,041,484 1,372,476
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT XBE#MERAHER
LIABILITIES 3,252,661 3,725,623
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Due to subsidiaries JEAHHT BB A =R IE - 391
Liability component of perpetual KARBBESFNEE
convertible bonds i) 51,197 49,945
Other borrowings H A SR 84,917 85,473
Total non-current liabilities FERE A EETE 116,547 135,809
Net assets BESH 3,116,547 3,589,814
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 43. FATHMBRAR(E)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

2020 2019
e i —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
EQUITY E=
Share capital &N 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA AHRIREFE
convertible bonds U Ea 1,078,217 1,078,217
Reserves (note) EA=10 =) (1,114,242) (640,974)
Total equity HezR 4B TE 3,116,547 3,589,814
Wei Chunxian Sun Zhongmin
HanE BHER
Director Director
Ea EE
Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: HiiE : RNATIREHRENT :
Share
Capital option  Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
EXGE BRERE 2 ER A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R-E-nE—f—H 10,868 1730 (800901) (788,303)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive RERRFRAEE 2 ENEER
income for the year — — 147,329 147,329
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZE-NE+-R=1—-8
B-2-2%-A-R 10,368 1,730 (653,572) (640,974)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss ~ AEEERRAER
for the year 2EEEER - = (473,268) (473,268)
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-ZF+-A=1—-H 10,868 1,730 (1,126,840) (1,114,242)
44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 44. MHwMETAOHLE
STATEMENTS
These financial statements were approved and authorised REPHREN T —F=A=+—
for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2021. ABESREAEILIEM o
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Location

1 B

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Use

ik

Lease term

HEH

B3|

Attributable
interest of the
Group

BEER
rEERER

Completed investment
properties

EERIREME

Juxon House,

100 St Pauls Churchyard,
London,

EC 4M 8BU,

the United Kingdom

Portion of Building

No. 2 of Kingdom Guorui

No. 1 Ronghua South Road
Beijing Economic Technological
Development Area

Beijing

the PRC

a3

Sl

KB R

EREER B 197

B « @ TERE25REHN D

2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd.,
Santa Monica,

CA90403,

the USA

Investment properties under construction

EEPRENF

10375 Washington
Redevelopment Site

10375 Washington Boulevard
Culver City, Los Angeles Country,
CA90232

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[SES

Residential/
Commercial

EESVE=ES

Residential/
Commercial

EX VA=Y

Long term lease
REIHEA

Medium term lease

R HATE A

Not applicable
e

Not Applicable
NiE R

100%

100%

100%

100%
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

ES =31
Attributable
interest of the
Location Use Lease term Group
ERR
b B A HEH AEBERER
Completed investment property classified as a non-current asset held for sale
PEAFEHEZFRBDEENCERRENF
Boundary House, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
7-17 Jewry Street, SES FRERTEAY
London EC3N 2EX
A building included in property, plant and equipment and a leasehold land included
in right-of-use assets
BFGIAYE  BERZE) REEL H(GFALREEE)
Building No. 3 of Kingdom Guorui, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
1 Ronghua South Road, EES FRERFRAY

Beijing Economic

Technological Development Area,
Beijing, the PRC

R ElE R

BRI R

RER K19

Bl e ©T8

ANE35



A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published annual report and audited financial statements, is set out

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMHERE

SEE A b E)
RBAFTORENT

AREBERED BN RFEENEEE TENFR
REXE BE BBV

below:
RESULTS x5
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
B2 —T-NF ZT-N\F ZT—+tF ZTF
HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Revenue WA 322,026 373,327 361,282 229,822 216,392
Profit/(loss) before tax HATEF, (EE) 67,738 182,112 7,928 67,633  (67,395)
Income tax Fis®i (67,058) (84,030) 1,502 2,619 2,032
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR REERRN(FE)
THE YEAR 680 98,082 9,430 (65,014)  (65,363)
Attributable to: FER
Shareholders of the Company /NG 3 552 98,599 9,579 (65,014) (62,798)
Non-controlling interests IR R 128 (517) (149) — (2,565)
680 98,082 9,430 (65,014)  (65,363)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RFHHRHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY

HE ARNERSE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

ZBCEE ZZ-NF ZE-N\F ZT—+tF ZTF

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000

FAET FET FET FET FET

Total assets BE®E 6,702,004 6,306,456 5,030,079 2,415,782 1,657,683

Total liabilities BiEEH (3,112,688) (2,869,659) (1,575,564) (1,306,958)  (502,927)

NET ASSETS BETE 3,580,316 3436,797 3454515 1,108,824 1,154,756
Equity attributable to: BN NS AR

Shareholders of the Company ARRIRE 3,565,947 3414919 3431736 1,108,824 1,160,983

Non-controlling interests iR 23,369 21,878 22,779 = (6,227)

TOTAL EQUITY EEEH 3,589,316 3,436,797 3454515 1,108,824 1,154,756




*
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